
 

Page 1 of 383 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2019 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of March 4, 2019. 

2. Special meeting of February 27, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

3. Public hearing to consider adopting the City's Code of Ordinances. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 8, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

4. Pass an ordinance adopting the Code of Ordinances for the City of Cedar Falls, upon its first 
consideration. 

5. Public hearing on proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to RP, Planned Residence 
District, of property located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road, and also on 
an associated amendment to the Schematic Land Use Map by changing the designation from 
Greenways & Floodplain to Greenways & Floodplain and Planned Development. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 8, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

6. Resolution amending the Schematic Land Use Map, by changing the designation from Greenways & 
Floodplain to Greenways & Floodplain and Planned Development, for property located at the 
southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road. 

7. Pass an ordinance amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road from the A-1, Agricultural 
District, and placing the same in the RP, Planned Residence District, upon its first consideration. 

8. Public hearing on a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development with 
Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 8, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 

1



 

Page 2 of 383 

 
c) Oral comments. 

9. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement with Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

10. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development with Martin Realty Company II, 
L.L.C. and payment of certain economic development grants pursuant to said proposed Agreement. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 8, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

11. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development with 
Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

12. Receive and file the resignation of Hillery Oberle as a member of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission. 

13. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Jeanine Johnson, Historic Preservation Commission, term ending 03/31/2022.  
b) Leslie Prideaux, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2021.  

14. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of March 4, 2019 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Planning & Zoning Commission Interview - Leslie Prideaux.  
b) 2019 Municipal Operations and Programs Work Plan. 
c) Bills & Payroll. 

15. Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of March 4, 2019. 

16. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to certified lists for the 
following positions: 
a) Code Enforcement Officer. 
b) Communications Specialist. 
c) Economic Development Coordinator.  
d) Video Production Specialist. 

17. Approve the request for temporary signs at various locations for the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Annual 
Coin Show on March 25-31, 2019. 

18. Approve the request for a temporary sign at 4520 Rownd Street for Valley Lutheran School on April 
12, 2019. 

19. Approve a request for parking variances for the St. Patrick Church Garage Sale on April 24-26, 2019. 

20. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Class B beer - renewal. 
b) Barn Happy, 11310 University Avenue, Class B native wine - renewal. 
c) Social House, 2208 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street, Class C liquor & 
outdoor service - new. 
e) Voodoo Lounge, 401 Main Street, Class C liquor - new. 

2



 

Page 3 of 383 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

21. Resolution approving and adopting revised job classifications for the positions of Director of Public 
Works and Director of Community Development relative to the reorganization of City operations. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Facilities Use Agreement with Northeast Iowa 
Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (NEI3A) relative to use of the Community Center. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of one Owner Purchase Agreement and one Tenant 
Purchase Agreement, and approving and accepting one Owner's Temporary Grading Easement for 
Construction and three Public Utility Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street 
Reconstruction Project. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of four Owner Purchase Agreements, and approving 
and accepting four Temporary Construction Easements, in conjunction with the Oak Park Sanitary 
Sewer Repair Project. 

25. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Peterson 
Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $13,561,862.40, for the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an application to the Black Hawk County 
Metropolitan Area Transportation Policy Board (MPO) for Surface Transportation Block Grant 
(STBG) funding relative to the Main Street Reconstruction Project. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an application to the Black Hawk County 
Metropolitan Area Transportation Policy Board (MPO) for Iowa’s Transportation Alternatives Program 
(TAP) funding relative to the Lake Street Trail Project. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Farm Lease Agreement with Michael Greiner 
relative to property located west of the West Viking Road Industrial Park. 

29. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 4 with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for 2019 Engineering Services relative to the Industrial Park Expansion Project. 

30. Resolution approving the Industrial Park Land Acquisition and Engineering/Design Services Project 
in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area. 

31. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting April 1, 2019 as the date of public hearing on, the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2019 Permeable Alley 
Project. 

32. Resolution setting April 1, 2019 as the date of public hearing on proposed amendments to Section 
26-181 (formerly 29-160), CHN, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of Chapter 26 
(formerly 29), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to certain provisions in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

33. Allow Bills and Payroll of March 18, 2019. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Executive Session 

34. Executive Session to evaluate the performance of the City Administrator pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 21.5(1)(i), following Public Forum. 

3



 

Page 4 of 383 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MARCH 4, 2019 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse (via phone), Blanford, Darrah, Wieland 
(via phone), Green. Absent: None. 

 
52209 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Green that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of February 18, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52210 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of February 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposal to 
undertake a public improvement project for the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction 
Project and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project. It was 
then moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that the proof of publication of 
notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52211 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed public improvement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Principal 
Engineer Schrage commented briefly. There being no one else present wishing 
to speak about the proposed public improvement, the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
52212 -  It was moved by Green and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,440, 

approving a public improvement for the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project 
and authorizing acquisition of private property for said project, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Green. Nay: None. Absent: Wieland 
(phone connection lost). Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#21,440 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52213 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2936, amending 

Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, be passed upon its second consideration. 
Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Green, Blanford and 
Kruse, Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane, and Kathryn Sogard, College Hill 
Partnership Executive Director, and response by City Attorney Rogers, it was 
moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr to amend the ordinance to apply to C3 
only. Motion to amend carried 4-3, with Blanford, Darrah and Wieland voting nay. 

 
52214 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 

5



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

 
 Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 

of members to Boards and Commissions:  
 a) Mark Miller, Board of Adjustment, term ending 03/31/2024.  
 b) Gerald Sorensen, Board of Adjustment, term ending 03/31/2024. 
  
  Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of February 18, 2019 

relative to the following items:  
 a) Board of Adjustment Interview - Mark Miller.  
 b) Board of Adjustment Interview - Gerald Sorensen.  
 c) Downtown Parking Study.  
 d) Bills & Payroll. 

 
 Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of January 2019. 

 
 Approve a request for a street closure for the Panther Caravan on May 22, 2019. 
 

 Approve and authorize execution of an Order Accepting 
Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreement with Suds relative to a first tobacco 
violation at 2223 1/2 College Street. 

 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Pheasant Ridge Golf Course, 3205 West 12th Street, Class B beer & outdoor 

service - renewal.  
b) Happy's Wine & Spirits, 5925 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal.  
c) Hillstreet News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 

  
 Motion carried unanimously. 
 
52215 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Green that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

 Resolution #21,441, approving and authorizing execution of Amendment #2 to 
the National Insurance Services Trust Joinder Agreement for Long Term 
Disability Insurance with National Insurance Services Trust. 

  
Resolution #21,442, approving and authorizing execution of a Subscription 
Renewal Agreement with Emergency Services Marketing Corp., Inc. relative to 
IamResponding callback software. 

 
 Resolution #21,443, approving and authorizing execution of a lease agreement 

with Black Hawk County Solid Waste Management Commission relative to the 
use of certain city-owned property located at 1500 Bluff Street by the WasteTrac 
environmental education team. 

 
  Resolution #21,444, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 

purchase of a hydro/jet vacuum sewer cleaning apparatus. 
 

Resolution #21,445, approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase 

6



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Agreement, and receiving and filing two Reports of Compensation 
Commissioners and Notices of Appraisement Damages and Time for Appeal, in 
conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

 
 Resolution #21,446, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 

Agreement No. 1 to the Professional Service Agreement for Grant Administration 
and Technical Services for Housing Projects with Iowa Northland Regional 
Council of Governments (INRCOG) relative to Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Funding. 

 
Resolution #21,447, setting March 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing to 
consider adoption of the City's Code of Ordinances. 

 
Resolution #21,448, setting March 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development with Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

 
Resolution #21,449, setting March 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development with 
Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. and payment of certain economic development 
grants pursuant to said proposed Agreement. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,441 through #21,449 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52216 -   It was moved by Blanford and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,450, 

approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase and 
installation of cameras and lighting in the College Hill area, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Blanford and response by Public Safety 
Services Director Olson, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call 
of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #21,450 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52217 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,451, 

approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special Promissory Note for property 
located at 821 Olive Street relative to the Rental to Single Family Owner 
Conversion Incentive Program, be adopted. Following a question by 
Councilmember Miller and response by Planner II Lehmann, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,451 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
52218 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,452, 

approving the preliminary plat of Greenhill Village Townhomes II, be adopted.  

7



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 
 The following individuals spoke in opposition to the preliminary plat: 
    Chris Noland, 1510 Athens Court 
    Nalin Goonesekere, 1518 Athens Court 
    Kristine Tognetti, 1509 Andover Court 
    Tim Tjarks, 1521 Athens Court 
    Robin Frost, 4718 Addison Drive 

   

    The following individuals expressed concerns with the preliminary plat: 
    Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane 
    James Dunning, 4622 Hudson Road     
 
    The following individuals spoke in support of the preliminary plat: 
    Steve Troskey, CGA Engineers, representative of the developer 
    Chris Rausch, Counsel for Panther Builders, 4834 Winghaven Drive 
     
    Planner II Lehmann provided background on the proposed plat. Following 

questions and comments by Councilmembers deBuhr, Miller, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah and Green, and responses by Community Services Manager Howard, 
CGA Engineers Representative Steve Troskey, Planner II Lehmann and City 
Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, Blanford, Darrah, 
Wieland, Green. Nay: deBuhr, Kruse. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,452 duly passed and adopted.  

 
52219 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #21,453, setting 

March 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, 
Agricultural District, to RP, Planned Residence District, of property located at the 
southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road, and also on an associated 
amendment to the Schematic Land Use Map by changing the designation from 
Greenways & Floodplain to Greenways & Floodplain and Planned Development, 
be adopted. Following a question by Councilmember Miller and response by 
Mayor Brown, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared #21,453 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52220 -     It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Darrah that the bills and payroll of 

March 4, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. 
Motion carried.  

 
52221 -  Public Safety Services Director Olson provided information about fire training 

required for new public safety officers, the status of the Insurance Services Office 
(ISO) rating, and the response by firefighters and public safety officers to a fire 
that occurred earlier in the day, and responded to questions by Mayor Brown and 
Councilmembers Miller and Kruse. 

8



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

 
52222 -  Penny Popp, 4805 South Main Street, commented about public participation in 

public meetings.  Councilmember Miller responded to personal comments made 
by Ms. Popp. 

 
     Brian Wingert, 2110 Flynn Drive, commented about costs that would be involved 

in changes to the Greenhill Village Townhomes project and addressed concerns 
about potential rentals.  

 
52223 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Blanford that the meeting be 

adjourned at 8:52 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

9



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, FEBRUARY 27, 2019 

SPECIAL MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 

 
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Special Session, pursuant 
to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member thereof, in the 
City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 3:30 P.M. on the above date.  Members present:  
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse (via phone), Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Absent: None. 
 

52206 -  It was moved by Blanford and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #21,438, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Wantman Group, Inc. 
(WGI) to perform parking consulting services relative to a College Hill Parking 
Study, be adopted. Finance & Business Operations Director Rodenbeck responded 
to a question by Councilmember Blanford. It was then moved by Green to table the 
motion until the March 4, 2019 Council meeting. Motion failed for lack of second.  

 
    The Mayor then put the question on the original motion and upon call of the roll, the 

following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland. Nay: Green.  The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,438 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52207 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,439, approving 

and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with Teamsters 
Union, Local No. 238 relative to shift scheduling, be adopted. Public Safety Services 
Director Olson provided a brief explanation. Mayor Brown and Public Safety 
Services Director Olson responded to questions and comments by Sarah Langel, 
1312 Windsor Drive, and Councilmembers Miller, Blanford, Darrah and Wieland. It 
was then moved by Green to table the motion until the March 4, 2019 Council 
meeting. Motion failed for lack of second.  

 
    Director Olson, Mayor Brown, and Councilmembers Miller, deBuhr, Blanford and 

Wieland responded to questions and comments by the following individuals: 
    Darren Yoder, 4204 Berry Hill Road, 
    Leona Smith, 2904 Neola Street  
    Annette Bell, Cedar Falls 
    T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way 
    Sharon Regenold, 108 Lilliput Lane 
 
    Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Miller and Green, and 

responses by Director Olson, the Mayor put the question on the original motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland. Nay: Green.  The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,439 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52208 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that the meeting be adjourned at 

4:20 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously.  
  

 
  ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

10



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
 M E M O R A N D U M 

Public Records Division 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 DATE: March 14, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Recodification of Code of Ordinances 
     

 
As you are aware, staff has been working with MuniCode to recodify the Cedar Falls Code 
of Ordinances. The recodification was associated with the City Council’s initiative to “clean 
up” the code by reviewing codes on a chapter-by-chapter basis, identifying obsolete 
provisions, conflicts and inconsistencies in conjunction with state statutes, as well as 
conflicts within the Code itself. The Code has undergone a comprehensive legal review by 
attorneys well-versed in the statutes and in areas of concern with regard to codification. 
We are now ready to proceed with Council adoption of the new Code of Ordinances and 
recommend adopting the attached ordinance. 
 
Thank you. 
 

11



ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING A NEW CODE FOR THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CERTAIN 

ORDINANCES NOT INCLUDED THEREIN; PROVIDING A PENALTY FOR THE 

VIOLATION THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR THE MANNER OF AMENDING SUCH 

CODE; AND PROVIDING WHEN SUCH CODE AND THIS ORDINANCE SHALL 

BECOME EFFECTIVE. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. The Code entitled "Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa," published by 
Municipal Code Corporation, consisting of chapters 1 through 26, each inclusive, is adopted. 
 
Section 2.  All ordinances of a general and permanent nature enacted on or before June 18, 2018, 
and not included in the Code or recognized and continued in force by reference therein, are 
repealed. 
 
Section 3. The repeal provided for in section 2 hereof shall not be construed to revive any ordinance 
or part thereof that has been repealed by a subsequent ordinance that is repealed by this ordinance. 
 
Section 4. Unless another penalty is expressly provided, every person convicted of a violation of any 
provision of the Code or any ordinance, rule or regulation adopted or issued in pursuance thereof 
shall be punished by a fine of not less than $65.00, but not in excess of $625.00, or imprisonment 
for not in excess of 30 days, or both such a fine and such imprisonment. The penalty provided by 
this section, unless another penalty is expressly provided, shall apply to the amendment of any 
Code section, whether or not such penalty is reenacted in the amendatory ordinance. In addition to 
the penalty prescribed above, the city may pursue other remedies such as abatement of nuisances, 
injunctive relief and revocation of licenses or permits.  
 
Section 5.  Additions or amendments to the Code when passed in such form as to indicate the 
intention of the city to make the same a part of the Code shall be deemed to be incorporated in the 
Code, so that reference to the Code includes the additions and amendments. 
 
Section 6. Ordinances adopted after June 18, 2018 that amend or refer to ordinances that have 
been codified in the Code shall be construed as if they amend or refer to like provisions of the Code. 
 
INTRODUCED:         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                          James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

12



1 
 

Recodification Notes 

 

General comments:  What follows is an explanation of the changes to the Cedar 

Falls Code of Ordinances that will be incorporated as part of Recodification.  In 

order to simplify review of the changes, Ordinance Sections are color coded.  

Those changes that were essentially mandated by changes to the Code of Iowa 

are flagged in blue.  Those changes that were necessitated by a change in policy, 

to conform to practice, or by obsolescence are flagged in yellow.  Those changes 

that were necessitated by HF 134 regarding familial status in rental properties are 

flagged in grey.  Those changes that are merely a clarification of language are 

flagged in purple.  Those changes that were recommended by MuniCode as being 

unconstitutional, inconsistent with state law, or are unnecessary due to state law 

are flagged in green.  See Color Code Key attached. 

For the most part, changes are highlighted in red, with additions underlined and 

deletions interlined.  A notable exception would be Chapter 5, Alcohol, where 

wholesale changes were made.  Only the new version is included. 

All departmental references throughout the Code (except historical references) 

were changed to reflect reorganization in 2016.  For example, “administrative 

services” was changed to finance and business operations; “developmental 

services” to community development; “human and leisure services” to municipal 

operations and programs; “public works department” to public works and parks 

division; “fire department” to fire operations division, and “police department” to 

police operations division.  These changes will not be specified separately below. 

MuniCode recommended deleting every Section dealing with severability.  It is 

the convention in some Codes of Ordinances to include sections indicating that if 

any part of a section is declared to be invalid, this doesn’t affect the rest of the 

Code.  That is the law and it is unnecessary to repeat it, so we accepted this 

recommendation. 

13



2 
 

Also, whenever the Code calls for a fee or charge to be set by resolution, we 

standardized the language as follows:  “…as established from time to time by 

resolution of the city council.”   

If the only change was to correct a reference to the Iowa Code, it is not 

mentioned here. 

The new Code is organized in a slightly different order, so many sections were 

renumbered.   References to the new Code sections are included for those 

sections affected in case one wishes to refer to the new Code of Ordinances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



3 
 

RECODIFICATION NOTES 

COLOR CODE KEY 

 

Sec.          State Code mandated 

 

Sec.          City policy, practice or obsolescence 

 

Sec.          HF 134  (familial status) 

 

Sec.          Clarification 

 

Sec.          MuniCode recommendation (unconstitutional, inconsistent or          

unnecessary) 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



4 
 

CHAPTER 1.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

  

Sec. 1-9.  Municipal Infraction 

(a)     Civil penalty. 

(1)     Unless another civil penalty is provided either in section 1-9(c) or elsewhere 

in this Code, a municipal infraction is a civil offense punishable as provided in the 

following schedule of civil penalties:  

          a.  First offense:  $100.00 

          b.  Second offense:  $200.00  $500.00 

          c.  Third and subsequent offenses:  $300.00.  $1,000.00 

 

          *          *          * 

 

(c)     Municipal infraction.  Any violation of any provision of the following portions 

of this Code of Ordinances, unless characterized as a misdemeanor, is hereby 

declared to be a municipal infraction, punishable as provided in the following 

subsections or elsewhere in this Code, or, if not provided for in the following 

subsections or elsewhere in this Code, then punishable as provided in section 1-

9(a)(1) of this Code: 

     (1)  Chapter 3, advertising. 

     (2)  Chapter 4, airport zoning. 

     (3)  Chapter 6, animals, except sections 6-2 and 6-2.1. 

     (4)  Chapter 7, buildings and building regulations, including article II, building 

code; article III, electrical regulations; article IV, gas regulations; article V, 

plumbing regulations; article VI, moving of buildings; article VII, cross-connection 

16



5 
 

control containment provisions; and article VIII, uniform mechanical code, 

punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

     a.  First offense:  $500.00 

     b.  Second offense:  $750.00 

     c.  Third and subsequent offenses:  $900.00.  $1,000.00 

 

          *          *          * 

 

  (9)     Chapter 17, mobile homes, mobile home parks and mobile home 

subdivisions., punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

          a.  First offense:  $150.00 

          b.  Second and subsequent offenses:  $300.00 

  (10)    Chapter 18, nuisances, junk vehicles and noise, except as 

followspunishable as provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

          a.     Violations of article I, in general, relating to nuisances, punishable as 

provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

                  1.  First offense:  $500.00 

                  2.  Second and subsequent offenses:  $750.00 

                  3.  Third and subsequent offenses:  $1,000.00 

          b.     Violations of article II, relating to junk vehicles: 

                 1.  First offense:  $150.00  

                 2.  Second and subsequent offenses:  $300.00   

          c.     Violations of article III, noise: 

17



6 
 

                 1.  First offense:  $150.00 

                 2.  Second and subsequent offenses:  $300.00   

(11)    Chapter 19, offenses and miscellaneous provisions except as follows: 

           a.  Section 19-19, jumping from bridges, and section 19-21, prohibited 

wading, water skiing or swimming in city-owned lakes and detention ponds, 

punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

                  1.  First offense:  $100.00 

                  2.  Second and subsequent offenses:  $200.00. 

            ba.  Violations of article IV, temporary state of public emergency 

restrictions, punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil penalties: 

                  1.  First offense:  $500.00 

                  2.  Second offense:  $750.00 

                  3.  Third and subsequent offenses:  $900.00.  $1,000.00. 

(12)     Chapter 20, Parks and Recreation. 

(13)     Chapter 23, Streets and Sidewalks. 

(124)  Chapter 29, zoning, punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil 

penalties: 

          a.  For violations of section 29-177(g)(1), section 29-177(h)(1)(d), and section 

29-199, the penalties shall be as follows:  first offense, $150.00 $100.00; and 

second and subsequent offenses, $300.00 $500.00;  and third and subsequent 

offenses, $1,000.00. 

          b.  For all other violations of Chapter 29, zoning, the civil penalties shall be 

as follows:  first offense, $500.00; and second and subsequent offenses, $750.00, 

and third and subsequent offenses, $1,000.00. 

18



7 
 

Comment:  These changes were made to create consistency in the civil penalties 

levied for municipal infractions 

 

CHAPTER 2.  ADMINISTRATION 

 

Sec. 2-4.  Proof of Publication.  Change subsection (b) to read:  The city clerk shall 

permanently retain a copy of all proofs of publication referred to in subsection (a) 

above. 

Comment:  Conforming to current practice. 

 

Sec. 2-5.  Purchasing generally.  This is not a recommendation from MuniCode 

but is an item that was discovered when we were considering other changes to 

Chapter 2.  Section 2-5(b) is amended as follows to reflect current practice: 

(b) Whenever it is necessary for the city to purchase supplies for any of the 

departments of the city, unless ordered by the council at a regular or special 

session, a written order must be first had and obtained from the chairman of the 

administration committee or the officer Director in whose department the 

supplies are to be used, or the Director’s designee, or the city administratormayor 

or city clerk, before such supplies, goods and merchandise can be purchased, and 

all bills of such supplies when filed with the Department of Finance and Business 

Operationscity clerk for payment shall have attached thereto the written order so 

given by such committee or officer or mayor. 

 

Sec. 2-63.  Distribution of information when matter referred to 

committee.  (Now 2-70)  The city clerk shall forward all the papers to the 

appropriate committees and officers as soon as possible after the reference 

referral to a committee of the council has been made. 

19



8 
 

Comment:  Typo in original. 

 

Sec. 2-91.  Withdrawal of motion.  (Now 2-113)  After a motion or resolution is 

stated by the mayor, it shall be deemed to be in the possession of the council, but 

may be withdrawn at any time before decision, but if any amendment has been 

proposed or adopted it shall not be withdrawn without the consent of the mover 

of such amendment. 

Comment:  Typo in original. 

 

Sec. 2-108.  Applicability of Robert’s Rules of Order.  (Now 2-129)  Now will refer 

to the 10th Edition of Robert’s Rules of Order, so we have a specific edition to rely 

on. 

 

Sec. 2-126.  Removal of appointed officers; nonreappointment of officers.  (Now 

2-159)   Agreed with MuniCode that the following language be added to 2-

126(c)(1):   

The appointing authority shall then hold a private hearing, unless a public hearing 

is required by Iowa law, within ten days of receipt of the written request…. 

Also that the following language be added to 2-126(c)(2):     

The appointing authority shall then hold a private hearing, unless a public hearing 

is required by Iowa law, within ten days of receipt of the written request… 

Regardless of any further changes, there is an obvious error in Section 2-126(b):  

The city administrator may be removed as provided in section 2-1732-177 of this 

Code. 

Comment:  MuniCode recommendation. 

 

20



9 
 

Sec. 2-152.  Bond.  This is part of the Mayor article.  This is not a recommendation 

from MuniCode.  Eliminated the bond requirement. 

Comment:  Conforming to current practice. 

 

Sec. 2-176.  Powers and duties of the city administrator.  (Now 2-218)  Through 

the process of review of this chapter the following typo was discovered in 

subsection (20):   

Prepare and submit the annual budget and capital improvements program to the 

mayor for review based upon approved city council goals; … 

Comment:  Clean up. 

 

Sec. 2-181.  Vacancy and acting city administrator.  (Now 2-223)  This is not a 

recommendation from MuniCode.  This is a language clarification request by the 

city attorney to change the section as follows: 

Sec. 2-181. - Vacancy and acting city administrator.  

In the event of the absence or inability ofWhenever the city administrator to 
perform the duties of the city administrator’s office,is out of the city or ill the city 
administrator shall appoint an acting city administrator, or if unable to do so act 
on account of sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time 
when the council has not appointed a city administrator, the mayor shall appoint 
one of the department directors as the acting city administrator. This appointee 
shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the city administrator.  

 

Chapter 2, Article III, Division 4.  City Investments.  Throughout this article 

changed finance/public records division to finance division;  Director of 

administrative services to director of finance and business operations; and 

finance manager/city clerk to controller/city treasurer. 

 

21



10 
 

Chapter 2, Article III, Division 5.  Reporting of Gifts.  MuniCode recommended 

deletion of this entire Article as covered by state law.  We agreed. 

 

Sec. 2-212.  Information to be provided to mayor and council.  (Now 2-277)  

Name changes to conform to state code. 

 

Sec. 2-233.  Qualifications of commissioners.  (Now 2-305)  The civil service 

commissioners shall be citizens of the state and residents of the city for more 

than five years next preceding their appointment, eligible electors of the city and 

shall not, while on the commission, hold or be a candidate for any office of public 

trust. 

Comment:  Eliminated 5 year residency requirement and added eligible elector, 

both to conform to state code.   

 

Sec. 2-237.  Meeting room equipment; recorder.  (Now 2-309)  Eliminated 

reference to short hand reporter as archaic and inconsistent with practice. 

 

Sec. 2-301(a)(4)  (Now 2-452(a)(4))  Immediately following a regular or special 

meeting of a utility board, the secretary shall prepare a condensed statement of 

the proceedings of the board and cause the statement to be published in a 

newspaper of general circulation in the city.  The statement must include a list of 

all claims allowed, showing the name of the person or firm making the claim, the 

reason for the claim, and the amount of the claim.  If the reason for for the claims 

is the same, two or more claims made by the same vendor, supplier, or claimant 

may be consoldidated if the number of claims consolidated and the total 

consolidated claim amount are listed in the statement.  However, the utility board 

shall provide at its office upon request an unconsolidated list of all claims allowed. 

Salary claims must show the gross amount of the claim except that salaries paid 

22



11 
 

to persons regularly employed by the utility, for services regularly performed by 

them, must be published once annually showing the gross amount of the salary. 

Comment:  To conform to Iowa Code § 388.4(4). 

 

Sec. 2-653(b)(9):  (Now 2-978(b)(9))  Provide inspection and prevention programs 

which enforce the International Fire Code and Minimum Rental Housing Code 

through the Fire Prevention Bureau. 

Comment:  Clean up—there is no Fire Prevention Bureau. 

 

CHAPTER 3.  ADVERTISING 

 

Sec. 3-1.  License for posting or distribution of advertising material. 

     (a) 

          (2)  The fee for a license required by this section shall be $20.00 for each day 

engaged in such work or $200.00 per year for a yearly distributor’s license as 

established by resolution from time to time.  The licenses shall be issued in like 

form and manner as other licenses.    

Comment:  Self-explanatory. 

 

Sec. 3-2.  Distribution of advertising materials not to create nuisance or litter. 

The distribution of advertising material shall be made in such a manner as not to 

create a nuisance, and no licensed billposter or distributor or any other person 

shall scatter, or deposit or deliver any such bills or material upon or in the streets, 

sidewalks or public grounds of the city, nor hand the advertising material to 

23



12 
 

persons passing along the streets, nor throw the advertising material into yards of 

private buildings or halls of public buildings. 

Comment:  The deleted phrase was believed to be an unconstitutional 

infringement of 1st Amendment rights. 

 

Sec. 3-4.  Placing advertising material in or on vehicles.  No advertising bills, 

posters, printed or illustrated matter, patent medicines, samples or advertising 

matter of any kind or character shall be placed in or on any vehicle parked upon 

the public streets, nor shall any form of advertising matter be attached to such 

vehicle so parked without the consent of the owner except in a manner that will 

prevent same from being blown about or scattered by the elements. 

Comment:  Deleted phrase believed to be unconstitutional. 

 

Sec. 3-40.  Permit required.  No sign shall be constructed, erected, re-erected or 

altered until a permit for the sign has been issued by the city planner.  No permit 

is required for a sign located on private property. 

Comment:  Changed to conform to current practice. 

 

Sec. 3-47.  Registration of signs; liability insurance.  Deleted entire section to 

conform to current practice. 

 

Chapter 4.  AIRPORT ZONING 

A new airport zoning ordinance was adopted recently.  The only changes made to 

MuniCode’s version were to clarify certain tables. 

 

24



13 
 

Chapter 5.  ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES.   

Several changes made to reflect current practice and generally to omit 

requirements imposed by state law that the City doesn’t enforce. 

 

Sec. 5-1. - Purpose of chapter. (REVISED) 

 Regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages are preempted to the State 

by the Iowa Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, Iowa Code Chapter 123. The purpose 

of this chapter is to provide for local regulations for the location of the premises 

of retail wine or beer and liquor control licensed establishments and governing 

activities or such matters which may affect the health, welfare and morals of the 

community relating to the establishment of certain alcohol licenses and permits. 

 

Sec. 5-2. – Definitions. (REMOVED)  

 

Sec. 5-3. - Penalty for violation of chapter. (Unchanged) 

Unless a specific penalty is provided for in this chapter, any person who 
violates any of the provisions of this chapter shall be subject to punishment as 
provided in section 1-8 of this Code.  

 

Sec. 5-4. - Compliance with state law.  (Now 5-3)  (Unchanged) 

It shall be unlawful to sell, offer or keep for sale or possess alcoholic liquor, 
wine or beer except upon the terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions 
enumerated in the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, Iowa Code Chapter 123.  

 

Sec. 5-5. - Eligibility for license or permit.  (Now 5-4)  (REVISED) 

25



14 
 

Upon meeting the requirements imposed by state law and the ordinances of 
the city, a person may apply for a liquor control license or a wine or beer permit. 

 

Sec. 5-6. - Conditions for issuance of license or permit.  (Now 5-5)  (REVISED) 

(a) As a condition for issuance of a liquor control license or wine or beer permit, 
the applicant must give consent to members of the fire operations division, 
police operations division, health department, building inspector, county 
sheriff, deputy sheriff, members of the department of public safety, 
representatives of the department of inspections and appeals, certified police 
officers and any official county health officer to enter upon areas of the 
premises where alcoholic beverages are stored, served or sold, without a 
warrant, during business hours of the licensee or permittee, to inspect for 
violations of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act or of this chapter.  

(b) No liquor control license shall be issued for premises which do not conform to 
all applicable laws, ordinances, resolutions and health and fire regulations. No 
licensee shall have or maintain any interior access to residential or sleeping 
quarters unless permission is granted by the administrator of the Alcoholic 
Beverage Control Act, the permission to be in the form of a living quarters 
permit.  

(c) In addition to the statutory requirements for a liquor control license or wine 
or beer permit, the following requirements must also be met for the issuance 
of a liquor control license or wine or beer permit that would allow 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises:  

(1) The place of business for which such liquor control license or wine or beer 
permit is sought must be located within one of the following zoning 
districts: C-2 commercial district, C-3 commercial district, M-1 light 
industrial district, M-2 heavy industrial district, S-1 shopping center 
district, HWY-1 highway commercial district, or PC-2 planned commercial 
district.  

a. The zoning district requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section 
shall not apply to any public agency.  

b. The zoning district requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section 
shall not apply to a liquor control license or wine or beer permit issued 
to a private club as defined in Iowa Code section 123.3(11), provided 

26



15 
 

that such club is owned by, ancillary to, and located on the premises 
of, a retirement community or retirement village.  

c.  The zoning district requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section 5-6 
shall not apply to any liquor control license or wine or beer permit 
which is issued for any establishment located on city-owned property, 
provided, however, that the city, as owner of the property, shall have 
consented to the granting of such license or permit.  

(2)  The liquor control license or wine or beer permit must apply only to 
building areas, with the exception of country clubs or similar type 
operations.  

(3) Except for a restaurant, which is defined as any retail establishment where 
the principal business of which consists of the sale of food products for 
consumption on the premises, and where the volume of all food sales 
shall not be less than 66 2/3 percent of the dollar volume of sales made by 
the establishment, the licensed building is to be no closer, at the closest 
point, than 150 feet to the border of the zoning district adjacent to the 
district in which the licensed building is located, if the adjacent zoning 
district is more restrictive than those zoning districts set forth in 
subsection (c)(1) of this section.  

(4) For establishments that qualify as a restaurant as defined in subsection (3) 
of this section, the liquor control licensee or wine or beer permitee shall 
furnish to the city clerk  verified monthly statements of total dollar 
volume of food sales and total dollar volume of alcoholic beverage sales 
for six consecutive months. Thereafter, sales statements, as provided for 
in this section, shall be submitted for each consecutive six-month period 
until the liquor control license or wine or beer permit expires or has been 
revoked.  

 

Sec. 5-7. through Sec. 5-14. (REMOVED – classes, fees, refunds of permits and 

licenses, applications are processed through the state) 

 

Sec. 5-15. - Approval of license or permit by council.  (Now 5-6)  (REVISED) 

27



16 
 

The city council shall either approve or disapprove the issuance of a liquor 
control license, wine permit or beer permit, shall endorse its approval or 
disapproval of the application, and shall submit the approval or disapproval to the 
Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division.  

 

Sec. 5-16 thru 5-18. (REMOVED – nature, transfer, duration of license or permit 

handled by the state) 

 

Sec. 5-19.  Suspension or revocation of license or permit Council action affecting  

license or permit.  (Now 5-7)  (REVISED) 

     The city council may adopt ordinances, resolutions and regulations not in 

conflict with state law relating to the location and operation of retail wine, beer 

and liquor establishments.  

 

Sec. 5-20.  Appeals by license or permit holders.  (Now 5-8)  Replace “I.C.A. ch. 

123” with “Iowa Code Chapter 123.” 

 

Sec. 5-21.  (REMOVED) 

 

Sec. 5-22.  Possession or consumption in public place; public intoxication.  (Now 

5-10)  The word “exonerate” was replaced with the word “expungement.” 

 

Sec. 5-23.  Persons under legal age; penalty.  (Now 5-11)  (Unchanged) 

 

Sections 5-76 through 5-81.  ARTICLE III. - OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS (REVISED – 

updated as follows: 

28



17 
 

Sec. 5-76. - Approval required. (Now 5-64)   

Any permittee or licensee under Article I of this chapter, or any applicant for a 
license or permit under article I of this chapter, desiring to operate an outdoor 
service area adjacent to and in conjunction with licensed premises must obtain 
the approval of the city council and of the state alcoholic beverages division 
before commencing operation of such outdoor service area.  

 

Sec. 5-77. - Application for approval; granting of approval.  (Now 5-65) 

(a) An application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be made to the 
state alcoholic beverages division. Such application may accompany the initial 
application or any renewal application for a license or permit under article I of 
this chapter or may be submitted at any time in conjunction with an amended 
application for a license or permit. An application for the approval of an 
outdoor service area shall include all information required to be submitted 
with applications for beer permits and liquor licenses. The accompanying 
application materials shall be submitted to the city clerk at least 15 days prior 
to the date it is to be considered by the city council. An outdoor service area 
shall be subject to the same annual renewal requirements as are all beer 
permits and liquor licenses. Approval by the city council of an outdoor service 
area shall be to the state alcoholic beverages division with regard to the 
diagram, dram shop insurance coverage and all other state and local 
requirements.  

(b) Upon submitting an application for approval of an outdoor service area, the 
applicant shall provide the name and address of the owner of each abutting 
property as well as every other property which is within 150 feet of the 
applicant's premises. The city will then notify these property owners by letter 
of the nature of the application and the date and time when it will appear on 
the agenda for approval by the city council, so that these property owners will 
have an opportunity to comment on the application if they wish.  

(c) Approval or disapproval of an application for approval of an outdoor service 
area shall be at the discretion of the city council. Such discretion shall be 
exercised with due regard to public health, safety and welfare considerations. 
If there is a change of ownership, the outdoor service area use shall be 

29



18 
 

permitted to continue, provided that the usage is continuous and the area has 
not been altered.  

 

Sec. 5-78. - Suspension or revocation of approval.  (Now 5-66) 

(a) The city may, after notice to the licensee or permittee and after a reasonable 
opportunity for hearing, suspend or revoke authorization for the operation of 
an outdoor service area for any establishment when the licensee or permittee 
has violated or has permitted or allowed the violation of any provision of the 
Iowa Code or the Code of Ordinances of the city pertaining to the operation of 
an outdoor service area constitutes a threat to public health, welfare, or 
safety or constitutes a nuisance.  

(b) The suspension or revocation procedure shall be initiated by the police chief 
by the filing of a complaint with the city council or state alcoholic beverages 
division. Written notice of the hearing, as well as a copy of the complaint, 
shall be served upon the licensee or permittee at least ten days prior to the 
date set for hearing. In the event of suspension or revocation, the city shall 
notify the state alcoholic beverages division pursuant to I.C.A. § 123.32.  

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the 
city council may order the immediate closure of an outdoor service area if it is 
determined that its continued operation presents a clear and imminent threat 
to public health, safety or welfare.  

(d) Suspension or revocation of authorization by the city for operation of an 
outdoor service area shall not affect the licensing of the principal 
establishment, unless separate action to suspend or revoke that license or 
permit is also initiated.  

 

Sec. 5-79. - Inspection.  (Now 5-66)  

Outdoor service areas shall be subject to inspection at least annually at the 
same time inspection of the adjacent licensed establishment occurs. The city may, 
in its discretion, inspect an outdoor service area at any other time.  

 

Sec. 5-80. - Location and operation—Generally.  (Now 5-67) 

30



19 
 

The operation of an outdoor service area shall be subject to the following 
terms, conditions and regulations:  

(1) Outdoor service areas must be located on private property and may not 
encroach on any public right-of-way, except as provided for in Section 23-
68 for use of public sidewalks for sidewalk cafes. 

(2) Outdoor service areas shall not be located in the front yard of any licensed 
premises.  

(3) Outdoor service areas shall be screened on all sides from public view. 
Screening shall consist of a fence or other suitable barrier not less than 
five feet in height and not more than eight feet in height. It shall be of 
solid construction which will effectively prevent ingress or egress from the 
premises except by way of an emergency fire exit. Such fire exit shall be 
required of all outdoor service areas.  

(4) An outdoor service area shall not be accessible except from the licensed 
premises which it adjoins. The required fire exit shall be an emergency exit 
only.  

(5) An outdoor service area must be immediately adjacent to the licensed 
establishment of which it is a part.  

(6) Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only in those zones listed in 
section 5-6(c)(1), and shall be permitted only if the service area meets or 
exceeds the requirements of section 5-6(c)(3).  

(7) Outdoor service areas shall comply with appropriate building, housing and 
fire codes and with all other applicable state and city laws.  

(8) Seating or other accommodations in an outdoor service area shall not 
exceed one person per 15 square feet of floor area accessible to the 
public.  

(9)  Amplified sound equipment shall be prohibited in outdoor service areas. 
Compliance with the city noise ordinance shall be required. Additional 
advertising or identification signage beyond that permitted for the main 
licensed establishment shall not be permitted.  

(10)The owner or operator of an outdoor service area shall be required to 
observe the same per square foot occupancy limits that apply to the 
building which it abuts. The occupancy limit for each outdoor service area 
shall be determined by the city building official. If inclement weather 

31



20 
 

requires early closing of the outdoor service area, the licensee or 
permittee shall not allow patrons of the outdoor service area to enter that 
portion of the licensed premises housed in the adjacent building if to do 
so would result in exceeding the occupancy limits therefor as determined 
by the city building official.  

 

Sec. 5-81. - Same—Exemptions.  (Now 5-68)  

(a) An applicant may, as a part of the application for an outdoor service area, 
request exemption from the requirements of section 5-80(2), (3), (4) and (9). 
After review and comment by appropriate city staff, the city council may 
approve such exemptions if it determines that to do so would not jeopardize 
the health, welfare or safety of the users of the outdoor service area or the 
owners or users of abutting property. The burden of establishing entitlement 
to such exemption shall be upon the applicant, and cost of compliance alone 
shall not be sufficient grounds to justify exemption. Outdoor service areas in 
existence on the date of passage of the ordinance from which this article is 
derived are required to comply with all requirements for outdoor service 
areas stated in subsection (a) of this section, or to obtain exemption 
therefrom.  

(b) For the purpose of this article, an outdoor service area shall be considered a 
building area as provided for in section 5-6(c)(2). 

 

 

CHAPTER 6.  ANIMALS 

 

Sec. 6-2.  Animal neglect.  Entire section deleted and replaced, essentially, with 

Iowa Code § 717B.3 to conform to state law.  See Exhibit A attached. 

 

New Sec. 6-3.  Abandonment of cats and dogs.  A person who has ownership or 
custody of a cat or dog shall not abandon the cat or dog, except the person may 

32



21 
 

deliver the cat or dog to another person who will accept ownership and custody 
or the person may deliver the cat or dog to an animal shelter or pound as defined 
in Iowa Code § 162.2. A person who violates this section is guilty of a simple 
misdemeanor. If a person is found guilty of a violation of this section or section 6-
2, the disposition of the neglected or abused animal shall be determined by the 
court. 
 
Comment:  Basically Iowa Code § 717B.8 was adopted to conform to state law. 
 

Old Sec. 6-3.  (now 6-4) Use of streets for driving or riding animals.  The section 

was retained, but the language was changed as follows: 

No person having the care, custody or control of any animal upon any street in 

the city shall permit such animal to exit a street beyond the curblines, or edge of a 

street with no curbs, except in the case of domestic pets. 

Comment:  Clarification of language. 

 

Sec. 6-5.  Hitching animals to trees, poles, fences, etc.  Entire section deleted as 

obsolete. 

 

Sec. 6-8.  Recovery of costs by city for damage done by animals.   

     The city shall have a right of action in all cases against the owner or person in 

control of any of the animals or fowl mentioned in section 6-6, for all fees, costs 

and charges for taking up and keeping or advertising the animal, for all damages 

done to shade or ornamental trees standing within the streets or public grounds 

of the city, and for all damages to other public property. 

Comment:  Clarification of language. 

 

33



22 
 

Sec. 6-12.  Consent of adjoining property owners required for keeping bees.  

Deleted.   

Comment:  Unconstitutional delegation of City power. 

 

Sec. 6-13.  Cats causing annoyance or disturbance.  (Now Sec. 6-11)   

     (a)  It shall be unlawful for any person keeping, owning or sheltering a cat to 

allow or permit such animal to cause annoyance or otherwise interfere with the 

premises of another, or by frequent and habitual howling, yelping or otherwise 

cause serious annoyance or disturbance to reasonable persons or to the 

neighborhood. 

     (b)  No person shall be convicted under the provisions of this section except 

upon evidence of two or more reasonable persons of different households. 

Comment:  Reasonable person standard added for purposes of constitutionality. 

 

Sec. 6-51.  Impoundment of dogs or cats running at large.  (Now 6-53).  

Substituted the word “impounding agency” for “humane society” in case the 

City’s contract with the Humane Society was ever to end. 

  

Sec. 6-56.  Permitting dog or cat to run at large.  (Now 6-58.) 

     (b)  Exceptions.  The foregoing subsections (a)(2) and (a)(3) of this section shall 

not apply to guide dogs service dogs or assistive animals used by handicapped 

persons. 

Comment:  Revised language to conform to Iowa Code. 

 

Sec. 6-58.  Noisy dogs or cats.  (Now 6-60). 

34



23 
 

     (a)  It shall be unlawful for the owner of a dog or cat to permit or allow the dog 

or cat to cause serious annoyance or disturbance to a reasonable person by 

frequent  … 

Comment:  Added a reasonable person standard—see 6-13 above) 

 

Sec. 6-68.  Animals prohibited:  Sturgis Falls Celebration and Cedar Basin Jazz 

Festival Inc. (Now 6-70.) 

  (b)  (added assistive animal to conform to Iowa Code) 

 

CHAPTER 7.  BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS 

 

Sec. 7-501.  Definitions.  (Now Sec. 7-379)  

     Single unitfamily dwelling.  A single family dwelling shall means a structure 

containing one dwelling unit. 

Comment:  Required by HF 134. 

 

Sec. 7-504.  Existing water services.  (Now Sec. 7-382)   

(c)  After publication of the standards…classified as single unitfamily residential…. 

(d)  Within six months after publication…not classified as single unitfamily 

residential…. 

Comment:  Required by HF 134. 

 

CHAPTER 9.  CEDAR RIVER 

35



24 
 

Deleted the entire Chapter except Sec. 9-40 which was moved to Chapter 17.  The 

Cedar River is within the jurisdiction of the state, not the City. 

 

CHAPTER 10.  ELECTIONS 

Sec. 10.1.  Conformance with state law.  (Elections chapter now in Chapter 8)  

Deleted as superfluous. 

 

Sec. 10-3.  Designation of polling places.  Deleted as inconsistent with state law. 

 

Sec. 10-4.  Municipal election day.  (Now 8-2).  A regular municipal election shall 

be held in the city on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of 

each odd-numbered year, and elective officers shall thus be chosen biennially to 

succeed officers whose terms expire at 12:00 noon of the second secular day in 

January following such election on January 1 which is not a Sunday or legal 

holiday, following a regular city election.   

Comment:  changed to conform to state law. 

 

Sec. 10-7.  Duties of City officials.  Deleted as unnecessary—the City no longer 

administers local elections. 

 

CHAPTER 11.  FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

 

Sec. 11-1.  Bureau of Fire Prevention.  This is in the Fire Prevention and 

Protection chapter, now Chapter 9.  Eliminate due to obsolete reference to 

“Bureau of fire prevention.” 

36



25 
 

 

Sec. 11-26.  Adoption.  Subsection (a) (Now 9-19(a)) 

     The International Fire Code, 2015 Edition, including Appendix Chapters B, C, D, 

E, F, G, H, I, J and K published by the International Code Council, Inc., and the 

applicable National Fire Protection Association Standards all standards referenced 

therein, except as such codes and standards are amended in this article, are 

hereby adopted and incorporated as if fully set out in this section. 

Comment:  Technical change.  The International Fire Code itself references the 

NFPA standards, so it is not necessary to separately reference them here.  

Moreover, “the applicable” NFPA standards language is ambiguous. 

 

Sec. 11-29.  Enforcement.  Deleted as superfluous. 

 

Sec. 11-57.  Other permitted fires.  (Now 9-60).  Deleted reference to 1994 

Uniform Fire Code as obsolete. 

 

Sec. 11-60.  Burning of leaves and grass clippings on or before December 31, 

2003.  Deleted as obsolete. 

 

Sec. 11-76.  Definitions.  This is not a recommendation from MuniCode.  Chief 

Bostwick and Captain Wright looked at these sections and requested some 

changes.  This Article of Chapter 11 (Now Chapter 9) covers automatic sprinkler 

systems and they believe that current NFPA and IFC standards should be 

mentioned in this Article.  “Automatic sprinkler system” is defined in 11-76 (Now 

9-85).  Therefore a sentence was added to the end of that definition as follows:  

Such system shall comply with all applicable International Fire Code and National 

Fire Protection Association standards as adopted herein.  

37



26 
 

Also, they indicate that the definition of “Fraternity or sorority house” included in 

this section be deleted because it is covered elsewhere in the Code. 

 

Sec. 11-77.  Required in fraternity and sorority houses.  (Now 9-86).  As indicated 

above, provisions related to fraternity and sorority houses are not thought by 

Chief Bostwick and Captain Wright to be necessary because they are covered 

elsewhere.  So Subsection 11-77 (1) was eliminated.  Subsection 11-77(2) related 

to boarding houses and rooming houses was retained. 

 

Sec. 11-78.  Installation and maintenance generally.  Recommended by Chief 

Bostwick and Captain Wright to be eliminated as unnecessary. 

 

CHAPTER 12.  GARBAGE AND REFUSE 

 

Sec. 12-1.-Definitions.  Garbage and Refuse Chapter.  (Now 10-1).  This is not a 

MuniCode recommendation but instead necessitated by HF 134. 

Household units means each dwelling unit as defined in section 14-34 of these 

ordinancesoccupied by a single family. 

Person means each single person or head of each family occupying a separate 

family dwelling unit, or each person, firm or corporation operating a separate 

business unit. 

Premises means the property occupied by a separate householdfamily or business 

unit, whether or not the property is separately owned. 

 

Sec. 12-62 & 12-63.   Deleted as unnecessary according to Municipal Operations 

and Programs. 

38



27 
 

 

CHAPTER 13.  HEALTH AND SANITATION 

Sec. 13-3.  Discharge of water on streets.  (Now 19-281) 

     (Add the following sentence to the end of the section:  Violation of the 

provisions of this section shall constitute a municipal infraction, and upon 

conviction thereof shall be punished in accordance with section 1-9.) 

 

CHAPTER 14.  HOUSING 

 

Sec. 14-1.  Administrative body.  Subsection (b).  (Now 11-1).  The following 

sentence was added:  Such commission shall serve the city council in an advisory 

capacity only. 

In Subsection (d), the reference to I.C.A. ch. 403A deleted as follows:  Such board 

may adopt rules, bylaws and regulations governing its organization and 

procedures as may be deemed necessary and in conformance with I.C.A. ch. 403A, 

as amended, and subject to the approval of the city council. 

Subsections (e) through (g) were eliminated.  Again, emphasizes the advisory 

nature of the Housing Commission.  

 

Sec. 14-2.  International Residential Code and International Building Code—

Adoption.  (Now 11-2).  These provisions are obsolete and also refer to Editions 

of such codes that have been superseded by adoption of later Editions. 

Subsection 14-2(a).  This subsection was changed to read as follows:  The 

International Residential Code for One and Two-Family Dwellings, 2015 Edition, 

and the International Building Code, 2015 Edition, published by the International 

Code Council, Inc., hereinafter collectively called, “building code” in this chapter, 

39



28 
 

has been adopted by the city, and such building code is incorporated by reference 

as if fully set out in this section.  The building code will regulate the maintenance 

of housing under this chapter. 

14-2 (c).  Retained, but changed to correct the reference to the 2015 building 

code. 

 

Sec. 14-3.  Same—Inspection fees.  (Now 11-3). 

Subsection (a).  Eliminated reference to Section 14-2.  Also agreed with MuniCode 

that the inspection fees should be set by resolution.  

Subsection (c).  Eliminated the reference to “adopted in this chapter.”  Also 

changed reference from “rental housing inspector” to Fire Operations Division of 

the Department of Public Safety Services. 

 

Sec. 14-4.  Applicability of Codes.  (Now 11-4).  This section also incorrectly 

references outdated Editions of the outside codes and was changed accordingly. 

 

Sec. 14-91.- Sanitary requirements.  (Now 11-114)  This is not a MuniCode 

recommendation, but instead necessitated by HF 134. 

(2)     Baths.  At least one bath shall be supplied for each four persons or fraction 

thereof residing within a dwelling containing a rooming unit, including members 

of the operator’s family whenever they share such facilities. 

 

Sec. 14-93. – Space and security.  (Now 11-116)  This is not a MuniCode 

recommendation, but instead necessitated by HF 134. 

(b)  Structural requirements. 

40



29 
 

      (3)    Maximum occupancy period.  Not more than one family shall occupy a 

dwelling unit, except for guests, …. 

       (4)    Ceiling height. 

                 Exceptions: 

                 a.  In one- and two-unitfamily dwellings, beams or girders spaced not 

less than 4 feet on center…. 

                  b.  Basement rooms in one- and two-unitfamily dwellings occupied 

exclusively … 

 

Sec. 14-96.  Fire Safety.  (Now 11-119)  Changes recommended by Chief Bostwick 

and Captain Wright. 

(a) 

(2) a.  All dwelling units shall be provided with smoke detectors as defined in 

International Fire Code, 20152009 Edition Section 907.2.11…. 

(At the end of the current text in the subsection, the following shall be added): 

Effective January 1, 2018, all newly registered rental dwelling units and those 

changing ownership that do not contain hardwired provision for electric detection 

shall be provided with 10-year battery tamper proof dual sensor smoke detectors 

or 10-year battery tamper proof combination dual sensor smoke 

detectors/carbon monoxide detectors that comply with this section. 

Effective January 1, 2018, each time a smoke detector in a rental dwelling unit 

that is hardwired for electric detection is replaced, repaired or removed, or is 

ordered to be replaced, repaired or removed, it shall be replaced with a dual 

sensor smoke detector that is hardwired for electric detection that complies with 

this section.  Each time a smoke detector in a rental dwelling unit that is not 

hardwired for electric smoke detection is replaced, repaired or removed, or is 

41



30 
 

ordered to be replaced, repaired or removed, it shall be replaced with a 10-year 

battery tamper proof dual sensor smoke detector that complies with this section. 

Effective January 1, 2021, all rental dwelling units that do not contain hardwired 

provision for electric smoke detection shall be provided with 10-year battery 

tamper proof dual sensor smoke detectors that comply with this section. 

b.  Effective May 1, 2011, all newly registered dwelling units shall be provided 

with dual sensor smoke detectors as defined in Iowa Code Section 100.18 and 661 

Iowa Administrative Code 210.1. 

 

 

Sec. 14-99.  Mechanical equipment.  (Now 11-122)  Certain recommendations by 

MuniCode agreed upon, primarily cross references. 

Subsection 14-99 (b)(2) changed to read:  Installation of natural gas and 

associated equipment shall be governed by Building and Building Regulations as 

set forth in Chapter 7 of this code. 

Subsection 14-99 (b)(3) deleted as unnecessary. 

Subsection 14-99(d)(3) deleted as unnecessary. 

 

Sec. 14-145.  Occupancy Control.   Deleted as inconsistent with other changes to 

Chapter 14. 

 

Sec. 14-168. – Extermination of pests.  (Now 11-199)  This is not a MuniCode 

recommendation but instead necessitated by HF 134. 

     The occupant of a single-unitfamily dwelling shall be responsible for the 

extermination….. 

42



31 
 

Also this is not a MuniCode recommendation but given HF 134 another definition 

was changed as follows: 

     Real property or housing accommodation means any building, structure or 

portion thereof which is occupieds as, or designated or intended for occupancy 

as, as residence by one or more families, and any vacant land which is offered for 

sale or lease for the construction or location thereon of any such building, 

structure or portion thereof. 

 

CHAPTER 15.  HUMAN RELATIONS 

 

Sec. 15-2 Definitions.  (Now 12-2)  Disability or handicap definition changed to 

conform to Iowa Code. 

 

Sec. 15-111.  Prohibited education practices.  (Now 12-127).  Last paragraph 

changed to conform to Iowa Code. 

 

Sec. 15-151. – Housing definitions.  (Now 12-179)  This is not a MuniCode 

recommendation but instead necessitated by HF 134, or more accurately to make 

the Code consistent after other changes necessitated by HF 134. 

Covered multi-unitfamily dwelling: 

 

Sec. 15-153. – Exemptions.  (Now 12-181)  Same as above—HF 134 

The provisions of this division shall not apply to: 

(1)  Any single-unitfamily house sold….more than three such single-unitfamily 

houses at any one time….sale of any such single-unitfamily house by a 

43



32 
 

private….more than three such single-unitfamily houses at any one time….the sale 

or rental of any such single-unitfamily house shall be excepted…. 

(2)  Rooms or units in Ddwellings containing no more than four independent 

dwelling unitsliving quarters occupied or intended to be occupied by no more 

than four families living independently of each other, if the owner actually 

maintains and occupies one of such dwelling unitsliving quarters as his or her 

residence. 

 

Sec. 15-172. – Exemptions.  (Now 12-206)  Same as above—HR 134. 

     (2)  The rental or leasing to transient individuals of less than six rooms within a 

single housing accommodation by the occupant or owner of such housing 

accommodation, if the occupant or owner or members of his/her family resides 

therein. 

 

CHAPTER 16.  LICENSES AND BUILDING REGULATIONS. 

 

Sec. 16-33.  Sales prohibited on public property.  (Now 13-33)  No person, firm, 

corporation or other entity shall sell, rent, barter, display, or otherwise offer for 

sale, rent or barter any merchandise or other materials on any sidewalk, street, 

public right-of-way, or public property except as provided for in section 23-66 et 

seq related to sidewalk cafes or as otherwise provided in this division without a 

valid permit or license. 

 

Sec. 16-34.  Definitions.  (Now 13-34)  A mobile merchant shall include any 

person engaged in selling, renting or bartering, or offering for sale, rent or barter, 

food, beverages, goods, wares, or other merchandise from a stand, cart, motor 

vehicle, vending machine, or other form of temporary structure.  Mobile 

merchants shall include, but not be limited to persons referred to as peddlers, 

44



33 
 

solicitors, vendors, transient merchants, and seasonal merchants, whether 

operating on public or private property. 

Comment:  This is a substantive change to include persons who rent or barter as 

Mobile Merchants. 

 

Sec. 16-36.  (Now 13-36)  Added a new subsection, (17) The sale of consumer 

fireworks and novelties. 

Comment:  State law prohibits local licensing requirements for fireworks sales. 

 

Re-inserted previous Sections 16-54 thru 16-58 that were inadvertently omitted 

upon adoption of Ordinance No. 2899, but removed language as noted. 

 

Sec. 16-54. Register required; contents; filing of information with police chief.  

(Now 13-65)   Each pawnbroker shall keep at his/her place of business a register 

in which he/she shall keep a record showing a description of all property taken, 

purchased or received by him/her, including the number of any watch, bicycle or 

other article, the name or initials or any identification mark upon him/her, the 

name and residence and street and number of the person from whom such 

property is received or taken, the amount loaned on such property or paid to the 

person leaving or depositing the property, the interest charged or accruing to be 

paid by the person leaving or depositing such property and the time when the 

loan falls due or when the contract made with the person depositing such 

property expires or matures.  All entries made in such register shall be made in 

ink, and a copy of the entries made each day shall be filed with the chief of police 

before noon of the following day. 

 

Sec. 16-55. Inspection of register and property.  (Now 13-66)  The pawnbroker’s 

register required by this division shall at all times be open to inspection by the 

45



34 
 

chief of police or any police officer of the city, the city attorney or his/her 

assistant, an anyone authorized in writing by the chief of police of the city for that 

purpose, which written authority shall be exhibited to the pawnbroker.  The 

pawnbroker shall also, upon request, show to any of the persons named in this 

section any articles purchased, taken or received by him/her or deposited with 

him/her and in his/her possession. 

 

Sec. 16-56. Record of property purchased; retention period.  (Now 13-67)  Each 

pawnbroker shall enter on the register required by this division the same data 

with reference to every article purchased or bought by him/her as is required for 

property subject to redemption, and shall keep the property in his/her place of 

business for a period of five days after its purchase. Such property shall be 

reported and shall be subject to inspection the same as property pledged or 

deposited with him/her subject to redemption. 

 

Sec. 16-57. Ticket for property received.  (Now 13-68)  To each person selling, 

negotiating, depositing or leaving any property with a pawnbroker, the 

pawnbroker shall give a ticket upon which shall be printed or written a copy of all 

entries required by this division to be made in the pawnbroker’s register with 

reference to the transaction with such person, for which ticket no charge shall be 

made by the pawnbroker. 

 

Sec. 16-58. Receiving property from minors.  (Now 13-69)  No pawnbroker shall 

purchase any personal property or receive property on deposit from any minor 

without the written consent of the parent or guardian of such minor. 

  

Sec. 16-265.  Effective date of the requirements.  Deleted as obsolete. 

 

46



35 
 

Sec. 16-267.  Separability of provisions.  Deleted as superfluous. 

 

CHAPTER 17.  MOBILE HOMES, ETC. 

 

Sec. 17-6.  Occupancy Permit.  MuniCode recommended deletion as preempted 

by Iowa Code and Craig Witry confirmed that he has never inspected for 

placement of mobile homes, the state does.  Deleted. 

 

Sec. 17-14.  through Section 17-16.  All deleted to conform to current practice.  

The state regulates in the areas deleted, not the City.  

 

Sec. 17-18. – ConversionUse of mobile home as two-family unit; use for home 

occupation; certificate of occupancy required for rental.  (Now 14-14) 

      No mobile home shall be converted to a two-family unit regardless of the lot 

area, nor shall any mobile home be utilized for a home occupation unless it meets 

the requirements for a home occupation as defined by the zoning ordinance.  If 

rented, the mobile home shall have a certificate of occupancy from the minimum 

housing code inspector. 

Comment:  Necessitated by HF 134. 

 

Sec. 17-43. – Lot area.  (Now 14-39)  See above.  HF 134. 

     Each mobile home lLot area per family in a mobile home park shall not be less 

than 3,500 square feet per family. 

 

Sec. 17-72. – Lot area.  (Now 14-81)  See above.  HF 134. 

47



36 
 

     Each mobile home lLot area per family in a mobile home subdivision shall not 

be less than 5,000 square feet per family. 

 

CHAPTER 18.  NUISANCES 

 

Sec. 18-74.  Prohibited noises generally.  (Now 15-83)  Inserted a reasonable 

person standard throughout due to constitutionality concerns.  See Exhibit B.   

 

CHAPTER 19.  OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

Sec. 19-6.  Trespass.  (Now 16-5).  MuniCode recommended conformance with 

Iowa Code § 716.7 & § 716.8.  We agreed that there are additional provisions that 

must be added.  But the Code of Ordinances may not list as a penalty anything in 

excess of a simple misdemeanor.  So the following changes to Iowa Code § 716.7 

were made to allow integration into the Code of Ordinances:   

1. For purposes of this section: 
  
 

a. “Property” shall include any land, dwelling, building, conveyance, vehicle, or 
other temporary or permanent structure whether publicly or privately owned. 
  
 

b. “Public utility” is a public utility as defined in section 476.1 or an electric 
transmission line as provided in chapter 478. 
  
 

c. “Public utility property” means any land, dwelling, building, conveyance, 
vehicle, or other temporary or permanent structure owned, leased, or operated 
by a public utility and that is completely enclosed by a physical barrier of any kind. 

48



37 
 

  
 

d. “Railway corporation” means a corporation, company, or person owning, 
leasing, or operating any railroad in whole or in part within this state. 
  
 

e. “Railway property” means all tangible real and personal property owned, 
leased, or operated by a railway corporation with the exception of any 
administrative building or offices of the railway corporation. 
  
 

f. “Reasonable expectation of privacy” means circumstances in which a 
reasonable person would believe that the person could disrobe or partially 
disrobe in privacy, without being concerned that the person disrobing or partially 
disrobing was being viewed, photographed, or filmed when doing so. 
  
 

2. a. The term “Trespass” shall mean one or more of the following acts: 
  
 

(1) Entering upon or in property without the express permission of the owner, 
lessee, or person in lawful possession with the intent to commit a public offense, 
to use, remove therefrom, alter, damage, harass, or place thereon or therein 
anything animate or inanimate, or to hunt, fish or trap on or in the property, 
including the act of taking or attempting to take a deer, other than a farm deer as 
defined in section 170.1 or preserve whitetail as defined in section 484C.1, which 
is on or in the property by a person who is outside the property. This 
subparagraph does not prohibit the unarmed pursuit of game or fur-bearing 
animals by a person who lawfully injured or killed the game or fur-bearing animal 
which comes to rest on or escapes to the property of another. 
  
 

(2) Entering or remaining upon or in property without justification after being 
notified or requested to abstain from entering or to remove or vacate therefrom 

49



38 
 

by the owner, lessee, or person in lawful possession, or the agent or employee of 
the owner, lessee, or person in lawful possession, or by any peace officer, 
magistrate, or public employee whose duty it is to supervise the use or 
maintenance of the property. A person has received notice to abstain from 
entering or remaining upon or in property within the meaning of this 
subparagraph (2) if any of the following is applicable: 
  
 

(a) The person has been notified to abstain from entering or remaining upon or in 
property personally, either orally or in writing, including by a valid court order 
under chapter 236. 
  
 

(b) A printed or written notice forbidding such entry has been conspicuously 
posted or exhibited at the main entrance to the property or the forbidden part of 
the property. 
  
 

(3) Entering upon or in property for the purpose or with the effect of unduly 
interfering with the lawful use of the property by others. 
  
 

(4) Being upon or in property and wrongfully using, removing therefrom, altering, 
damaging, harassing, or placing thereon or therein anything animate or 
inanimate, without the implied or actual permission of the owner, lessee, or 
person in lawful possession. 
  
 

(5) Entering or remaining upon or in railway property without lawful authority or 
without the consent of the railway corporation which owns, leases, or operates 
the railway property. This subparagraph does not apply to passage over a railroad 
right-of-way, other than a track, railroad roadbed, viaduct, bridge, trestle, or 
railroad yard, by an unarmed person if the person has not been notified or 
requested to abstain from entering onto the right-of-way or to vacate the right-
of-way and the passage over the right-of-way does not interfere with the 

50



39 
 

operation of the railroad. 
  
 

(6) Entering or remaining upon or in public utility property without lawful 
authority or without the consent of the public utility that owns, leases, or 
operates the public utility property. This subparagraph does not apply to passage 
over public utility right-of-way by a person if the person has not been notified or 
requested by posted signage or other means to abstain from entering onto the 
right-of-way or to vacate the right-of-way. 
  
 

(7) Intentionally viewing, photographing, or filming another person through the 
window or any other aperture of a dwelling, without legitimate purpose, while 
present on the real property upon which the dwelling is located, or while placing 
on or retrieving from such property equipment to view, photograph, or film 
another person, if the person being viewed, photographed, or filmed has a 
reasonable expectation of privacy, and if the person being viewed, photographed, 
or filmed does not consent or cannot consent to being viewed, photographed, or 
filmed. 
  
 

b. “Trespass” shall not mean either of the following: 
  
 

(1) Entering upon the property of another for the sole purpose of retrieving 
personal property which has accidentally or inadvertently been thrown, fallen, 
strayed, or blown onto the property of another, provided that the person 
retrieving the property takes the most direct and accessible route to and from the 
property to be retrieved, quits the property as quickly as is possible, and does not 
unduly interfere with the lawful use of the property. This subparagraph does not 
apply to public utility property where the person has been notified or requested 
by posted signage or other means to abstain from entering. 
  
 

(2) Entering upon the right-of-way of a public road or highway. 

51



40 
 

  
 

3. This section shall not apply to the following persons: 
  
 

a. Representatives of the state department of transportation, the federal railroad 
administration, or the national transportation safety board who enter or remain 
upon or in railway property while engaged in the performance of official duties. 
  
 

b. Employees of a railway corporation who enter or remain upon or in railway 
property while acting in the course of employment. 
  
 

c. Any person who is engaged in the operation of a lawful business on railway 
station grounds or in the railway depot. 
  
 

d. Representatives of the Iowa utilities board, the federal energy regulatory 
commission, or the federal communications commission who enter or remain 
upon or in public utility property while engaged in the performance of official 
duties. 
  
 

e. Employees of a public utility who enter or remain upon or in public utility 
property while acting in the course of employment. 
 

Sec. 19-12.  Disorderly conduct.  (Now 16-11)  Deleted Subsection (a)(6) which 

read: 

Knowingly and publicly uses the flag of the United States in such a manner as to 

show disrespect for the flag as a symbol of the United States, with the intent or 

52



41 
 

reasonable expectation that such use will provoke or encourage another to 

commit a public offense.   

Comment:  Unconstitutional. 

 

Sec. 19-12A.  Disorderly conduct—funeral or memorial service.  (Now 16-12)  

Changed distance from 500 feet to 1000 feet to conform to state statute. 

 

Sec. 19-13.  Curfew for minors.  (Now 16-13).   

(a) In this section the term "underage person" means a person under age of 15 
years. It shall be unlawful for any underage person under the age of 15 years to 
be in or upon the streets or public places in the city between the hours of 11:00 
p.m. and 6:00 a.m. on Friday and Saturday nights, and between the hours of 
10:00 p.m. and 6:00a.m. every other night, unless accompanied by his parents or 
guardian, or by someone of lawful age appointed by such parent or guardian, 
having such minor in charge. 
(b) Subsection (a) of this section shall not apply: 
(1) When the underage person is accompanied by his parent or other adult having 
lawful care and custody of the underage person; 
(2) When the underage person is upon an emergency errand directed by his 
parent or adult having lawful care and custody of such underage person; 
(3) When the underage person is attending and going to and returning from a 
bona fide work-study program, school, an official school, religious, or other 
recreational activity supervised by adults or sponsored by the city, school, or 
another public body, a civic organization, or other similar entity that takes 
responsibility for the underage person without any unnecessary detour or stop 
and within one hour of the termination of the activity sponsored by the city, 
school, other public body or civic organization or similar entity; 
(4) When the underage person is going to or returning directly home from lawful 
employment that makes it necessary to be in such place during the proscribed 
period of time without any unnecessary detour or stop and within one hour of the 
termination of the employment activity; 

53



42 
 

(5) When the underage person is attending or traveling directly to or from an 
activity involving the exercise of First Amendment rights of free speech, freedom 
of assembly or free exercise of religion; 
(6) When the underage person is in a motor vehicle with parental consent for 
normal travel (interstate and intrastate travel through the city is excepted in all 
cases from the curfew); 
(7) When the underage person is on the sidewalk or right-of-way adjoining the 
property where the underage person resides, or on the property where he 
resides. 
(c) Any underage person violating any of the provisions of this section shall be 
subject to arrest. Upon such arrest, the underage person shall be taken and 
delivered to the hands of the parents or guardian or turned over to the 
proper authorities. 
 
Comment.  Ordinance was unconstitutionally vague. 
 
 
Sec. 19-20.  Urinating in public.  (Now 16-20)  It shall be unlawful for any person 
to intentionally urinate on public in the city.  This section does not apply to public 
restrooms.   
 
Comment:  Overbroad and unconstitutional as previously written. 
 
 
Sec. 19-21.  Prohibiting wading, water skiing or swimming in city-owned lakes 
and detention basins.  (Now 16-21).  Added an emergency exception—This 
section does not apply in emergencies. 
 
 
Sec. 19-22.  Interference with official acts.  (Now 16-22) 
(a) A person who knowingly resists or obstructs anyone known by the person to 
be a peace officer, emergency medical care provider under Iowa Code ch. 147A, 
or firefighter, whether paid or volunteer, in the performance of any act which is 
within the scope of the lawful duty or authority of that officer, emergency 
medical care provider under Iowa Code ch. 147A, or firefighter, whether paid or 
volunteer, or who knowingly resists or obstructs the service or execution by any 
authorized person of any civil or criminal process or order of any court, 

54



43 
 

commits a simple misdemeanor. A person commits interference with official acts 
when the person knowingly resists or obstructs anyone known by the person to 
be a peace officer, jailer, emergency medical care provider under Iowa 
Code ch. 147A, or firefighter, whether paid or volunteer, or a person performing 
bailiff duties pursuant to Iowa Code § 602.1303(4), in the performance of any act 
which is within the scope of the lawful duty or authority of that officer, jailer, 
emergency medical care provider under Iowa Code ch. 147A, or firefighter, 
whether paid or volunteer, or a person performing bailiff duties pursuant to Iowa 
Code § 602.1303(4), or who knowingly resists or obstructs the service or 
execution by any authorized person of any civil or criminal process or order of any 
court. Interference with official acts is a simple misdemeanor. In addition to any 
other penalties, the punishment imposed for a violation of this subsection shall 
include assessment of a fine of not less than $250.00. 
(b) The terms "resist" and "obstruct," as used in this section, do not include verbal 
harassment unless the verbal harassment is accompanied by a present ability and 
apparent intention to execute a verbal threat physically. 
 

Comment:  Rewritten to conform to Iowa Code. 
 
 
Sec. 19-29.  Theft defined.  (Now 16-29)  Section was rewritten to conform to 
Iowa Code § 714.1.  See Exhibit C. 
 
 
Sec. 19-116 to 19-119.  Drug Paraphernalia Article.  (Now 16-166)  Completely 
rewritten to conform to Iowa Code.  See Exhibit D. 
 
 
CHAPTER 20.  PARKS AND RECREATION 
 
 
Sec. 20-158.  Membership of board; appointment of members.  (Now 17-135)  
(a)  The city art and culture board shall be composed of seven members, who shall 
be citizens residents of the city. 
 
Comment:  Citizenship of a city is not a correct term to use.  Instead the reference 
should be to a resident of the city. 
 

55



44 
 

 
Sec. 20-214(4).  Miscellaneous prohibited acts.  (Now 17-199(4))    MuniCode 
recommended deletion of subsection 4 as being preempted by Iowa Code § 
724.8.  The language of this section is problematic considering the 2017 
amendments to Chapter 724, but the subsection was retained as follows.  Deleted 
the word “carry.”  So the subsection now provides:  (4) Use of any firearms. 
 

Subsection 20-214(9).  (Now 17-199(9))  This subsection is too broad and is 

unenforceable.  It was changed to be stated in the negative, ie, Interfere with 

anyone using a park in a lawful manner. 

Subsection 20-214(10).  (Now 17-199(10))  Added an emergency landing 

exception.  

 

Sec. 20-219(b).  Seasonal leases.  (Now 17-204(b))  Changed title to “Commercial 

enterprises.” 

 

Sec. 20-224.  Authorized off-leash dog exercise facility.  (Now 17-209) 

                        *                        *                         * 

     (f)  Penalty for violation.  Any violation of any of the provisions of this section, 

including any rules or regulations established under subsection (d) of this section 

and posted as required herein, shall constitute a municipal infraction, and shall be 

punishable as provided in section 1-9(a) of the Code. 

 

Sec. 20-257.1.  Street tree planting regulations.  (Now 17-241)  This is not a 

MuniCode recommendation.  This typo was noticed when drafting the trees and 

shrubs ordinance.  The word tree was inserted after the word “street.” 

 

56



45 
 

Sec. 20-275 through Sec. 20-277.  Eliminated all because they address watercraft 

regulations which are within the jurisdiction of the Iowa Department of Natural 

Resources, except retained Sec. 20-277 (12) & (13) (speed and hours of boat 

operation on City lakes).  

 

CHAPTER 23.  STREETS AND SIDEWALKS 

 

Sec. 23-1.  Obedience to persons entrusted with care of streets.  (Now 19-1)  It 

shall be unlawful for any person within the city to disobey or disregard the lawful 

commands or directions of any police officer, the director of public works, the city 

engineer, the operations and maintenance manager or any persons in charge of 

work or repair or connected with such work or repair on any street with respect 

to the care of the street, the removal of obstructions and the general convenience 

of traffic and travel.   

Comment:  clarification 

 

Sec. 23-2.  Repairs to streets by railway companies.  Deleted due to ordinance’s 

reliance on a repealed state statute. 

 

Sec. 23-3.  Street meetings; parades.  (Now 19-2)  MuniCode recommended 

adopting its model ordinance on parades to avoid constitutional problems.  We 

agreed and adopted MuniCode’s model ordinance. 

 

Sec. 23-6.  Fires on paved streets.  Deleted as superseded by new Sec. 11-59. 

 

Sec. 23-39.  Injuring parkings, ornamentations or fixtures.  (Now 19-48)  

57



46 
 

     Revised by removing phrase “either by walking upon or riding or driving upon 

or across or against the parkings in any manner,”  This phrase is unnecessary;  it 

doesn’t matter how the damage occurs. 

 

Sec. 23-99.  Penalty.  (Now 19-144). 

     Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this article 

shall be deemed to have committed a municipal infraction and shall be punished 

as provided in section 1-8 9. 

Comment:  Incorrect reference to the misdemeanor section. 

 

Sec. 23-171.  Penalty.  (Now 19-226) 

     Any person, firm or corporation violating any of the provisions of this article 

shall be deemed to have committed a municipal infraction and shall be punished 

as provided in section 1-8 9. 

Comment:  Incorrect reference to the misdemeanor section. 

 

CHAPTER 24.  SUBDIVISIONS 

 

Sec. 24-74. – Establishment of private streets, vehicular accessways.  (Now 20-

145)  Not a MuniCode suggestion.  Necessitated by HF 134. 

     With the exception of private residential driveways…industrial or multi-

unitfamily development projects on a case-by case …. 

 

CHAPTER 25.  TAXATION 

58



47 
 

 

Sec. 25-1.  Transient lodgings occupancy tax.  (Now 21-1)   

Added “manufactured or” to conform to state statute. 

 

CHAPTER 26.  TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

 

Sec. 26-3. – Definitions  (Now 22-2)  Changes were made as follows to conform to 

state law. 

 Electric personal assistive mobility device.  Added:  The term “electric personal 

assistive mobility device” does not include an assistive device as defined in Iowa 

Code § 216E.1.   

Road construction zone.  Conformed to State statute, but added “or street” when 

only highway is stated in the definition. 

Motor vehicle means every vehicle which is self-propelled, but not including 

vehicles known as trackless trolleys which are propelled by electric power 

obtained from overhead trolley wires but and not operated on rails. 

Road construction zone means the portion of a street or highway which is 

identified by posted or moving signs as being under construction as the site of 

construction, maintenance, survey, or utility work…. 

Traffic operations and public buildings division eliminated due to obsolescence. 

Truck tractor means every motor vehicle designed and used primarily for drawing 

other vehicles and not so constructed as to carry a load other than a part of the 

weight of the vehicle and load so drawn.  However, a truck tractor may have a 

box, deck, or plate for carrying freight, mounted on the frame behind the cab, and 

forward of the fifth-wheel connection point. 

Vehicle 

59



48 
 

(2) 

(c)  Any steering axle, dolly, auxiliary axle, or other integral part of another 

vehicle, except an auxiliary axle, as defined in Iowa Code § 321.1(69), which in and 

of itself is incapable of commercially transporting any person or property but is 

used primarily to support another vehicle.  

 

Sec. 26-61.  Established; superintendent.  Deleted as covered by another code 

section. 

 

Sec. 26-100B.  Same—To obtain cigarettes or tobacco products.  (Now 22-116)  

Minor change to correct reference to state code. 

 

Sec. 26-107.  Privileges of drivers of authorized emergency vehicles.  (Now 22-

113)  Added a provision for officers riding a police bicycle. 

 

Sec. 26-108.  Duties of drivers on approach of authorized emergency vehicles.  

(Now 22-124)  Changes made to conform to state code.   

(a)  For the purposes of this section the term “red light” or “blue light” means a 

light or lighting device that, when illuminated, will exhibit a solid flashing or 

strobing red or blue light. 

(b)  Upon the immediate approach of an authorized emergency vehicle with any 

lamp or device displaying a red light or red and blue lights, or an emergency 

vehicle of the  a fire operations division department displaying a blue light, or 

when the driver is giving audible signal by siren, exhaust whistle, or bell, the 

driver of every other vehicle shall yield the right-of-way and shall immediately 

drive to a position parallel to, and as close as possible to, the right-hand edge or 

curb of the street or highway clear of any intersection and shall stop and remain 

60



49 
 

in such position until the authorized emergency vehicle has passed, except when 

otherwise directed by a police officer.  For the purposes of this section, the term 

“red light” or “blue light” means a light or lighting device that, when illuminated, 

will exhibit a solid flashing or strobing red or blue light.  

 

Sec. 26-120.  Vehicles transporting liquefied gas.  Deleted as obsolete. 

 

Sec. 26-123.  Driving on right hand side of street.  (Now 22-138)  Significant 

changes to conform to state law.  See Exhibit E. 

 

Sec. 26-134.  Open containers in motor vehicles—Drivers.  (Now 22-150)  Minor 

change to correct reference to state law. 

 

Sec. 26-135.  Same—Passengers.  (Now 22-151)  Added “motorsports 

recreational vehicle” and minor correction of state law reference. 

 

Sec. 26-139. Electric person assistive mobility devices.  (Now 22-155)  Conformed 

to State statute, but retained reference to 26-373. 

 

Sec. 26-147.  Overtaking or passing on the right.  (Now 22-188).  Subsection (b) 

rewritten to conform to state law as follows: 

Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the driver of a vehicle on a roadway with 

unobstructed pavement of sufficient width for two or more lines of traffic moving 

in the same direction as the vehicle being passed may overtake and pass upon the 

right of another vehicle which is making or about to make a left turn when such 

movement can be made in safety. 

61



50 
 

(c)  The driver of a vehicle shall not drive off the pavement or upon the shoulder 

of the roadway or upon the apron or roadway of an intersecting roadway in 

overtaking or passing on the right or the left. 

 

Sec. 26-149.  Limitations on passing on left on pavement of four or more lanes.  

(Now 22-190)  Rewritten to conform to state law as follows: 

Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the driver of a vehicle may overtake and, 

allowing sufficient clearance, pass abnother vehuiclke proceeding in the same 

direction either upon the left or upon the right on a roadway with unobstructed 

pavement of sufficient width for four or more lines of traffic when such 

movement can be made in safety. 

 

Sec. 26-162.  Movement to right on meeting on roadway.  (Now 22-222)  

Changed to clarify as follows: 

Except as provided by Iowa Code § 321.97, vehicles or persons on horseback 

meeting each other on the streets in the city on any roadway shall give one-half 

of the traveled way thereof by turning to the right. 

 

Sec. 26-164.  Driving through procession.  (Now 22-225)  Kept this section, but 

removed “a funeral procession or” and added additional separate section for 

funeral processions, referencing Iowa Code § 321.324A, as follows: 

For purposes of this section, “funeral procession” means a procession of motor 
vehicles accompanying the body of a deceased person during daylight hours 
which is being escorted by a vehicle continually displaying its emergency signal 
lamps flashing simultaneously and using lighted headlamps and identifying flags, 
or an escort vehicle displaying a flashing or revolving red and amber light visible 
to pedestrians in all directions, and keeping all other motor vehicles with lighted 
headlamps in close formation. 
 

62



51 
 

Upon the immediate approach of a funeral procession, the driver of every other 
vehicle, except an authorized emergency vehicle, shall yield the right-of-way. An 
operator of a motor vehicle which is part of a funeral procession shall not be 
charged with violating traffic rules and regulations relating to traffic signals and 
devices while participating in the procession unless the operation is reckless. 
 
The funeral establishment in charge of the funeral procession is liable only in 
connection with the procession for any negligent, reckless, or intentional act by 
the funeral establishment or any employee or agent of the funeral establishment 
that results in any death, personal injury or property damage suffered during a 
funeral procession. 
 

Sec. 26-169.  Lettering of stop signs; location of stop signs.  (Now 22-230)  

Amended the section to read as follows for the sake of clarity: 

     Every stop sign shall bear the word “stop” and the lettering shall conform to 

the standards of the Iowa Department of Transportation.  

 

Sec. 26-171.  Stopping at stop signs.  (Now 22-232)  Rewritten to conform to 

state code as follows: 

The driver of a vehicle approaching a stop intersection indicated by a stop sign 

shall stop at the first opportunity at either the clearly marked stop line or before 

entering the ctrosswalk or before entering the intersection or at the point nearest 

the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on 

the intersecting roadway before entering the intersection.  Before proceeding, 

the driver shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle on the intersecting roadway 

which has entered the intersection or which is approaching so closely as to 

constitute an immediate hazard during the time the driver is moving across or 

within the intersection. 

 

63



52 
 

Sec. 26-172.  Entering through street.  (Now 22-233)  Rewritten to conform to 

state law as follows: 

The driver of a vehicle shall stop or yield as required by this division at the 

entrance to a through street or highway and shall yield the right-of-way to other 

vehicles which have entered the intersection from said through street or highway 

or which are approaching so closely on said through street or highway as to 

constitute a hazard, but said driver having so yielded may proceed cautiously and 

with due care enter said through street or highway. 

 

Sec. 26-175.  Stop when approaching school zone stop signs.  MuniCode 

suggested deleting if obsolete; agree that it is obsolete so it was deleted. 

 

Sec. 26-227.  Methods of turning at intersections.  (Now 22-325)  Added the 

following subsection (b) in order to clarify: 

When the city has caused markers, buttons or signs to be placed within or 

adjacent to interesections and thereby required and directed that a different 

course from that specified in this section be traveled by vehicles turning at an 

intersection, and when markers, buttons or signs are so placed, no driver of a 

vehicle shall turn a vehicle at an intersection other than as directed and required 

by such markers, buttons or signs. 

 

Sec. 26-254.  Impoundment or immobilization of vehicles. (Now 22-359) 

          *          *          * 

     (f)  Penalty for violations.  Any violation of the provisions of this section shall 

constitute a municipal infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9. 

subject to a civil penalty as follows: 

            (1)  First offense:  $100.00 

64



53 
 

            (2)  Second offense:  $200.00   

            (3)  Third and each subsequent offense:  $300.00.  

             Other than the amount of the civil penalty for violations of this section, all 

other provisions of section 1-9 of this Code shall apply to such municipal 

infractions. 

Comment:  making municipal infraction penalties consistent. 

 

Sec. 26-255.  Driver’s responsibility when leaving motor vehicle unattended.  

(Now 22-360).  Changed to conform to state Code as follows: 

No A person driving or in charge of a motor vehicle shall not permit it the vehicle 

to stand unattended without first stopping the engine, or when standing upon 

any perceptible grade without effectively setting the brake thereon and turning 

the front wheels to the curb or side of the street or highway. 

 

Sec. 26-292.  Enforcement of division.  Deleted as covered by another code 

section 

 

Sec. 26-372.  Brakes.  (Now 22-516)  Conformed to state code, but replaced 

“highway” with roadway. 

 

Sec. 26-373.  Required lamps; lighting of lamps.  (Now 22-517) Conformed to 

state code by adding reference to “motorized bicycle” and added a conforming 

section related to maintenance of lights. 

 

Sec. 26-516.  Applicability of traffic regulations to persons riding bicycles.  (Now 
22-681).  Every person using or operating a bicycle upon the streets or sidewalks 

65



54 
 

of the city shall be subject to the traffic laws of the city, except those provisions 
which by their nature can have no application. A person, including a peace officer, 
riding a bicycle on the highway is subject to the provisions of this division and has 
all the rights and duties under this division applicable to the driver of a vehicle, 
except those provisions of this division which by their nature can have no 
application or those provisions for which specific exceptions have been set forth 
regarding police bicycles. 
 

Comment:  Conformed to state code, but added a clause for police to allow them 

to ride on sidewalks. 

 

Sec. 26-520.  Driver to use seat; carrying passengers.  (Now 22-685). 
     A person operating a bicycle shall ride only upon the permanent and regular 
attached seat thereto, and such operator shall not carry any other person nor 
shall any other person ride on a bicycle unless such bicycle is designed to carry 
more than one person, in which event a passenger may ride upon the permanent 
and regular seat if designed to carry more than one person, in which event a 
passenger may ride upon the permanent and regular seat if designed for two 
persons, or upon another seat firmly attached to the bicycle at the rear of the 
operator. 
     This section shall not prohibit the operator of a bicycle from carrying a small 
child in a backpack. 
(a) A person propelling a bicycle on the highway shall not ride other than upon or 
astride a permanent and regular seat attached to the bicycle. 
(b) A person shall not use a bicycle on the highway to carry more persons at one 
time than the number of persons for which the bicycle is designed and equipped. 
 
Comment:  Conformed to state Code. 
 

Sec. 26-538.  Sirens and whistles.  (Now 22-713).  Conformed to state Code as 

follows: 

66



55 
 

No bicycle within the city shall be equipped with nor shall any person use upon 

such bicycle any siren or whistle.  This section shall not apply to bicycles ridden by 

peace officers in the line of duty. 

 

Sec. 26-567.  Unlawful possession.  ( Now 22-746).  Conformed to state Code as 

follows: 

It shall be unlawful for any person to have in his possession any official traffic 

control device, except by reason of his employment legal right or authority. 

 

Sec. 26-568.  Traffic control signal legend.  (Now 22-747)  Substantial changes 

made to conform to state Code.  See Exhibit F. 

 

Note that all references to the “Traffic Code” were eliminated because there is no 

separate “Traffic Code.” 

 

CHAPTER 27.  UTILITIES 

 

Sec. 27-111. – Definitions.  (Now 24-1919)  This is necessitated by HF 134.   

     Dwelling unit:  Any building, room, or group of adjoining rooms providing 

complete independent living facilities for one or more persons, including 

permanent provisionis for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation.One or 

more habitable rooms which are occupied or which are intended or designed to 

be occupied by one family with facilities for living, sleeping, cooking and eating. 

     Detached single-family unit:  A dwelling unit which is not attached to any other 

unit and is intended for the occupancy of one family. 

67



56 
 

     Residential:  the term “residential” for this chapter shall apply to Aany building 

which is or contains anis used as a single family attached or detached dwelling 

unit or apartment building. 

 

Sec. 27-217.  Cost of abatement of the violation.  (Now 24-278)  Amended to tie 

payment to the cost of abatement. 

 

Sec. 27-221.  Municipal infraction.  (Now 24-282) 

     (a)  Any violation of any provision of this article is hereby declared to be a 

municipal infraction, punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil 

penalties: 

           (1)  First offense:  $250.00  $500.00 

           (2)  Second offense:  $500.00  $750.00 

           (3)  Third and subsequent offenses:  $1,000.00 

(the rest is unchanged) 

Comment:  Changed to bring consistency to penalties for municipal violations. 

 

Sec. 27-307.  Enforcement.  (Now 24-310) 

          *         *          * 

     (b)  Violation of any provision of this article constitutes a municipal infraction 

under this code, punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil 

penalties: 

     (1)  First offense:  $250.00 $500.00 

     (2)  Second offense:  $500.00  $750.00 

68



57 
 

     (3)  Third and subsequent offenses:  $1,000.00. 

(the rest is unchanged) 

Comment:  Same. 

 

Sec. 27-310.  Cost of abatement of the violation.  (Now 24-313)  Same as 27-217.  

In addition, the city should seek reimbursement of filing fees so the following 

language was added:  including applicable filing fees 

 

Sec. 27-403.  Applicability.  (Now 24-336)  Not a MuniCode suggestion.  HF 134.   

(a)  

(2)  Additions or modifications to existing single unitfamily structures. 

 

Sec. 27-410.  Enforcement and penalties.  (Now 24-343) 

          *         *          * 

     (b)  Violation of the provisions of this article constitutes a municipal infraction 

under this code, punishable as provided in the following schedule of civil 

penalties: 

      (1)  First offense:  $250.00  $500.00; 

      (2)  Second offense:  $500.00  $750.00; 

      (3)  Third and subsequent offenses:  $1,000.00 

(the rest is unchanged) 

Comment:  changed to make penalties consistent. 

 

69



58 
 

Sec. 27-413.  Cost of abatement of the violation.  (Now 24-346)  Same as above. 

 

CHAPTER 29.  ZONING 

 

Sec. 29-36.  Development requiring approval by state department of natural 

resources.  (Now 26-32)  Replaced with: 

  For those uses requiring state department of natural resources approval, such 

approval shall be obtained in writing and provided to the board of adjustment 

prior to issuance of a special exception permit. 

Comment:  Simplified for clarity sake. 

 

         

 

                      

         

   

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

70



59 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Sec. 6-2. Animal neglect. 
A person who impounds or confines, in any place, a domestic animal or fowl, or 
an animal or fowl subject to Iowa Code § 109.60, or dog or cat, and fails to supply 
the animal during confinement with a sufficient quantity of food and water, or 
who fails to provide a dog or cat with adequate shelter, or who tortures, 
torments, deprives of necessary sustenance, mutilates, overdrives, overloads, 
drives when overloaded, beats or kills an animal by any means which cause 
unjustified pain, distress or suffering, whether intentionally or negligently, 
commits the offense of cruelty to animals. 
(a) A person who impounds or confines, in any place, an animal is guilty of animal 
neglect if the person 
does any of the following: 
(1) Fails to supply the animal during confinement with a sufficient quantity of 
food or water. 
(2) Fails to provide a confined dog or cat with adequate shelter. 
(3) Tortures, deprives of necessary sustenance, mutilates, beats, or kills an animal 
by any means which causes unjustified pain, distress, or suffering. 
(b) This section does not apply to a research facility, as defined in Iowa Code § 
162.2, provided that the research facility performs functions within the scope of 
accepted practices and disciplines associated with the research facility. 
(c) A person who negligently or intentionally commits the offense of animal 
neglect is guilty of a simple misdemeanor. 
(d) It shall be the duty of any police officer to seize and place in a proper animal 
shelter any animal cruelly treated as prohibited by this section. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

71



60 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Sec. 15-83. Prohibited noises generally. 
(a) Standards for determination of violation. It shall be unlawful for any person to 
permit, make, continue or cause any excessive or unusually loud noise or any 
noise which annoys, disturbs, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health, 
peace or safety of others reasonable people within the limits of the city. The 
standards which shall be considered in determining whether a violation exists 
shall include the following: 
(1) The sound pressure level of the noise. 
(2) Whether the origin of the noise is natural or manmade. 
(3) The sound pressure level of the background noise. 
(4) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities. 
(5) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates. 
(6) The time of the day or night the noise occurs. 
(7) Whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent or constant. 
(b) Enumeration of prohibited acts. Each of the following acts, among others, is 
hereby declared to be in violation of this article and is prohibited. The following 
enumerated acts shall not be construed as limiting or precluding enforcement of 
any other provisions of this article: 
(1) Unnecessary sounding of horns or signaling devices. The sounding of any horn 
or signaling device on any automobile, motorcycle, bus or other vehicle on any 
street or public place of the city, except as a danger or alerting signal, and the 
sounding of any such device for an unnecessary and unreasonable period of time. 
(2) Loud operation of radios, phonographs, etc. The using, operating or permitting 
to be placed, used or operated of any radio receiving set, musical instrument, 
phonograph or other machine or device for the producing or reproducing of 
sound in such manner as to disturb the peace, quiet and comfort of the 
neighboring inhabitants reasonable people. 
(3) Use of loudspeakers or amplifiers for advertising. The using, operating or 
permitting to be played, used or operated of any radio receiving set, musical 
instrument, phonograph, loudspeaker, sound amplifier or other machine or 
device for producing or reproducing of sound which is broadcast upon the public 
streets for the purpose of commercial advertising or attracting the attention of 
the public to any structure or event. 

72



61 
 

(4) Keeping noisy animals and fowl. The keeping, upon any premises owned, 
occupied or controlled by any person, of any animal or fowl otherwise permitted 
to be kept which, by any sound or cry, shall cause annoyance or discomfort to a 
reasonable person of normal sensibilities. 
(5) Operation of defective or improperly loaded vehicle. The use of any 
automobile, motorcycle or vehicle so out of repair or so loaded in such manner as 
to create loud and unnecessary grating, grinding, rattling or other noise. 
(6) Excessive noise in loading or unloading. The creation of a loud and excessive 
noise in connection with loading or unloading any vehicle or the opening and 
destruction of bales, boxes, crates and containers. 
(7) Creation of noise near schools, courts, churches or hospitals. The creation of 
loud and excessive noise on any street adjacent to any school, institution of 
learning, church or court while the school, institution, church or court is in use, or 
adjacent to any hospital, which unreasonably interferes with the workings of 
such institution or which disturbs or unduly annoys patients in the hospital. 
(8) Use of drums or other instruments to attract attention. The use of any drum or 
other instrument or device for the purpose of attracting attention by creation of 
noise to any performance, show, sale or event. This subsection shall not apply to a 
drum used in an authorized parade in the city. 
(9) Construction or repair of buildings, structures and streets during certain hours. 
The erection, including excavation, demolition, alteration or repair of any 
building, structure or street other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 
p.m., Monday through Saturday, except in case of urgent necessity in the interest 
of public health and safety, and then only with a permit from the director of 
developmental services community development or the director of public works 
municipal operations and programs or their authorized agent, which permit may 
be granted for a period not to exceed three days or less while the emergency 
continues, and which permit may be renewed for periods of three days or less 
while the emergency continues. If the director of developmental services 
community development or the director of public works municipal operations and 
programs or their authorized agent should determine that the public health and 
safety will not be impaired by the erection, demolition, alteration or repair of any 
building, or the excavation of streets and highways, within the hours of 10:01 
p.m. and 6:59 a.m., and if he shall further determine that loss or inconvenience 
would result to any interested party, he may grant permission for such work to be 
done within the hours of 10:01 p.m. and 6:59 a.m., upon application being 

73



62 
 

made at the time the permit for the work is awarded or during the progress of the 
work. This subsection will not apply to the performance of necessary emergency 
work. 
(10) Operation of pile drivers, hammers, etc., during certain hours. Except as 
provided in subsection (9) of this section, the operation between the hours of 
6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. of any piledriver, steamshovel, pneumatic hammer, 
derrick, power hoist or other construction equipment. Such equipment shall at all 
times be equipped with an effective muffling device. 
(11) Repairing vehicle during certain hours. The repair or rebuilding of any motor 
vehicle within any residential area of the city between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 
8:00 a.m. in such a manner that a reasonable person of normal sensitivities 
residing in the area is caused discomfort or annoyance. 
(12) Discharge of unmuffled exhaust. The discharge into the open air of the 
exhaust of any steam engine, internal combustion engine, motorboat or motor 
vehicle, or discharge of air or other gases, except through a muffler or other 
device which will effectively prevent loud or explosive noises therefrom. 
(13) Unlawful use of buildings. No person owning or in possession of or in control 
of any building or premises shall use the building or premises, permit the use of 
the building or premises or rent the building or premises to be used for any 
business or employment or residential use, or for any purpose of pleasure or 
recreation, if such use shall by the noise generated therefrom exceed the noise 
limitations provided in section 15-85. 
(14) Unnecessary use of engine brakes. The use of a Jacob brake or any other 
engine brake within the city limits, except as required for safety purposes. 
(15) Use of stationary machinery producing excessive noise. It shall be unlawful for 
any person to operate any immobile machinery, equipment, pump, fan or similar 
mechanical device in any manner so as to create any noise which would cause the 
noise level at any portion of the property line of any property to exceed the 
maximum noise levels in the use zones described in section 15-85(a), provided 
that this subsection shall not apply to temporarily placed equipment, which shall 
be subject to the levels outlined in section 15-81. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74



63 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Sec. 16-29. Theft defined. 
A person commits theft when the person does any of the following: 
(1) Takes possession or control of the property of another, or property in the 
possession of another, with the intent to deprive the other thereof. 
(2) Misappropriates property which the person has in trust, or property of 
another which the person has in the person's possession or control, whether such 
possession or control is lawful or unlawful, by using or disposing of it in a manner 
which is inconsistent with or a denial of the trust or of the owner's rights in such 
property, or conceals found property, or appropriates such property to the 
person's own use, when the owner of such property is known to the person. 
Failure by a bailee or lessee of personal property to return the property within 72 
hours after a time specified in a written agreement of lease or bailment shall be 
evidence of misappropriation. 
(3) Obtains the labor or services of another, or a transfer of possession, control, or 
ownership of the property of another, or the beneficial use of property of 
another, by deception. Where compensation for goods and services is ordinarily 
paid immediately upon the obtaining of such goods or the rendering of such 
services, the refusal to pay or leaving the premises without payment or offer to 
pay or without having obtained from the owner or operator the right to pay 
subsequent to leaving the premises gives rise to an inference that the goods or 
services were obtained by deception. 
(4) Exercises control over stolen property, knowing such property to have been 
stolen, or having reasonable cause to believe that such property has been stolen, 
unless the person's purpose is to promptly restore it to the owner or to deliver it 
to an appropriate public officer. The fact that the person is found in possession of 
property which has been stolen from two or more persons on separate occasions, 
or that the person is a dealer or other person familiar with the value of such 
property and has acquired it for a consideration which is far below its 
reasonable value, shall be evidence from which the court or jury may infer that 
the person knew or believed that the property had been stolen. 
(5) Takes, destroys, conceals or disposes of property in which someone else has a 
security interest, with intent to defraud the secured party. 
(6) Makes, utters, draws, delivers, or gives any check, share draft, draft, or written 
order on any bank, credit union, person, or corporation, and obtains property, the 
use of property, including rental property, or service in exchange for such 

75



64 
 

instrument, if the person knows that such check, share draft, draft, or written 
order will not be paid when presented. Whenever the drawee of such instrument 
has refused payment because of insufficient funds, and the maker has not paid 
the holder of the instrument the amount due thereon within ten days of the 
maker's receipt of notice from the holder that payment has been refused by the 
drawee, the court or jury may infer from such facts that the maker knew that the 
instrument would not be paid on presentation. Notice of refusal of payment shall 
be by certified mail, or by personal service in the manner prescribed for serving 
original notices. Whenever the drawee of such instrument has refused payment 
because the maker has no account with the drawee, the court or jury may infer 
from such fact that the maker knew that the instrument would not be paid on 
presentation. 
(7) Obtains gas, electricity or water from a public utility or obtains cable television 
or telephone service from an unauthorized connection to the supply or service 
line or by intentionally altering, adjusting, removing or tampering with the 
metering or service device so as to cause inaccurate readings. 
(8) Knowingly and without authorization accesses or causes to be accessed a 
computer, computer system, or computer network, or any part thereof, for the 
purpose of obtaining computer services, information, or property or knowingly 
and without authorization and with the intent to permanently deprive the owner 
of possession, takes, transfers, conceals, or retains possession of a computer, 
computer system, or computer network or any computer software or computer 
program, or computer data contained in a computer, computer system, or 
computer network. 
(9) a. Obtains the temporary use of video rental property with the intent to 
deprive the owner of the use and possession of the video rental property without 
the consent of the owner. 
b. Lawfully obtains the temporary use of video rental property and fails to return 
the video rental property by the agreed time with the intent to deprive the owner 
of the use and possession of the video rental property without 
the consent of the owner. The aggregate value of the video rental property 
involved shall be the original retail value of the video rental property. 
(10) Any act that is declared to be theft by any provision of the Iowa Code. 
A person commits theft when the person does any of the following: 
(1) Takes possession or control of the property of another, or property in the 
possession of another, with the intent to deprive the other thereof. 

76



65 
 

(2) Misappropriates property which the person has in trust, or property of 
another which the person has in the person's possession or control, whether such 
possession or control is lawful or unlawful, by using or disposing of it in a manner 
which is inconsistent with or a denial of the trust or of the owner's rights in 
such property, or conceals found property, or appropriates such property to the 
person's own use, when the owner of such property is known to the person. 
a. Failure by a bailee or lessee of personal property to return the property within 
72 hours after a time specified in a written agreement of lease or bailment shall 
be evidence of misappropriation. 
b. If a time is not specified in the written agreement of lease or bailment for the 
expiration or termination of the lease or bailment or for the return of the 
personal property, failure by a lessee or bailee to return the property within five 
days after proper notice to the lessee or bailee shall be evidence of 
misappropriation. For the purposes of this subsection, the term “proper notice” 
means a written notice of the expiration or termination of the lease or bailment 
agreement sent to the lessee or bailee by certified or restricted certified mail at 
the address of the lessee or bailee specified in the agreement. The notice shall be 
considered effective on the date of the mailing of the notice regardless of 
whether or not the lessee or bailee signs a receipt for the notice. 
(3) Obtains the labor or services of another, or a transfer of possession, control, or 
ownership of the property of another, or the beneficial use of property of 
another, by deception. Where compensation for goods and services is ordinarily 
paid immediately upon the obtaining of such goods or the rendering of such 
services, the refusal to pay or leaving the premises without payment or offer to 
pay or without having obtained from the owner or operator the right to pay 
subsequent to leaving the premises gives rise to an inference that the goods or 
services were obtained by deception. 
(4) Exercises control over stolen property, knowing such property to have been 
stolen, or having reasonable cause to believe that such property has been stolen, 
unless the person's purpose is to promptly restore it to the owner or to deliver it 
to an appropriate public officer. The fact that the person is found in possession 
of property which has been stolen from two or more persons on separate 
occasions, or that the person is a dealer or other person familiar with the value of 
such property and has acquired it for a consideration which is far below its 
reasonable value, shall be evidence from which the court or jury may infer that 
the person knew or believed that the property had been stolen. 

77



66 
 

(5) Takes, destroys, conceals or disposes of property in which someone else has a 
security interest, with intent to defraud the secured party. 
(6) Makes, utters, draws, delivers, or gives any check, share draft, draft, or written 
order on any bank, credit union, person, or corporation, and obtains property, the 
use of property, including rental property, or service in exchange for such 
instrument, if the person knows that such check, share draft, draft, or written 
order will not be paid when presented. 
a. Whenever the drawee of such instrument has refused payment because of 
insufficient funds, and the maker has not paid the holder of the instrument the 
amount due thereon within ten days of the maker's receipt of notice from the 
holder that payment has been refused by the drawee, the court or jury may infer 
from such facts that the maker knew that the instrument would not be paid on 
presentation. Notice of refusal of payment shall be by certified mail, or by 
personal service in the manner prescribed for serving original notices. 
b. Whenever the drawee of such instrument has refused payment because the 
maker has no account with the drawee, the court or jury may infer from such fact 
that the maker knew that the instrument would not be paid on presentation. 
(7) Obtains gas, electricity or water from a public utility or obtains cable television 
or telephone service from an unauthorized connection to the supply or service 
line or by intentionally altering, adjusting, removing or tampering with the 
metering or service device so as to cause inaccurate readings. 
(8) Knowingly and without authorization accesses or causes to be accessed a 
computer, computer system, or computer network, or any part thereof, for the 
purpose of obtaining computer services, information, or property or knowingly 
and without authorization and with the intent to permanently deprive the owner 
of possession, takes, transfers, conceals, or retains possession of a computer, 
computer system, or computer network or any computer software or computer 
program, or computer data contained in a computer, computer system, or 
computer network. 
a. Obtains the temporary use of video rental property or equipment rental 
property with the intent to deprive the owner of the use and possession of the 
video rental property or equipment rental property without the consent of the 
owner. 
b. Lawfully obtains the temporary use of video rental property or equipment 
rental property and fails to return the video rental property or equipment rental 
property by the agreed time with the intent to deprive the owner of the use and 
possession of the video rental property or equipment rental property without the 

78



67 
 

consent of the owner. The aggregate value of the video rental property or 
equipment rental property involved shall be the original retail value of the video 
rental property or equipment rental property. 
(9) Any act that is declared to be theft by any provision of state law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79



68 
 

EXHIBIT D 
 

Sec. 16-166. Prohibited. 
(a) Defined. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the 
context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
Drug paraphernalia means all equipment, products, or materials of any kind used 
or attempted to be used in combination with a controlled substance, except those 
items used in combination with the lawful use of a controlled substance, to 
knowingly or intentionally and primarily do any of the following: 
(1) Manufacture a controlled substance. 
(2) Inject, ingest, inhale, or otherwise introduce into the human body a controlled 
substance. 
(3) Test the strength, effectiveness, or purity of a controlled substance. 
(4) Enhance the effect of a controlled substance. 
The term "drug paraphernalia” does not include hypodermic needles or syringes if 
manufactured, delivered, sold, or possessed for a lawful purpose. 
(b) It is unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally manufacture, 
deliver, sell, or possess drug paraphernalia. 
(c) A person who violates this section commits a simple misdemeanor. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



69 
 

EXHIBIT E 
 

Sec. 22-138. Driving on right-hand side of street. 
The operator of a motor vehicle in the city shall at all times travel on the 
righthand side of the center of the street unless otherwise provided by law. 
(a) A vehicle shall be driven upon the right half of the roadway upon all roadways 
of sufficient width, except as follows: 
(1) When overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same 
direction under the rules governing such movement. 
(2) When an obstruction exists making it necessary to drive to the left of the 
center of the roadway, provided, any person so doing shall yield the right-of-way 
to all vehicles traveling in the proper direction upon the unobstructed portion of 
the roadway within such distance as to constitute an immediate hazard. 
(3) Upon a roadway divided into three marked lanes for traffic under the rules 
applicable thereon. 
(4) Upon a roadway restricted to one-way traffic. 
(b) Any vehicle proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and 
place and under the conditions then existing shall be driven in the right-hand lane 
then available for traffic upon all roadways, or as close as practicable to the right-
hand curb or edge of the roadway, except when overtaking and passing another 
vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when preparing for a left turn at an 
intersection, an alley, private roador driveway. 
(c) A vehicle shall not be driven upon any roadway having four or more lanes for 
moving traffic and providing for two-way movement of traffic, to the left of the 
centerline of the roadway, except when authorized by official traffic-control 
devices designating certain lanes to the left side of the center of the roadway for 
use by traffic not otherwise permitted to use such lanes, or except as permitted 
under subsection (a)(1) of this section. This subsection shall not be construed as 
prohibiting the crossing of the centerline in making a left turn into or from an 
alley, private road, or driveway. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



70 
 

EXHIBIT F 
 

Sec. 22-747. Traffic control signal legend. 
     For the purposes of this section, the term "stop at the official traffic control 
signal" means stopping at the first opportunity at either the clearly marked stop 
line or before entering the crosswalk or before entering the 
intersection. 
     Official traffic control signals consisting of colored lights or colored lighted 
arrows shall regulate vehicle and pedestrian traffic in the following manner: 
     Steady circular red light. A steady circular red light means vehicular traffic shall 
stop. Vehicular traffic shall remain standing until a signal to proceed is shown, or 
vehicular traffic, unless prohibited by a sign, may cautiously enter the intersection 
to make a right turn from the right lane of traffic or a left turn from a one-way 
street to a one-way street from the left lane of traffic on a one-way street onto 
the leftmost lane of traffic on a one-way street. Turns made under this subsection 
shall be made in a manner that does not interfere with other vehicular or 
pedestrian traffic lawfully using the intersection. Pedestrian traffic facing a steady 
circular red light shall not enter the roadway unless the pedestrian can safely 
cross the roadway without interfering with any vehicular traffic. 
     Steady circular yellow or steady yellow arrow light. A steady circular yellow or a 
steady yellow arrow light means vehicular traffic is warned that the related green 
movement is being terminated and vehicular traffic shall no longer proceed into 
the intersection and shall stop. If the stop cannot be made in safety, a vehicle may 
be driven cautiously through the intersection. Pedestrian traffic is warned that 
there is insufficient time to cross the intersection, and any pedestrian starting to 
cross the roadway shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles. 
     Steady circular green light. A steady circular green light means vehicular traffic 
may proceed straight, turn right or turn left through the intersection unless 
otherwise specifically prohibited. Vehicular traffic shall yield the right-of-way to 
other vehicular and pedestrian traffic lawfully within the intersection. 
     Steady green arrow light. A steady green arrow light shown alone or with 
another official traffic control signal means vehicular traffic may cautiously enter 
the intersection and proceed in the direction indicated by the arrow. Vehicular 
traffic shall yield the right-of-way to other vehicles and pedestrians lawfully 
within the intersection. 
     Flashing circular red light. A flashing circular red light means vehicular traffic 
shall stop and after stopping may proceed cautiously through the intersection, 

82



71 
 

yielding to all vehicles not required to stop or yield which are within the 
intersection or approaching so closely as to constitute a hazard, but then may 
proceed. 
     Flashing yellow light. A flashing yellow light means vehicular traffic shall 
proceed through the intersection or past such signal with caution. 
     "Don't walk" light. A "don't walk" light is a pedestrian signal which means that 
pedestrian traffic facing the illuminated pedestrian signal shall not start to cross 
the roadway in the direction of the pedestrian signal, and pedestrian traffic in the 
crossing shall proceed to a safety zone. 
     "Walk" light. A "walk" light is a pedestrian signal which means that pedestrian 
traffic facing the illuminated pedestrian signal may proceed to cross the roadway 
in the direction of the pedestrian signal and shall be given the right-of-way by 
drivers of all vehicles. 
(a) For the purposes of this section, the term “stop at the official traffic-control 
signal” means stopping at the first opportunity at either the clearly marked stop 
line or before entering the crosswalk or before entering the intersection. 
(b) Official traffic-control signals consisting of colored lights or colored lighted 
arrows shall regulate vehicle and pedestrian traffic in the following manner: 
(1) A “steady circular red” light means vehicular traffic shall stop. Vehicular traffic 
shall remain standing until a signal to proceed is shown or vehicular traffic, unless 
prohibited by a sign, may cautiously enter the intersection to make a right turn 
from the right lane of traffic or another lane designated for right turns, or a left 
turn from a one-way street to a one-way street from the left lane of traffic or 
another lane designated for left turns. Turns made under this subsection shall be 
made in a manner that does not interfere with other vehicular or pedestrian 
traffic lawfully using the intersection. Pedestrian traffic facing a steady circular 
red light shall not enter the roadway unless the pedestrian can safely cross the 
roadway without interfering with any vehicular traffic. 
(2) A “steady circular yellow” or “steady yellow arrow” light means vehicular 
traffic is warned that the related green movement is being terminated and 
vehicular traffic shall no longer proceed into the intersection and shall stop. If the 
stop cannot be made in safety, a vehicle may be driven cautiously through the 
intersection. Pedestrian traffic is warned that there is insufficient time to cross 
the intersection and any pedestrian starting to cross the roadway shall yield the 
right-of-way to all vehicles. 
(3) A “steady circular green” light means vehicular traffic may proceed straight, 
turn right or turn left through the intersection unless otherwise specifically 

83



72 
 

prohibited. Vehicular traffic shall yield the right-of-way to other vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic lawfully within the intersection. 
(4) A “steady green arrow” light shown alone or with another official traffic-
control signal means vehicular traffic may cautiously enter the intersection and 
proceed in the direction indicated by the arrow. Vehicular traffic shall yield the 
right-of-way to other vehicles and pedestrians lawfully within the intersection. 
(5) A “flashing circular red” light means vehicular traffic shall stop and after 
stopping may proceed cautiously through the intersection yielding to all vehicles 
not required to stop or yield which are within the intersection or approaching so 
closely as to constitute a hazard, but then may proceed. 
(6) A “flashing yellow” light means vehicular traffic shall proceed through the 
intersection or past such signal with caution. 
(7) A “flashing yellow arrow” light shown alone or with another official traffic-
control signal means vehicular traffic may cautiously enter the intersection and 
proceed only in the direction indicated by the arrow. Vehicular traffic shall yield 
the right-of-way to other vehicles and pedestrians lawfully within the intersection 
and any vehicle on the opposing approach which is approaching so closely as to 
constitute an immediate hazard during the time the driver is moving within the 
intersection. 
(8) A “don't walk” or “steady upraised hand” light is a pedestrian signal which 
means that pedestrian traffic facing the illuminated pedestrian signal shall not 
start to cross the roadway in the direction of the pedestrian signal, and pedestrian 
traffic in the crossing shall proceed to a safety zone. 
(9) A “flashing upraised hand” or “upraised hand with countdown” light is a 
pedestrian signal which means that pedestrian traffic facing the illuminated 
pedestrian signal shall not start to cross the roadway in the direction of the 
pedestrian signal, and pedestrian traffic in the crossing shall proceed to a safety 
zone. 
The “upraised hand with countdown” light is a pedestrian signal that also 
provides the time remaining for the pedestrian to complete the crossing. 
(10) A “walk” or “walking person” light is a pedestrian signal which means that 
pedestrian traffic facing the illuminated pedestrian signal may proceed to cross 
the roadway in the direction of the pedestrian signal and shall be given the right-
of-way by drivers of all vehicles. 
 

 
 

84



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Land Use Map Amendment 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Land Use Map Amendment from Greenways and Floodplain to Planned 
Development and Greenways/Floodplain (Case #LU19-001) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

NewAldaya Lifescapes, Fehr Graham Engineering 

LOCATION: 
 

42.35 acre parcel at the southeast corner of W. 12th Street and Union Road 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
Land use map amendment from Greenways/Floodplain to Planned Development and 
Greenways/Floodplain on 42.3 acres of land at the southeast corner of W. 12th Street and Union 
Road. The land use map amendment and rezoning will allow development of a NewAldaya 
Lifescapes campus that includes one and two unit dwellings and multi-unit dwellings for a 55 
and over clientele. NewAldaya is planning to purchase this property from the current owner for 
the proposed development. Zoning considerations normally involve evaluation of three main 
criteria: 
 

1. Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the Comprehensive 
Plan? 

2. Is the property readily accessible to sanitary sewer service?  
3. Does the property have adequate roadway access? 

 
This staff report will focus on the first criteria, an amendment to the Future Land Use Map, which 
is part of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
This property has been zoned as agricultural since adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1970. 
The land use designation is identified as Greenways/Floodplain. This designation was changed 
from agricultural/residential in the spring of 2012 as a part of the newly adopted Cedar Falls 
Comprehensive Plan. At that time, the majority of the property was located in the special flood 

85



hazard area (SFHA) or general floodplain and the greenway designation shown on the future 
land use map was intended to reflect the extent of the flood hazard area including a greenway 
buffer. This buffer serves an important function for natural stormwater drainage and mitigates 
flood risk. There were no changes from the flood map of 1985 to the flood map of 2011. The 
flood profiles did not match the actual ground elevation. In the spring of 2014, the flood map was 
amended through the upper reach of the University Branch of Dry Run Creek. The changes in 
2014 included better elevation data applied to the flood profile that reduced the area/width of the 
floodplain. The 2019 preliminary flood maps are refined even more with better horizontal and 
vertical data to match the flood profile. The flood hazard area on the subject property was 
significantly reduced, providing a larger area that is now developable. However, the Future Land 
Use Map was not amended at the time to reflect this reduction of the special flood hazard area.  
 
ANALYSIS 
As stated in the Comprehensive Plan, land use is the central element of the Plan because it 
establishes the overall physical configuration of the city, including the mix and location of uses 
and community systems (utilities).  
 
This 42-acre property is surrounded by residential development on the west, north and 
northeast. There is a single lot development to the south and the Robinson Dresser athletic 
complex to the east.  
 
The land use analysis is the first step in the rezoning process. Before the property can be 
rezoned to allow residential development, the Future Land Use Map must be amended from 
“Greenways/Floodplain” to a combination of “Planned Development” and 
“Greenways/Floodplain” that will more closely distinguish the actual floodplain area from the 
developable portion of the property.  
 
The greenways/floodplain category is identified in the Comprehensive Plan for traditional parks, 
recreational areas and environmentally sensitive areas to be possibly incorporated into the city’s 
trail system. These areas are also reserved for stormwater management. A drainageway flows 
through the middle of the site in a northwesterly to southeasterly direction. The floodplain 
boundary buffers this drainageway but only encompasses a portion of the entire land area, 
which is approximately 13 acres. There is a considerable portion of the property that is 
developable.  

 

 

Current Land Use Map with Categories 

86



The land use amendment corresponds to the proposed rezoning from A-1, agriculture to RP, 
planned residential. The concept development plan for this property includes the preservation of 
the floodplain, creating open space, trails, sidewalks and stormwater management areas for the 
neighborhood. One important feature of the stormwater management plan is to account for the 
stormwater that is received into this site from surrounding developments to the west and north. 
That stormwater, coupled with the stormwater generated on the site will be studied in order to 
create a stormwater master plan that identifies storm sewers and detention basins throughout 
the site to retain and release the stormwater into the existing drainageway. Additional elements 
to this development include trails and sidewalks within and adjacent to the development. A city 
park is not planned for this property. There are other nearby parks surrounding this property 
including the Robinson Dresser Sports Complex, Pheasant Ridge Golf Course and Birdsall 
Park. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It seems appropriate to amend the future land use map to allow reasonable development of the 
property while still preserving and protecting the floodplain. The proposed amendment would 
maintain the location of the current greenway/floodplain and add the designation of “Planned 
Development” to the rest of the property   
 
A notice was mailed to the adjoining property owners on March 12, 2019 regarding this request.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the land use map 
amendment from greenway/floodplain to planned development and greenway/floodplain subject 
to the following conditions: 
 

1. Conformance with all City staff recommendations. 
2. Comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
2/13/19 

Chair Oberle introduced the land use request for the property at the southeast 
corner of W. 12th Street and Union Road. Mr. Sturch provided some 
background information. He summarized the future land use for this site and 

 

U
n
io

n
 R

d

Proposed Land Use Map with Categories 

87



provided a brief background of the floodplain and greenways designation. 
Staff recommends a land use map amendment to planned development while 
maintaining the existing floodplain through the middle of the site. 
 
There were no comments by the applicant and Chair Oberle asked the 
audience for comments on the land use amendment. Mr. Jim Campbell of 
3207 Waterbury Drive and Mrs. Carmen Manson of 3108 Waterbury Drive told 
the commission their concerns about storm water run-off from the farmland 
that is upstream from their homes. They want to make sure that the storm 
water and flooding is addressed for this and future development surrounding 
the Lexington Heights subdivision. 
 
There were no other comments and the Commission had some questions. Mr. 
Holst had some questions on the proposed land use and density of the 
development and Mr. Hartley asked about the stormwater control and 
detention requirements. Mr. Sturch summarized the proposed density of the 
development and land use change. He also stated that the storm water 
requirements will be reviewed as part of the preliminary plat. There were no 
other questions and Chair Oberle informed the Commission and public that a 
public hearing for the land use amendment will be scheduled at the next 
Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on February 27, 2019. 
 

Vote 
2/27/19 

The first item of business was a public hearing regarding a land use map 
amendment for the southeast corner of Union Road and West 12th Street. 
Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Sturch provided background 
information. He explained that the property is 42.3 acres and it is proposed to 
amend the land use map to include Planned Development. Staff recommends 
approval to amend the future land use map from Greenways/Floodplain to 
Greenways/Floodplain and Planned Development. Chair Holst explained that 
the public hearing process. 
 
Lisa Nelson, president of the Board of NewAldaya Landscapes, discussed the 
proposed neighborhood at Terraces at West Glen that will provide an active, 
healthy environment for its tenants. 
 
Some nearby residents addressed the Commission. Mr. Mark Sigwarth, 1028 
Cherrywood Drive, stated his concerns about the future traffic, design of the 
proposed three story building and storm water management. Mr. Bruce 
Adkins, 4201 Newland Drive, spoke about the runoff issues in his 
neighborhood and the proposed multi-unit buildings. 
 
Mr. Sturch provided more background information regarding the preliminary 
FEMA maps. The Commission members had some questions. Mr. Larson 
asked about the current flood map. Mr. Hartley asked why the flood area has 
been reduced. Jon Biederman of Fehr Graham responded to the question on 
the FEMA maps. Mr. Holst asked about the previous land use map. Mr. 
Leeper noted his concern with the water issues. There were no other 
questions, and the Commission made a recommendation to City Council to 
approve the Land Use Map amendment. 

 
88



University of
Northern Iowa

Pheasant
Ridge Golf

Course

Walters
Ridge Golf

Course

Roger Birdsall
Memorial Park

Concord Cir

W Sunshine Ln

W 18th St

Beaver Rd

Quail Ridge Rd

Sk
yli

ne
 D

r

Po
ss

um
 R

d

Birdsall Dr

Wild Horse Dr

Co
lum

bin
eD

r

High St

Cherrywood Dr

Sonoma Dr

Barnett Dr

Cobblestone Ct

Quail Hollow LnWaterbury Dr

Autumn Ridge Rd

Quail Run Ln

Covey Ct

Ro

cky Ridg eR d
Le

xin
gto

n D
r

Blair Ridg
e Rd

Jakob Cir

FeatherRunTrl

AlexisBlvd

Granite Ridge Rd

Frontier Rd

Pendleton Dr

Newland Dr

Fandre Dr

Ryan Dr

Firesi de D r

Prairie Rd

W 12th St

Harvest Ln

Bir
dsa

ll P

ark
Dr

Abraham Dr

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

W 27th St

Future Land Use Map Amendment:
Greenways and Floodplain to Planned
Development and Greenways and FloodplainW Viking

Industrial
Park

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Greenhill Rd

W 18th St

Center St

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Viking Rd

Un
ion

 R
d

Wa
ve

rly
 Rd

E 1st St

W 27th St

NUnion Rd

University Ave

Hu
ds

on
Rd

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27

£¤218
Location

Map

Cedar Falls City CouncilMarch 18, 2019

±
89



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  

 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP BY 

CHANGING THE DESIGNATION FROM GREENWAYS AND 

FLOODPLAIN TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AND GREENWAYS AND 

FLOODPLAIN  

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that all that area 

described following shall be removed from the Greenways and Floodplain and placed in the 

Planned Development and Greenways and Floodplain designation on the attached Future Land 

Use Map, to wit. 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 

14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET 

ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY 

EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR 

PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION; 

THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST 

EXTENSION LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 

FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 TO THE NORTHWEST 

CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 00°09'12" 

EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" 

EAST, 410.89 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 FEET, ALL ALONG THE 

EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" WEST, 

90



1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID 

MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 1,252.41 FEET ALONG 

THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID 

MINOR PLAT TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 

00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

 AND WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and 

such hearing held on the proposed amendment. 

  

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

that the Future Land Use Map is hereby amended to change the designation found on the City 

Schematic Land Use Map from Greenways and Floodplain to Planned Development and 

Greenways and Floodplain. 

 

ADOPTED this 18
th

 day of March, 2019. 

 

              

                                                                            James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

91



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from A-1, Agricultural to R-P, Planned Residence District 
(Case #RZ19-001) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

NewAldaya Lifescapes, Fehr Graham Engineering 

LOCATION: 
 

42.35 acre parcel at the southeast corner of W. 12th Street and Union Road 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The petitioner has submitted a request to rezone 42.3 acres of land at the southeast corner of 
W. 12th Street and Union Road from A-1, Agricultural to R-P, Planned Residential. The rezoning 
will allow development of a NewAldaya Lifescapes campus that includes one and two unit 
dwellings and multi-unit dwellings for a 55 and over clientele. 
 
The R-P district is guided by a development concept plan that the applicant submitted as part of 
this request. The development concept shows the general location of the streets, buildings, 
building lines, common areas, future floodplain and the storm water management areas. It is 
important to show the location of the streets and their extensions in order to create connections 
to other nearby existing and future neighborhoods. All the streets identified in the concept plan, 
except for the private drive for the multi-unit building at the northwest corner of the property, will 
be dedicated to the public and constructed according to city specifications. This plan will serve 
as a guide for the development of the preliminary and final plat that will be submitted at a later 
date. 
 
The concept plan illustrates 69 one- and two-unit dwellings and two large multi-unit dwellings; 
one building with 40 to 50 units is located at the corner of W. 12th Street and Union Road and 
the second building with 20 to 25 units is located near the southwest corner of the site. It is 
proposed to establish 129 to 144 units on the 42 acres of land for a residential density of 3.07 to 
3.42 units per acre. It should be noted that this is only a concept plan and the number of units is 
not guaranteed. The exact number of units will be determined during the platting and site plan 

92



review process. All units will need to meet zoning and subdivision requirements, including 
stormwater management and floodplain regulations. At this residential density the development 
would be considered a low density residential development. The units will be clustered into 
some larger buildings in order to reserve more of the site as greenspace and to buffer the 
floodplain that extends through the property.  
 
BACKGROUND 
This property has been zoned as agricultural since adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1970. 
The land is surrounded by residential zoning on the west (across Union Road), north (across W. 
12th Street) and northeast side of the property. The current owner is interested in selling this 
land to NewAldaya Lifescapes for a new 55 and over housing development. 
 
The rezoning of this property must be carefully considered by evaluating the characteristics of 
the land and surrounding properties. This staff report will outline a number of these elements in 
order to have a firm understanding of the future use of this property. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The purpose of the A-1, agricultural zoning district is to act as a “holding zone” for future 
development when municipal services (sanitary sewer, water, roads) are accessible to the site.  
When these services are available, the development of the land is threefold, beginning with the 
rezoning of the land, platting and construction. 
 
This 42-acre property is surrounded by residential development on the west, north and 
northeast. There is a single lot development to the south and the Robinson Dresser athletic 
complex to the east. This property is bisected with the western reach of the University branch of 
Dry Run Creek. A portion of the property is located in the 100-year floodplain which will need to 
be revised as part of the platting process. With the exception of the floodplain, there are no 
other sensitive areas within this rezoning plat. 
 
Zoning considerations normally involve evaluation of three main criteria: 
 

1) Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the Comprehensive 
Plan? 
The current land use map is designated as greenways/floodplain. The proposed 
amendment will reduce the greenways/floodplain area and classify the remaining portion of 
the property to planned development. If the City Council agrees to the future land use map 
amendment, as described in a separate staff report under Case # LU19-001, the proposed 
rezoning of this property can continue. 
 
As part of the platting process, a stormwater management system will be designed to 
accept the stormwater runoff from the west and north. The stormwater will be directed 
toward multiple detention basins on the site and released at a controlled rate into the 
floodplain. The stormwater management system must be designed so that it will not 
adversely affect the current and future residents surrounding and within this development. 
Details of the stormwater management plan will be reviewed during the platting process to 
ensure that it meets all Code requirements.  

 
2) Is the property readily accessible to sanitary sewer service?  

Yes, sanitary sewer is readily available to the site. This sewer is located through the middle 
of the property within the aforementioned floodplain and drainageway. This sanitary sewer 

93



is located in the Cherrywood Interceptor Sewer District which includes a sewer tapping fee 
as part of the development. The sewer tapping fee is $294.63 per acre of development. 
This fee is paid by the developer at the time of final platting.   
 

3) Does the property have adequate roadway access?  
The property currently has access from W. 12th Street and Union Road. The development 
concept plan shows two public street connections onto Union Road and one public street 
connection onto W. 12th Street. The two street connections onto Union Road are 
approximately 449’ and 852’ feet, respectively, south of W. 12th Street. The southern street 
connection onto Union Road is directly across from Sonoma Drive. The W. 12th Street 
connection is approximately 750’ feet east of Union Road and it is directly across from 
Alexis Boulevard. The development concept plan also shows a street stub to the south and 
a street stub to the east. These street connections will be important for general traffic 
circulation and connections between neighborhoods and future neighborhoods. For 
example, while there may be no development planned for the existing large single family 
properties to the south, at some point in the future there may be a desire to further 
subdivide those lots. Without a planned street connection to this area, future infill 
development would not be possible. Staff notes that during the preliminary platting of the 
subject property, care should be taken to locate these street connections so they can be 
extended in a logical manner to adjacent properties and avoid conflicting with existing 
development. For example, the street connection to the south should be located to avoid 
extending too close to the existing home to the south. Angling this future roadway to the 
east to potentially parallel the creek may be an appropriate option. 
 
The annual average daily traffic for this section of Union Road is approximately 3,000 
vehicles per day. A rural two-lane roadway typically handles capacities up to 1,700 
vehicles per hour during peak times. As developments move forward, City staff will 
continue to monitor traffic volumes along Union Road and when warranted, make 
improvements to Union Road as necessary. 
   

A preliminary Developmental Procedures Agreement has been submitted for this rezoning 
request. The agreement describes the development details such as subdivision plats, 
description of proposed uses, maximum residential densities and agreement to submit all multi-
unit developments for further site plan review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 
Council. The Development Agreement should be viewed as the narrative version of the graphic 
site plan. The agreement should also note that sanitary sewer and other utility connections will 
be extended to the site and that any sewer or water tapping fees will be paid at the time of 
platting and installation. The sewer service serving this area is subject to the Cherrywood 
Interceptor Sewer District tapping fee of $294.63 per acre which was established by the City 
Council several years ago. 
 
As part of the technical review of this proposal, Cedar Falls Utilities personnel, have no 
concerns with the proposed rezoning request. Water, electric, gas, and communication utilities 
are all available to this site from W. 12th Street and from Union Road per the service policy of 
each utility. There is a water connection fee of $55,833.14 for this property based on the street 
lineal footage of W. 12th Street and Union Road. This connection fee is part of the cost of the 
original water main installations on W. 12th Street and on Union Road. All utility services will be 
extended into this property as part of the platting process. 
 
 

94



A notice was mailed to the adjoining property owners on March 12, 2019 regarding this rezoning 
request.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the request to rezone this 
property from A-1 Agricultural District to R-P Planned Residential subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. Conformance with all City staff recommendations. 
2. Comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
3. Execution of the Developmental Agreement for the project. 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
1/23/19 

Chair Oberle introduced the land use and rezoning request. Mr. Sturch 
provided some background information. He explained that there is a request to 
rezone property 42.3 acres at the southeast corner of W. 12th Street and Union 
Road from A-1, Agriculture to RP, Planned Residential. It is proposed to build 
a 55 plus residential community for the NewAldaya campus with multi-unit 
dwellings. He discussed the concept plan for the development and the land 
use map amendment. Staff would like to discuss the item at this time and 
continue the discussion to the next meeting. 
 
There were several neighbors in the audience that addressed the 
Commission. They expressed concerns with the existing floodplain boundary, 
stormwater management, runoff from the surrounding developments and golf 
course, traffic issues and proposed multi-unit structures. 
 
Mr. Wingert noted that he will be abstaining from this item. The Commission 
had some questions on the watershed and floodplain. The developer’s 
engineer stated that they will review the floodplain and stormwater concerns 
with the platting phase. Their plan is to design the subdivision to 
accommodate the floodplain and stormwater concerns. The Commission also 
discussed the future roadway improvements because this area will change 
with additional development in western Cedar Falls. Staff will look into these 
concerns and set up a meeting with the developer and neighborhood before 
the next Commission meeting. 
 

Discussion 
2-13-19 

Chair Oberle introduced the rezoning request for the property at the southeast 
corner of W. 12th Street and Union Road. Planner David Sturch provided some 
background information. He summarized the zoning criteria including future 
land use, sanitary service to the site and roadway access to the site. He 
discussed the concept plan for the proposed NewAldaya Lifescapes 
development.  
 
Chair Oberle asked the applicant for comments. Mrs. Millisa Tierney of 
NewAldaya addressed the Commission and spoke about the proposed 
development. There were no comments from the audience and the 
Commission had some questions. Mr. Hartley asked about the water retention 
requirements for this development. Planning and Community Services 
Manager Karen Howard explained the storm water detention requirements for 

95



this site. Mr. Holst asked about the timing of the development. Mr. Sturch 
indicated that the applicant intends to move this into the preliminary platting 
phase if the rezoning and land use is approved. Mrs. Saul believes that the 
zoning compliments the proposed development for NewAldaya. There were no 
other questions and Chair Oberle informed the Commission and public that a 
public hearing for the rezoning will be scheduled at the next Planning and 
Zoning Commission meeting on February 27, 2019. 
 

Vote 
2/27/19 

Chair Holst introduced the public hearing regarding a rezoning request from A-
1 to RP at the southeast corner of Union Road and West 12th Street. Mr. 
Sturch provided background information. He explained that staff looks at 
certain criteria when considering a rezoning, including: consistency with the 
Future Land Use Map and Comprehensive Plan, accessibility to sanitary 
sewer service and adequate roadway access. He discussed each item and 
noted that all criteria have all been met. He also discussed other factors and 
potential projects that will be proposed. 
 
Mr. Sturch displayed a rendering of the development concept plan and 
discussed each element. Staff recommends approval of the rezoning subject 
to the following conditions: conformance with all City staff recommendations, 
comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission and the execution of the 
RP Developmental Agreement. 
 
There were no public comments and the Commission had some questions. 
Mr. Hartley and Ms. Giarusso asked about the stormwater and runoff issues 
associated with this and surrounding development. Ms. Howard summarized 
the city ordinance standards for stormwater development. This project will be 
going from an uncontrolled farm field to a controlled stormwater management 
plan with basins to hold the water and release it at a controlled rate. Mr. 
Leeper feels that this area contains major arterials and that a zoning change is 
appropriate, but would also encourage developers to listen closely to and 
consider public concerns. There were no other questions, and the Commission 
made a recommendation to the City Council to approve the rezoning request. 
 

 

96



Robinson-Dresser
Sports

Complex

Pheasant
Ridge Golf

Course Walters
Ridge Golf

Course

Concord Cir

W Sunshine Ln

Beaver Rd

Sk
yli

ne
 D

r

Po
ss

um
 R

d

Wild Horse Dr

Co
lum

bin
eD

r

High St

CherrywoodDr

Sonoma Dr
Cobblestone Ct

Stratford Ct

Waterbury Dr

Rocky RidgeR d

Le
xin

gto
n D

r

Jakob CirBlai r R
idg

e Rd

Qu
ail

Ri d
ge

Rd

AlexisBlvd

Wellington Dr
Granite Ridge Rd

Frontier Rd

Pendleton Dr

Normandy Dr

Newland Dr

Prairie Rd

W 12th St

Bir
dsa

ll Park
Dr

W 12th St
Un

ion
 R

d

W 27th St

R-1

R-1

R-1

RP

C-2

R-4

RP

P

R-2

A-1

A-1

Rezoning request from A-1 to R-P
W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce
da

rH
eig

hts

Dr

Pra irie Pkwy

WRidgeway Ave

University Ave

Waterloo Rd

Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

Vikin

gRd

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

CenterS t

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

Location
Map

Cedar Falls City Council
March 18, 2019

97



12TH STREET
 U

N
IO

N
 R

O
AD

SONOMA DRIVE

ALEXIS BLVD

Ó 

ENGINEERING & ENVIRONMENTAL

OWNER'S LISTING MAP
FOR

REZONING REQUEST
"A-1" TO "R-P"

PART OF LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S
MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE

NW1/4 OF SECTION
15-T89N-R14W

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS,
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

98



� 

THE TERRACES AT WEST GLEN
DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT

99



 

 

 
R-P PLANNED RESIDENCE ZONING DISTRICT 

DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES AGREEMENT 
 
This agreement is made and entered into this day   of     , 2019, by and 

between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called “City” and Newaldaya 

LIfescapes, hereinafter called “NewAldaya”, for the purpose of outlining procedures to be 

followed for the development of certain land located near Union Road and West 12th 

Street containing approximately 42.345 acres, being owned currently by Money Pit LLC 

and proposed for purchase by NewAldaya, which is now the subject of a rezoning 

proceeding with the City, said land legally described as follows:  

 
A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH 
P.M., BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 
  
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 
 
THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST 
LINE OF LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SAID SECTION; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST EXTENSION LINE 
TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING;  
 
THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT;  
 
THENCE SOUTH 00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET;  
 
THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; 
 
THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF 
SAID LOT 2; 
 
THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS 
SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT; 
 
THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS 
SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2;    
 
THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING;      
 
CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD.      

100



 

 

 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of NewAldaya to develop this land as an addition to the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa, amending part of the R-P, Planned Residence Zoning District;  
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City of Cedar Falls to ensure that said development  
proceeds in an orderly manner.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the 
City and NewAldaya agree as follows:  
 

1. The subject property will be developed in several phases of age 55+ dwelling 
units and associated infrastructure. Preliminarily, the phasing is contemplated as 
a first phase which will consist of infrastructure and single and two-family 
dwelling units on the southwest portion of the property. The second phase will 
consist of infrastructure, single and two-family dwelling units on the east side of 
the property. The third, fourth, and fifth phases will be single, two-family, 2-story 
(20 -25 unit) and a 3-story (42-48 unit) building. This phasing concept is 
preliminary and will be driven by demand. Final phasing will be reviewed with 
City of Cedar Falls prior to construction. 

 
2. The City agrees to allow a subdivision of this parcel for the purpose of creating a 

retirement community by NewAldaya. A preliminary plat and final plat in 
accordance with current City of Cedar Falls city code will be prepared for review 
by the City and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission and City 
Council. 

 
3. NewAldaya agrees to construct any necessary public roads, including paving, 

drainage, and water and sewage improvements for this development. All public 
streets will be a 31-foot wide back of curb to back of curb roadway constructed 
to the City of Cedar Falls specifications.  

 
4. NewAldaya agrees to construct at minimum a 5’ wide public sidewalk on each 

side of any new public street in accordance with City subdivision and 
engineering regulations. NewAldaya further agrees to construct a 5’ wide public 
sidewalk along the south side of W. 12th Street and participate in the 
construction of the proposed 10’ recreational trail along Union Road. This 
recreational trail cost share includes paying for one-half of the width of the trail 
along the entire length of the property described above.  

 
5. NewAldaya agrees to follow the current floodplain management regulations of 

the City of Cedar Falls. The current floodplain boundary must be modified prior 
to the final platting of lots for development. This includes obtaining a LOMA 
(Letter of Map Amendment) from FEMA and a no-rise certification for the 
construction of the street crossing over the designated SFHA (Special Flood 
Hazard Area). All drainageways and stormwater detention areas shall be 
identified on the concept development plan. 

 
6. A site plan for the two multi-story buildings will be individually approved by the 

Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council prior to any building 
construction. Multi-story buildings are contemplated as partial pitched and flat 

101



 

 

roof structures with a mix of masonry and other exterior facade elements to be 
determined. Multi-story buildings shall be designed to complement the height, 
scale and architectural features of the surrounding structures. The one and two-
unit dwellings are contemplated as pitched, shingled roof units with a mix of 
masonry and other conventional siding materials. An individual site plan for the 
one and two unit dwellings are not reviewed by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council.  

 
7. NewAldaya agrees to provide a landscaping plan in according with the R-P, 

Planned Residential Zoning District standards. These plans will be approved by 
the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council prior to any building 
construction.  

 
8. Signage on the buildings and grounds will be in accordance with the applicable 

zoning regulations at the time of development.  
 
9. The City agrees with the traffic impact analysis prepared for this development 

and submitted at the time of rezoning. 
 
10. NewAldaya agrees to dedicate 17 feet of land across the northern boundary 

along W. 12th Street at the for future roadway improvements. This land 
dedication will be included in the platting phase of this development.  

 
11. Storm water runoff will be captured on-site and directed to new detention basins 

either directly or by an adequately sized storm sewer system. NewAldaya will 
maintain all necessary easements to comply with state and local code.  

 

12. The sewer service serving this area is subject to the Cherrywood Interceptor 
Sewer District tapping fee of $294.63 per acre which was established by the City 
of Cedar Falls on September 13, 1999, Ordinance #2276. 

 

13. As part of the cost of the original water main installations on W. 12th Street and 
Union Road, there is a water connection fee of $55,833.14 for this property. This 
connection fee is based on the street lineal footage along W. 12th Street and 
Union Road. 

 

14. The foregoing conditions shall be binding upon NewAldaya, its successors and 
assigns and shall apply to the above described real estate and shall run with the 
land. 

 
Newaldaya Lifescapes     City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  
 
 
By: ________________________   By: _________________________  
  

102



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: David Sturch, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 29-107,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE (29) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

COTY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 29-107 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE TO THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS 

ORDINANCE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Cedar 

Falls and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that 

all that area described as follows shall be removed from the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District and 

placed in the RP Planned Residence Zoning District, as follows: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE 

NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST 

LINE OF LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG 

SAID WEST EXTENSION LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG 

THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID 

MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 

89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF 

103



SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 

01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID 

MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH 

LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; 

THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

And 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE 

NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST 

LINE OF LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SAID SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG 

SAID WEST EXTENSION LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND 

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG 

THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID 

MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 

89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF 

104



SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 

01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST 

QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID 

MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH 

LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; 

THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and added to the RP 

Planned Residence District. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the RP 

Planned Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby 

re-enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 

include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCED: __________________________________________ 

 

PASSED 1
ST

 CONSIDERATION: ____________________________ 

 

PASSED 2
ND

 CONSIDERATION: ____________________________ 

 

PASSED 3
RD

 CONSIDERATON: ____________________________ 

 

ADOPTED: ______________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

                                                                          James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

105



Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

106



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Buckeye Corrugated, Inc.-Hawkeye Division                                              
  Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 

Background 

 
If you recall, on September 5, 2017, City Council approved an Agreement for Private 
Development between the City of Cedar Falls and Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. for the 
construction of a new 171,000 square foot industrial warehouse and production facility 
in the West Viking Road Industrial Park (2900 Capital Way). In return for constructing 
the building and adding taxable value, the City donated 16.16 acres of land, and agreed 
to provide a 5 year tax abatement for the property after the project was complete.  
 
After construction commenced on the project in 2018, the contractor, Peters 
Construction, noticed that there was topsoil material buried underneath the clay soil 
layer of the ground in several locations on the property. This proved to be problematic 
for the contractor, as these were locations where large footings were to be placed for 
the building foundation. This unsuitable soil could not be located under the footings, and 
needed to be removed and replaced with additional clay soil material that could handle 
the additional weight from the footings. The contractor estimated that the cost to 
remediate this unsuitable soil was approximately $140,000. Staff has had several 
conversations with the company and contractor to discuss ways to help offset those 
additional costs, as they were not foreseen by the company, contractor, or the City.   

Proposed Changes to Agreement for Private Development 

 
When the original Agreement for Private Development was approved in 2017, there was 
language included that called for a minimum building permit value of $7,100,000, and a 
minimum assessment (building & land) of $8,156,000. Based on the minimum 
assessment number, staff was able to calculate approximately what the 5-year total tax 
abatement would be. In this case, a value of $8,156,000 would equate to a total 5-year 
tax abatement amount of approximately $609,804. 
 

107



2 
 

When the contractor obtained the building permit from the Building Inspections Division 
in May of 2018, the permit was valued at $9,009,966. This increase of approximately 
$1,900,000 was due to the building being larger than anticipated (175,000 sf. vs. 
171,000 sf.), and due to the final costs of the project being known at the time of the 
permit issuance. Because of this increased permit valuation, staff looked at whether 
increasing the Minimum Assessment Agreement amount would equate to a larger tax 
abatement amount over the 5 year period, which could then offset the additional cost 
that was incurred by removing the unsuitable soil. Using a building permit valuation of 
$9,000,000, and a minimum assessment (building and land) of $10,056,000, it was 
calculated that the 5 year total tax abatement would be approximately $751,862 over 
the 5 year period. That is a difference of $142,058, which is very close to the cost of 
remediating the unsuitable soil on the site for the building footings.  
 
Staff discussed with Mr. Highland the option of amending the Agreement for Private 
Development by increasing the Minimum Assessment Agreement from its original 
valuation of $8,156,000 to $10,056,000 in order to guarantee that an additional tax 
abatement amount would be provided, and Mr. Highland and the company agreed that 
this course of action was acceptable. Staff feels that this is an acceptable solution as 
well, as the City will see an increase in taxes based on the increased property 
assessment, and the company will see an increase in its tax abatement over the 5 year 
period as well based on the increased property assessment. 
 
Also, the Agreement for Private Development listed a project completion date of 
December 31, 2018, with the Minimum Assessment Agreement slated to go into effect 
as of January 1, 2019. Due to time delays because of the soil issue, the building is still 
under construction and has not been fully completed. Therefore, staff would also like to 
amend the Agreement for Private Development to change the completion date to 
December 31, 2019, with the Minimum Assessment Agreement going into effect on 
January 1, 2020.  

Conclusion & Recommendation 

 
As this memorandum indicates, Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. has proposed amending and 
restating the existing Agreement for Private Development in order to increase the 
minimum assessment amount for the property, in order to obtain additional tax 
abatement amounts over 5 years to help offset the cost of remediating the unsuitable 
soils on the site. By increasing the minimum assessment on this property from its 
original $8,156,000 to $10,056,000, this will increase the anticipated tax abatement 
amount over 5 years by approximately $142,058. Also, staff is proposing to amend the 
Agreement for Private Development to change the completion date to December 31, 
2019, with the Minimum Assessment Agreement going into effect on January 1, 2020. 
Construction of the new facility has begun and is anticipated to be completed by 
summer 2019.  
 
 
 

108



3 
 

The Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. is attached for your review.  
This Amended and Restated Agreement was drafted by Planning Staff, reviewed by 
City Attorney Kevin Rogers, and is acceptable to both parties. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt and 
approve the following: 
 

Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and 
Restated Agreement for Private Development and a Minimum 
Assessment Agreement by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

 
If you have any questions pertaining to this project, please contact the Community 
Development Department. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
       Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
       Matt Highland, BCI-Hawkeye Division 
        
 
 
 
 

109



Venture Way

Capital Way

Technology Pkwy

Tec
hn

olo
gy

Pl

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Production Dr

Project Location

Buckeye Corrugated, Inc.
New Facility
2900 Capital Way I

110



Final Execution Version 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BY AND BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

AND 

BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC. 

 

111



Final Execution Version 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS ......................................................................................................... 5 

Section 1.1. Definitions ............................................................................................................ 5 

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .................................................... 7 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the City ......................................................... 7 

Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Developer ............................................... 8 

ARTICLE III. CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS .................................... 9 

Section 3.1. Construction of Minimum Improvements ............................................................ 9 

Section 3.2. Building Permit Valuation Amount ................................................................... 10 

Section 3.3. Construction Plans .............................................................................................. 10 

Section 3.4. Commencement and Completion of Construction ............................................. 10 

Section 3.5. Certificate of Completion ................................................................................... 11 

Section 3.6. Cooperation ........................................................................................................ 11 

ARTICLE IV. RESTRICTIONS ON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY ...................... 11 

Section 4.1. Restrictions on Use ............................................................................................. 11 

Section 4.2. Agreements to Run with the Land ...................................................................... 11 

Section 4.3. City as Beneficiary ............................................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE V. INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION .......................................................... 12 

Section 5.1. Insurance Requirements ..................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.2. Condemnation .................................................................................................... 14 

Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment ................................................................................ 14 

ARTICLE VI. ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS........................ 14 

Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement ................................................................. 14 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties .................................................................................. 15 

Section 6.3. Maintenance of Records ..................................................................................... 15 

Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws ....................................................................................... 15 

Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes ........................................................................................... 15 

Section 6.6. Sales Tax ............................................................................................................ 16 

Section 6.7. Utility Usage....................................................................................................... 16 

Section 6.8. Annual Certification ........................................................................................... 16 

Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments ....................................................................................... 17 

112



Final Execution Version 2 

Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel ........................................................................................ 17 

Section 6.11. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development Property ........ 17 

Section 6.12. Relocation ....................................................................................................... 17 

ARTICLE VII. PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER ................ 18 

Section 7.1. Representation As to Development .................................................................... 18 

Section 7.2. Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of Agreement ......... 18 

Section 7.3. Approvals ........................................................................................................... 20 

Section 7.4. Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in Development 

Property to Permitted Transferee ............................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE VIII. PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION ................................................ 20 

Section 8.1. Partial Property Tax Exemption ......................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE IX. INDEMNIFICATION ........................................................................................ 21 

Section 9.1. Release and Indemnification Covenants ............................................................ 21 

ARTICLE X. REMEDIES ........................................................................................................ 22 

Section 10.1. Events of Default Defined .............................................................................. 22 

Section 10.2. Remedies on Default ...................................................................................... 23 

Section 10.3. No Remedy Exclusive .................................................................................... 24 

Section 10.4. No Implied Waiver ......................................................................................... 24 

Section 10.5. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses .......................................... 24 

ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................... 24 

Section 11.1. Conflict of Interest.......................................................................................... 24 

Section 11.2. Non-Discrimination ........................................................................................ 25 

Section 11.3. Notices ............................................................................................................ 25 

Section 11.4. Titles of Articles and Sections ........................................................................ 25 

Section 11.5. Provisions Not Merged With Deed ................................................................ 25 

Section 11.6. Governing Law ............................................................................................... 25 

Section 11.7. Entire Agreement ........................................................................................... 26 

Section 11.8. Successors and Assigns .................................................................................. 26 

Section 11.9. Termination .................................................................................................... 26 

Section 11.10. Memorandum of Agreement .......................................................................... 26 

Section 11.11. Immediate Undertaking .................................................................................. 26 

Section 11.12. No Partnership or Joint Venture ..................................................................... 26 

Section 11.13. Number and Gender of Words ....................................................................... 26 

Section 11.14. Invalid Provisions ........................................................................................... 26 

Section 11.15. Multiple Counterparts..................................................................................... 27 

113



Final Execution Version 3 

Section 11.16. Authorization .................................................................................................. 27 

Section 11.17. Time of the Essence ....................................................................................... 27 

Section 11.18. Survival .......................................................................................................... 27 

Section 11.19. Agreement Terminated……………………………………………………... 27 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A Development Property ........................................................................................... 30 

EXHIBIT B Minimum Improvements ....................................................................................... 31 

EXHIBIT C Certificate of Completion ...................................................................................... 32 

EXHIBIT D Amended and Restated Minimum Assessment Agreement .................................. 34 

EXHIBIT E Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development ... 38 

  

114



Final Execution Version 4 

AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

(hereinafter called “Amended Agreement”), is made on or as of the _____ day of 

__________________, 2019, by and between the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a 

municipality (hereinafter called “City”), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and 

acting under the authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called “Urban Renewal Act”); and BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC., a Delaware 

corporation (hereinafter called the “Developer”),  having its principal place of business at 822 

Kumho Drive, Suite 400, Fairlawn, Ohio, 44333, and authorized to do business in Iowa. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, an AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

“Agreement”) between the City and Developer was approved by the City Council of the City on 

September 5, 2017, by Resolution No. 20,694; and 

WHEREAS, the Agreement provided, among other things for a minimum building permit 

value in the amount of $7,100,000.00 as well as a minimum assessment for taxation purposes of 

building and land of $8,156,000.00; and  

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained a building permit and has begun construction of the 

minimum improvements described in the Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the actual value of the building permit when issued was $9,000,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, the actual assessment for taxation purposes of building and land when 

construction is completed is expected to be approximately $10,056,000.00; and  

WHEREAS, the Agreement further provides that construction of the minimum 

improvements is to be completed by December 31, 2018, which due to unexpected delays in 

construction will not be able to be met; and  

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer wish to amend and restate the Agreement to 

account for the aforementioned circumstances which will be of mutual benefit to the City and to 

the Developer; and      

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City has 

undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in this 

connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area known as the 

Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the original Cedar Falls Industrial Park Urban Renewal Plan was approved 

by Resolution No. 8196 on November 12, 1990 (Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by 

Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 (Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by 

Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by 

Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by 

115



Final Execution Version 5 

Resolution No. 19,263 on November 3, 2014, and amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 

on April 18, 2016 (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been recorded 

among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa; and 

WHEREAS, the Developer  has acquired certain real property located within the 

boundaries of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A 

attached hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to 

as the “Development Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and in 

accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with this 

Amended Agreement by completing construction of certain Minimum Improvements (as hereafter 

defined) on the Development Property; and 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property pursuant 

to this Amended Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Amended Agreement, are in the 

vital and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the foregoing 

project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to Chapters 15A and 

403 of the Code of Iowa. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of the 

parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as follows: 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Amended 

Agreement, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

Anticipated Completion Date means the date by which Developer anticipates substantial 

completion of the Minimum Improvements, as set forth in Section 2.2(l). 

Amended Agreement means this Amended Agreement and all appendices hereto, as the 

same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

Assessment Agreement means the Amended and Restated Minimum Assessment 

Agreement substantially in the form of the agreement contained in Exhibit D attached hereto and 

hereby made a part of this Amended Agreement, among the Developer, the City and the Assessor 

for the County, entered into pursuant to Article VI of this Amended Agreement. 

Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value means the agreed minimum actual taxable value of the 

Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for calculation and 

assessment of real property taxes as set forth in the Assessment Agreement. 

116



Final Execution Version 6 

Building Permit Valuation Amount means the amount described in Section 3.2 of this 

Amended Agreement. 

Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Amended Agreement. 

City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its functions. 

Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2017, as amended. 

Commencement Date means the date of the issuance by the City of a City-issued building 

permit for the Minimum Improvements. 

Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents of the 

construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; the plans (a) 

shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents which are 

submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include at least the following: (1) site 

plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan for each floor; (5) cross sections of 

each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and (7) landscape plan. 

County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

Developer means Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

Development Property means that portion of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 

Urban Renewal Project Plan of the City described in Exhibit A hereto. 

Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this Amended 

Agreement. 

Industrial Use Warehouse and Production Facility means the Minimum Improvements. 

Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of an industrial warehouse and 

production facility totaling at least 175,000 square feet of finished space, together with all related 

site improvements described in the Construction Plans, as outlined in Exhibit B hereto, including 

the land. 

Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has granted 

a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion or parcel 

thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy or 

policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant to Article 

V of this Amended Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees and 

disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

Ordinance shall mean Ordinance Nos. 1923, 2122, 2461 and 2785 of the City, under 

which the taxes levied on the taxable property in the Project Area shall be divided, with a portion 

117



Final Execution Version 7 

of said taxes to be paid into the Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and 

authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 

Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 

described in this Amended Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 

Project Area means the area included within the boundaries of the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Project Plan, described in the Urban Renewal Plan 

approved for such area by Cedar Falls City Council Resolution No. 8196 dated November 12, 

1990, amended a first time by City Council Resolution No. 10,224 dated November 13, 1995, 

amended a second time by City Council Resolution No. 13,862 dated November 17, 2003, 

amended a third time by City Council Resolution No. 18,377 dated December 10, 2012, amended 

a fourth time by City Council Resolution No. 19,263 dated November 3, 2014, and amended a 

fifth time by City Council Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016. 

State means the State of Iowa. 

Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues on the Minimum 

Improvements divided and made available to the City for deposit in the Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

TIF Account of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area, under the 

provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and the Ordinance. 

Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Assessment Agreement, as provided 

in Section 11.9(a) of this Amended Agreement. 

Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, floods, 

fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, boycotts, lockouts 

or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material or equipment, litigation 

commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or local governmental unit (other 

than the party claiming the delay). 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved in respect of the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Urban Corridor Renewal Plan, described in the preambles hereof. 

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the City.  As of the date hereof, the City 

makes the following representations and warranties: 

(a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under the 

provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power to enter 

into this Amended Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

(b) This Amended Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by 

the Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 

instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the same 

118



Final Execution Version 8 

may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to 

or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Amended Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, 

in conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 

provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or 

instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party or by which it is 

bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

(d) The City has not received any notice from any State or federal official that the 

activities of the Developer with respect to the Development Property may or will 

be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those notices, if 

any, of which the Developer has previously been notified in writing).  The City is 

not currently aware of any State or federal claim filed or planned to be filed by any 

party relating to any violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, 

regulation or review procedure applicable to the Development Property, and the 

City is not currently aware of any violation of any local, State or federal 

environmental law, regulation or review procedure which would give any person a 

valid claim under any State or federal environmental statute with respect thereto. 

(e) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Amended Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Amended 

Agreement. 

(f) The Development Property is zoned “M-1-P, Planned Industrial District”.  The 

“M-1-P, Planned Industrial District” zoning classification permits by right the 

construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City contained 

herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of 

the City, and not of any governing body member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City 

in the individual capacity thereof. 

Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  As of the date hereof, 

the Developer makes the following representations and warranties: 

(a) The Developer is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws 

of the State of Delaware, is authorized to conduct business in the State of Iowa, 

and has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties, to carry 

on its business as now conducted and as presently proposed to be conducted, and 

to enter into and perform its obligations under this Amended Agreement. 

(b) This Amended Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and 

delivery by the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and 

legally binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its 

119



Final Execution Version 9 

terms, except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

(c) To the best of Developer’s knowledge, the execution and delivery of this Amended 

Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the 

fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Amended 

Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, nor will  they result 

in a violation or breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of the certificate of 

organization and operating agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the 

Developer or of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or 

instrument of whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it 

or its  properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

(d) To the best of Developer’s knowledge, there are no actions, suits or proceedings 

pending or threatened in writing against or affecting the Developer in any court or 

before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body in which there is a 

reasonable possibility of an adverse decision which could materially adversely 

affect the business (present or prospective), financial position or results of 

operations of the Developer or which in any manner raises any questions affecting 

the validity of this Amended Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its 

obligations under this Amended Agreement. 

(e) The Developer has equity funds and/or has commitments for financing in amounts 

sufficient to complete the construction of the Minimum Improvements, 

substantially in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated by this 

Amended Agreement. 

(f) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed by the 31
st
 day of December, 2019 

(the “Anticipated Completion Date”). 

(g) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Amended 

Agreement without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to this 

Amended Agreement. 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer contained 

herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of 

the Developer, and not of any member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the 

individual capacity thereof. 

ARTICLE III. CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 3.1. Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer agrees that it will 

cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the Construction Plans submitted to the City and in accordance, in all material 

respects, with the terms of this Amended Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan and all applicable 

local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for variances necessary to construct the 

120



Final Execution Version 10 

Minimum Improvements. The Developer will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, or 

cause to be obtained, all required permits, licenses and approvals, and will meet all requirements 

of all applicable local, State, and federal laws and regulations which must be obtained or met 

before the Minimum Improvements may be lawfully constructed within a timeframe reasonably 

sufficient to permit the completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements by the 

Anticipated Completion Date, subject to Unavoidable Delay.  The Developer agrees that the 

scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be significantly less 

than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and outlined in the 

Construction Plans, and shall in no event require a total investment of less than Nine Million and 

no/100 Dollars ($9,000,000.00), unless otherwise approved by the City, which approval shall not 

be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

Section 3.2. Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer has applied for and 

obtained from the City a building permit, and shall pay all necessary additional permit fees in 

connection with the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property, 

based upon a building permit valuation amount (hereinafter the “Building Permit Valuation 

Amount”) of a minimum of Nine Million and no/100 Dollars ($9,000,000.00). 

Section 3.3. Construction Plans.  The Developer has caused Construction Plans to be 

provided for the Minimum Improvements which were approved by the City as provided in this 

Section 3.3.  The Construction Plans are in conformity with the Urban Renewal Plan, this 

Amended Agreement, and all applicable State and local laws and regulations, except for variances 

the Developer and the City agree are necessary to construct or operate the Minimum 

Improvements.  The City has approved the Construction Plans in writing. Approval of the 

Construction Plans pursuant to this Section 3.3 constitutes approval for the purposes of this 

Amended Agreement only and shall not be deemed to constitute approval or waiver by the City 

with respect to any building, fire, zoning or other ordinances or regulations of the City, and shall 

not be deemed to be sufficient plans to serve as the basis for the issuance of a building permit if 

the Construction Plans are not as detailed or complete as the plans otherwise required for the 

issuance of a building permit.   

Approval of the Construction Plans by the City does not relieve the Developer of any 

obligation to comply with the terms and provisions of this Amended Agreement, or the provisions 

of applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations, nor shall approval of the 

Construction Plans by the City be deemed to constitute a waiver of any Event of Default. 

Approval of Construction Plans hereunder is solely for purposes of this Amended 

Agreement, and shall not constitute approval for any other City purpose nor subject the City to 

any liability for the Minimum Improvements as constructed. 

Section 3.4. Commencement and Completion of Construction.  Subject to Unavoidable 

Delays, the Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements to be undertaken 

by no later than the 31st day of December, 2017, and completed (i) by no later than the 31
st
 day of 

December, 2019, or (ii) by such other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing.  

Time lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend the completion date by a 

number of days equal to the number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  However, an 

extension of the completion of the Minimum Improvements shall not affect the date upon which 

121



Final Execution Version 11 

the Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value shall become effective.  All work with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on the Development 

Property shall be substantially in accordance with the Construction Plans as submitted by the 

Developer and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall permit designated 

representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property, at reasonable times and upon 

reasonable prior notice, during the construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such 

construction; provided, any such inspection shall not materially interfere with the construction of 

the Minimum Improvements. 

Section 3.5. Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form set forth 

in Exhibit C attached hereto.  Such Certificate of Completion shall be a conclusive determination 

of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of this Amended Agreement with 

respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause construction of the Minimum Improvements. 

The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County Recorder’s 

office at the Developer’s sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide a Certificate of 

Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5, the City shall, within ten (10) 

days after written request by the Developer, provide to the Developer a written statement 

indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer has failed to complete the Minimum 

Improvements in accordance with the provisions of this Amended Agreement, or is otherwise in 

default under the terms of this Amended Agreement, and what measures or acts it will be 

necessary for the Developer to take or perform in order to obtain such Certificate of Completion. 

Section 3.6. Cooperation. The City and the Developer will cooperate fully with each 

other in order to resolve any traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may 

arise in connection with the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, including 

but not limited to any problems which may arise with respect to traffic at the intersections where 

access drives on the Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

ARTICLE IV. RESTRICTIONS ON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

Section 4.1. Restrictions on Use.  The Developer shall: 

(a) Use the Development Property for any lawful use, and devote the Development 

Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the uses specified in the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan until the Termination 

Date; and 

(b) Not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, age, disability or national origin in the sale, lease, or 

rental or in the use or occupancy of the Development Property or any 

improvements erected or to be erected thereon, or any part thereof. 

Section 4.2. Agreements to Run with the Land. It is intended and agreed that the 

agreements and covenants provided in this Article shall be covenants running with the land and 

that they shall, in any event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 

122



Final Execution Version 12 

otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this Amended Agreement, be 

binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for the benefit and in favor of, and 

enforceable by, the City, its successors and assigns, as against every successor in interest to the 

Development Property, or any part thereof or any interest therein, and as against any party in 

possession or occupancy of the Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further intended 

and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in subdivisions (a) and (b) of Section 4.1 

shall remain in effect only through the Termination Date. 

Section 4.3. City as Beneficiary. It is intended and agreed that the City and its 

successors and assigns shall be deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in 

this Article, both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting the interests of 

the community and other parties, public or private, in whose favor or for whose benefit such 

agreements and covenants have been provided.  Such agreements and covenants shall run in favor 

of the City, until the Termination Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall 

be in force and effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, remains, or is an 

owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which such agreements and covenants 

relate.  The City shall have the right, in the event of any breach of any such agreement or 

covenant, to exercise all the rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions or suits at law or in 

equity or other proper proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach of agreement or covenant, 

to which it or any other beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant may be entitled. 

ARTICLE V. INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION 

Section 5.1. Insurance Requirements.  

(a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the construction of the Minimum Improvements (and, from time to time at 

the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of payment of premiums on): 

(i) Builder’s risk insurance, written on the so-called “Builder’s Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis”, in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the date of 

completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form on the so-

called “all risk” form of policy; 

(ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations and 

contractual liability insurance), together with an Owner’s Contractor’s 

Policy, with limits against bodily injury and property damage of at least 

$2,000,000.00.  The City shall be named as an additional insured for the 

City’s liability or loss arising out of or in any way associated with the 

Minimum Improvements and arising out of any act, error, or omission of 

the Developer, its members, managers, officers, contractors and 

subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts the City may be held 

responsible (with coverage to the City at least as broad as that which is 

provided to the Developer and not lessened or avoided by endorsement).  

The policy shall contain a “severability of interests” clause and provide 

123



Final Execution Version 13 

primary insurance over any other insurance maintained by the City.  A 

Governmental Immunities Endorsement is also required. 

(iii) Worker’s compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 

(b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all times 

prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to be 

maintained, at its cost and expense  (and from time to time at the request of the 

City shall furnish proof of the payment of premiums on) insurance as follows: 

(i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements under 

a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured against by 

similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, 

explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, and collapse in 

an amount not less than the full insurable replacement value of the 

Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a deductible 

amount of not more than $25,000.00.  No policy of insurance shall be so 

written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the minimum 

coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-insurance 

provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in writing by the 

City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 

delayed.  The term “full insurable replacement value” shall mean the actual 

replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements (excluding foundation 

and excavation costs and costs of underground flues, pipes, drains and 

other uninsurable items) and equipment, and shall be determined from time 

to time at the request of the City, but not more frequently than once every 

three years, by an insurance consultant or insurer selected and paid for by 

the Developer and approved by the City, which approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

(ii) Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal injury 

liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any injuries 

resulting from the operation of automobiles or other motorized vehicles on 

or about the Development Property, in the minimum amount for each 

occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000.00. 

(iii) Such other insurance, including worker’s compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 

customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 

comparable size and liability exposure. 

(c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the Termination 

Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance companies 

selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of the State to 

assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit annually with the 

City copies of policies evidencing all such insurance, or a certificate or certificates 

124



Final Execution Version 14 

or binders of the respective insurers stating that such insurance is in force and 

effect.  Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, each policy shall contain a 

provision that the insurer shall not cancel or modify it without giving written 

notice to the Developer and the City at least thirty (30) days before the cancellation 

or modification becomes effective.  Not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the 

expiration of any policy, the Developer  shall furnish the City evidence satisfactory 

to the City that the policy has been renewed or replaced by another policy 

conforming to the provisions of this Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor 

under the terms hereof.  In lieu of separate policies, Developer may maintain a 

single policy, or blanket or umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which 

provide the total coverage required herein, in which event the Developer shall 

deposit with the City a certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the 

amount of coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

(d) Developer agrees to notify the City promptly after becoming aware of damage 

exceeding $25,000.00 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum Improvements 

or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  Net Proceeds of any 

such insurance shall be paid directly to the Developer, and Developer will 

forthwith repair, reconstruct and  restore the Minimum Improvements to 

substantially the same or an improved condition or value as they existed prior to 

the event causing such damage and, to the extent necessary to accomplish such 

repair, reconstruction and restoration, the Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of 

any insurance relating to such damage received by Developer to the payment or 

reimbursement of the costs thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 

solely to casualties that occur prior to the Termination Date. 

(e) The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received 

by Developer for such purposes are sufficient, if such casualty occurs prior to the 

Termination Date. 

Section 5.2. Condemnation.  In the event that title to and possession of the Minimum 

Improvements or any other material part thereof shall be taken in condemnation or by the exercise 

of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or other person (except the City prior 

to the Termination Date), the Developer or his successor shall, with reasonable promptness after 

such taking, notify the City as to the nature and extent of such taking. 

Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment.  Upon receipt of any condemnation award or 

property insurance proceeds, the Developer shall use such condemnation award, to the extent 

feasible, to reconstruct the Minimum Improvements (or, in the event only a part of Minimum 

Improvements have been taken, then to reconstruct such part) upon the Development Property or 

elsewhere within the Project Area. 

ARTICLE VI. ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 

Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement.  The Developer shall agree to, and 

with the City shall execute, concurrently with the execution of this Amended Agreement, an 

125



Final Execution Version 15 

Assessment Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 403.19, Code of Iowa, substantially 

in the form and content of Exhibit D attached hereto, specifying the Assessor’s Minimum Actual 

Value for the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for 

calculation of real property taxes.  Specifically, the Developer shall agree to a minimum actual 

taxable value for the Minimum Improvements and the land that together comprise the 

Development Property, which will result in a minimum actual taxable value as of January 1, 

2020, of not less than Ten Million Fifty Six Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($10,056,000.00) (such 

minimum actual taxable value at the time applicable is herein referred to as the “Assessor’s 

Minimum Actual Value”).  Nothing in the Assessment Agreement shall limit the discretion of the 

Assessor to assign an actual taxable value to the Minimum Improvements or the land, in excess of 

such Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value nor prohibit the Developer or its successors from seeking 

through the exercise of legal or administrative remedies a reduction in such actual taxable value 

for property tax purposes; provided, however, that the Developer or its successors shall not seek a 

reduction of such actual taxable value below the Assessor’s Minimum Actual Value in any year 

so long as the Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect.  The Assessment Agreement shall 

remain in effect until the 31st day of December, 2030 (the “Termination Date”).  The Assessment 

Agreement shall be certified by the Assessor for the County as provided in Section 403.19 of the 

Code of Iowa, and shall be filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of the County, 

and such filing shall constitute notice to any subsequent encumbrancer or purchaser of the 

Development Property (or part thereof), whether voluntary or involuntary, and such Assessment 

Agreement shall be binding and enforceable in its entirety against any such subsequent purchaser 

or encumbrancer, as well as any prior encumbrancer consenting thereto. 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties.  The Developer will maintain, preserve and 

keep the Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear and tear 

excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, renewals and 

additions, until the Termination Date. 

Section 6.3. Maintenance of Records.  The Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all dealings 

and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Developer in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout the period involved, 

and Developer will provide reasonable protection against loss or damage to such books of record 

and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply for all periods prior to the Termination 

Date. 

Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer will comply with all laws, rules 

and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and regulations the 

failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting therefrom, would not have a 

material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, operations, or condition, financial 

or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply for all periods prior to the Termination 

Date. 

Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real property 

taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the Development Property 

acquired and owned by it. 

126



Final Execution Version 16 

The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

(a) It will not seek any tax exemption (except as may be granted under Section 8.8 of 

this Amended Agreement), either presently or prospectively authorized under any 

State or federal law with respect to taxation of real property contained on the 

Development Property between the date of execution of this Amended Agreement 

and the Termination Date.  The foregoing shall not impair any rights to appeal the 

valuation set by the Black Hawk County Assessor as provided by law. 

(b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be 

applicable to the Development Property, Minimum Improvements or to the 

Developer or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any such tax statute as 

a defense in any proceedings, including delinquent tax proceedings. 

(c) It will not seek any tax deferral or abatement, except reimbursement, if any, that is 

specifically provided for in this Amended Agreement, either presently or 

prospectively authorized under Iowa Code Chapter 403 or 404, or any other local, 

State or federal law, of the taxation of real property contained on the Development 

Property between the date of execution of this Amended Agreement and the 

Termination Date. 

Section 6.6. Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay all sales tax payable with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements. 

Section 6.7. Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 

assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other entities 

operating any business on the Development Property or any portion thereof, that for all periods up 

to the Termination Date that all utility needs for the Industrial Use Warehouse and Production 

Facility shall be furnished from City-owned utilities, to the extent the City provides such utility, 

including electricity, natural gas, water, sanitary sewer, cable television, internet and other fiber-

optic communications, including telephony.  Although this shall be the sole source for such utility 

services, the Developer and its successors and assigns, as defined and described in this section, 

shall not, however, have any obligation or duty to use or take any minimum amount, and shall 

have no obligation to pay any amount in excess of the generally applicable rates for like users 

based upon actual use. 

Section 6.8. Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring performance of 

Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of the Developer shall annually provide to the 

City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been paid for the prior 

fiscal year; and (b) certification that, to the best of such officer’s knowledge during the preceding 

twelve (12) months, the Developer  was not  in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and 

conditions of this Amended Agreement and that no Event of Default (or event which, with the 

lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default) is occurring or 

has occurred as of the date of such certificate or during such period, or if the signer is aware of 

any such default, event or Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature 

127



Final Execution Version 17 

thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken 

with respect thereto.  Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than 

November 1 of each year, commencing November 1, 2020, and ending on November 1, 2030, 

both dates inclusive. 

Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments.  The City shall be free to use any and all Tax 

Increments collected in respect of the Development Property for any purpose for which the Tax 

Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act; and the 

City shall have no obligations to the Developer with respect to the use of such increments. 

Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel.  [reserved] 

Section 6.11. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development Property.  In 

any commercial lease  involving the Development Property or the Minimum Improvements there 

shall be included terms, for all periods up to the Termination Date, which provide as follows: (a) 

the leased premises are part of the Development Property and are subject to the terms and 

conditions of this Amended Agreement; (b) that this Amended Agreement is binding upon 

Developer’s successors, transferees and assigns, specifically including all commercial landlords 

and tenants; (c) that certain of the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement specifically 

impact the use of and conduct of  business operations on the Development Property; and (d) that 

any landlord or tenant agrees to operate its business and conduct its operations on the 

Development Property in a manner consistent with all of the terms and conditions of this 

Amended Agreement. 

Section 6.12. Relocation.  Developer agrees and covenants that it shall not, absent written 

consent from the City, sell or lease the Minimum Improvements or Development Property to any 

enterprise that is relocating (“Relocating”) to the City from another part of Black Hawk County or 

a contiguous county during the term (the “Term”) of this Relocation provision (the “Relocation 

Provision”).  “Relocating” or “Relocation” means the closure or substantial reduction of an 

enterprise’s existing operations in one area of the State and the initiation of substantially the same 

operation in the same county or a contiguous county in the State.  The Term of this Relocation 

Provision will expire on the Termination Date as described in Section 11.9(a).  In general, urban 

renewal incentives cannot be used for projects that involve a Relocating enterprise (whether the 

relocating enterprise is the developer, land owner, tenant, or otherwise) unless there is a written 

agreement regarding the use of economic incentives between the city where the business is 

currently located and the city to which the business is Relocating, either specific to this Project or 

in general (i.e., a fair play or neutrality agreement), or if the City finds that the use of tax 

increments in connection with the Relocation is in the public interest, which means that the 

business has provided a written affirmation that it is considering moving part or all of its 

operations out of the State and such action would result in either significant employment or wage 

loss in Iowa.  Developer understands and agrees that if it sells or leases to a Relocating enterprise 

in violation of the Relocation Provision, as determined by the City in its sole discretion, such 

action shall be deemed an Event of Default under this Amended Agreement, and, in addition to 

any remedies set forth in Section 10.2: 

(i) Developer shall be ineligible to receive any future property tax abatements 

that are provided for under Section 8.8 of this Amended Agreement; 

128



Final Execution Version 18 

(ii) Developer shall be responsible for paying the City an amount equal to the 

property tax abatements previously received by Developer under Section 

8.8 of this Amended Agreement, with interest thereon at the highest rate 

permitted by State law; and 

(iii) If Developer received all or a portion of the Development Property from 

the City for less than the full fair market value of the Development 

Property (“Full Value”), then the Developer shall pay the City the 

difference between the Full Value of the Development Property and what 

the Developer actually paid the City for such property.  At the request of 

the City (which request need not be in writing), the Full Value of the 

Development Property shall be established by a licensed, certified appraiser 

to be selected by the City.  Developer shall be responsible for paying any 

fees or costs associated with obtaining such appraisal. 

ARTICLE VII. PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

Section 7.1. Representation As to Development. The Developer represents and agrees 

that the purchase and improvement of the Development Property, and the other undertakings 

pursuant to this Amended Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose of development of the 

Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The Developer further 

acknowledges: 

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 

welfare of the community; 

(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available by 

law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; and 

(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant change of 

control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or disposition of the 

Development Property then owned and operated by the Developer, and the 

qualifications and identity of the Developer are of particular concern to the 

community and the City.  The Developer further recognizes that it is because of 

such qualifications and identity that the City is entering into this Amended 

Agreement with the Developer. 

Section 7.2. Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of Agreement.  

Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4 (Transfer of Interest in Developer or 

Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees) for the foregoing reasons the 

Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and assigns, that in addition to the 

provisions of Section 6.12 of this Amended Agreement, prior to the Termination Date: 

(a) Except only for (i) the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the 

Developer to perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum 

Improvements under this Amended Agreement, (ii) leases to commercial tenants 

for all or a portion of the Minimum Improvements, and (iii) any other purpose 

authorized by this Amended Agreement, the Developer (except as so authorized) 

129



Final Execution Version 19 

has not made or created, and that the Developer will not, prior to the Termination 

Date, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any total or partial sale, 

assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in any other mode or 

form of or with respect to this Amended Agreement or the Development Property, 

or any part thereof or any interest therein, or any contract or agreement to do any 

of the same, without the prior written approval of the City, which approval shall 

not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed subject to paragraph (b) and 

Section 7.3 below. 

(b) The City shall be entitled to require, except as otherwise provided in this Amended 

Agreement, as conditions to any such approval that: 

(1) Any proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 

responsibility, as reasonably determined by the City, necessary and 

adequate to fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Amended Agreement 

by the Developer (or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate to 

such part). 

(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing reasonably satisfactory 

to the City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 

and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the City, 

have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer under this 

Amended Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to all the 

conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the 

event the transfer is of or relates to part of the Development Property, such 

obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such 

part):  Provided, That the fact that any transferee of, or any other successor 

in interest whatsoever to, the Development Property, or any part thereof, 

shall, whatever the reason, not have assumed such obligations or so agreed, 

shall not (unless and only to the extent otherwise specifically provided in 

this Amended Agreement or agreed to in writing by the City) relieve or 

exempt such transferee or successor of or from such obligations, 

conditions, or restrictions, or deprive or limit the City of or with respect to 

any rights or remedies or controls with respect to the Development 

Property or the construction of the Minimum Improvements; it being the 

intent of this provision, together with other provisions of this Amended 

Agreement, that (to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity and 

excepting only in the manner and to the extent specifically provided 

otherwise in this Amended Agreement) no transfer of, or change with 

respect to, ownership in the Development Property or any part thereof, or 

any interest therein, however consummated or occurring, and whether 

voluntary or involuntary, shall operate, legally or practically, to deprive or 

limit the City of or with respect to any rights or remedies or controls 

provided in or resulting from this Amended Agreement with respect to the 

Development Property and the construction of the Minimum Improvements 

that the City would have had, had there been no such transfer or change. 

130



Final Execution Version 20 

(3) Except leases to commercial tenants for all or a portion of the Minimum 

Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(ii) of this section, there shall 

be submitted to the City for review all instruments and other legal 

documents involved in effecting transfer; and if approved by the City, its 

approval shall be indicated to the Developer in writing. 

Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the contrary, no 

such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the Developer, or any 

other party bound in any way by this Amended Agreement or otherwise with respect to the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its obligations with respect thereto. 

Section 7.3. Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, this 

Amended Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City under this 

Article VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines that the ability of 

the Developer to perform its obligations under this Amended Agreement and its statutory duty, as 

owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with respect to the Development Property, 

or the overall financial security provided to the City under the terms of this Amended Agreement, 

or the likelihood of the Minimum Improvements being successfully constructed and operated 

pursuant to the terms of this Amended Agreement, will be materially impaired by the action for 

which approval is sought. 

Section 7.4. Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in Development 

Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 7.2 and 7.3, the City 

and the Developer agree that at any time after the Certificate of Completion is issued by the City, 

the Developer may enter into a sale-leaseback transaction with a reputable sale-leaseback 

company whereby Developer conveys the Minimum Improvements and Development Property to 

the sale-leaseback company (“Permitted Transferee”), and  the Developer will be the tenant of the 

Minimum Improvements and Development Property responsible for all operation and 

maintenance of the Development Property, and the operator of the business to be conducted on 

the Development Property, and such transaction  shall not trigger the provisions of Sections 7.2, 

Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of Agreement, or Section 7.3, 

Approvals, provided, however, that any transfer of the Development Property to the Permitted 

Transferee shall require the Permitted Transferee to agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly 

assume all of the obligations of the Developer under this Amended Agreement, and (b) to agree to 

be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the 

event the transfer is of or relates to only part of the Development Property, such obligations, 

conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such part).  Upon execution of an 

agreement in writing by the Permitted Transferee that assumes such obligations, the transfer of 

the Development Property, including the Minimum Improvements, or part thereof, shall be 

deemed approved upon delivery of such written assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the 

City. 

ARTICLE VIII. PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION 

Section 8.1. Partial Property Tax Exemption.   

131



Final Execution Version 21 

(a) Subject to Developer’s compliance with all of the terms and conditions of this 

Amended Agreement, City agrees that the Developer shall be entitled to a partial 

exemption from taxation of industrial property as provided by Sections 25-36 

through 25-45 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances with respect to the 

Development Property.  The partial property tax exemption shall be available 

commencing on January 1, 2020, and shall be according to the following schedule: 

(i) January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020 – 75% exemption. 

(ii) January 1, 2021 – December 31, 2021 – 60% exemption. 

(iii) January 1, 2022 – December 31, 2022 – 45% exemption. 

(iv) January 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023 – 30% exemption. 

(v) January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 – 15% exemption. 

(b) Subject to Developer’s compliance with all of the terms and conditions of this 

Amended Agreement, City agrees that the Developer also may apply to Black 

Hawk County, Iowa for a partial exemption from taxation of industrial property as 

may be provided by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, with respect to the Development 

Property.  The obligation to timely and appropriately file an application for such 

exemption with the Black Hawk County Assessor shall be that of the Developer. 

ARTICLE IX. INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 9.1. Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

(a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, agents, 

servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this Article IX, the 

“indemnified parties”) from, covenants and agrees that the indemnified parties 

shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or 

death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from any defect in the 

Minimum Improvements, except to the extent resulting from the negligence or 

willful misconduct of the indemnified parties. 

(b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, or 

any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified parties, 

Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now or forever, 

and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any claim, 

demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any person or entity 

whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from any violation of any agreement or 

condition of this Amended Agreement by the Developer, including but not limited 

to claims for the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements. 

132



Final Execution Version 22 

(c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the persons 

or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or employees or any 

other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements due to any act of 

negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, other than any act of 

negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or its officers, agents, 

servants or employees. 

(d) The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this Amended 

Agreement. 

ARTICLE X. REMEDIES 

Section 10.1. Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be “Events of Default” 

under this Amended Agreement and the term “Event of Default” shall mean, whenever it is used 

in this Amended Agreement, any one or more of the following events; provided however, the 

following shall not constitute an Event of Default until the non-defaulting party has delivered 

written notice to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the alleged default and 

the defaulting party does not cure (or cause to be cured) such default within such thirty (30)-day 

period or, if the default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, such longer period of 

time as may be reasonably necessary to cure such default: 

(a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum Improvements 

to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations 

of Article III of this Amended Agreement, subject to Unavoidable Delays; 

(b) Failure by the Developer or its successors to cause the Minimum Improvements to 

be reconstructed when required pursuant to Article III of this Amended 

Agreement. 

(c) Transfer of the Developer’s ownership interest in the Development Property or any 

interest of Developer in this Agreement, or the assets of Developer in violation of 

the provisions of Article VII of this Amended Agreement, until the Termination 

Date; 

(d) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes on 

the Development Property (except as may be specifically excluded by exemption 

under Section 8.1 of this Amended Agreement); 

(e) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date to substantially observe or 

perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to be 

observed or performed under this Amended Agreement; 

(f) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any improvements 

thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure proceedings as a result of 

any default under the applicable Mortgage documents; 

(g) Sale or lease of the Minimum Improvements or Development Property in violation 

of the provisions of Section 6.12, Relocation, of this Amended Agreement; 

133



Final Execution Version 23 

(h) The Developer shall: 

(i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under 

the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under any 

similar federal or state law; or 

(ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

(iii) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer proposing 

adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any present or future 

federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall be filed in 

any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged or denied 

within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a receiver, trustee or 

liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum Improvements, or part thereof, 

shall be appointed in any proceedings brought against the Developer and 

shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after such appointment, or if 

the Developer shall consent to or acquiesce in such appointment; or 

(i) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this Amended 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement or 

certificate pursuant to this Amended Agreement, shall prove to have been 

incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date of 

the issuance or making thereof. 

Section 10.2. Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Amended Agreement occurs and is continuing: 

(a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Amended 

Agreement until it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed adequate 

by the party giving notice, that the party in default will cure the default and 

continue performance under this Amended Agreement; 

(b) The party who is not in default may withhold the Certificate of Completion; 

(c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable or 

administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to recover damages 

proximately caused by the Event of Default, or to enforce performance and 

observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under this Amended 

Agreement. 

(d) In the event the Developer fails to perform any one or more of the material 

obligations described in Article III of this Amended Agreement in a timely 

manner, Developer shall thereupon immediately convey title to the Development 

Property to the City, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, but subject to 

restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if any, 

and to existing easements, if any.  Developer shall also deliver to City an abstract 

of title covering the Development Property, certified to a date subsequent to the 

134



Final Execution Version 24 

date of said conveyance, showing that marketable title to the Development 

Property is vested in Developer and complies with the requirements of this 

subsection.  Developer shall pay to City all general property taxes and special 

assessments, if any, due or to become due with respect to the Development 

Property, continuing until the Development Property is assessed to the City and is 

exempt from assessment for general property taxes by reason of its conveyance to 

and ownership by the City as a tax-exempt governmental body.  Developer shall 

pay for all costs associated with conveyance of the Development Property to the 

City, including, but not limited to, abstracting, recording fees, and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees.  In the event the Developer fails to comply with the terms and 

conditions of this subsection (d) within thirty (30) days after written request by the 

City to reconvey the Development Property, then the City may proceed as 

provided in Section 10.2(c) of this Article, to obtain a decree of specific 

performance against Developer for the conveyance of the Development Property to 

the City or, in lieu thereof, at the City’s sole discretion, to obtain a judgment for 

monetary damages to compensate the City for the Developer’s default, plus 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses as provided in Section 10.5. 

Section 10.3. No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to 

the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and 

every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this 

Amended Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  No delay or 

omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or 

power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised 

from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

Section 10.4. No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this Amended 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such 

waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any 

other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

Section 10.5. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any Event of 

Default occurs and a party not in default shall employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the 

collection of payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or performance or 

observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default herein contained, the 

party in default agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the party not in default the 

reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately 

incurred by the party not in default in connection therewith. 

ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.1. Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 

belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any consultant 

or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the City who 

exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the Project during his 

or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making process or gain insider 

information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or 

135



Final Execution Version 25 

subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed in connection with the Project, or 

in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is part of this Project at any time during or after such 

person’s tenure. 

Section 11.2. Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant 

for employment because of race, creed, color, gender identity, sex, sexual orientation, national 

origin, religion, age or disability.  The Developer shall insure that applicants for employment are 

employed, and the employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, creed, 

color, gender identity, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, religion, age or disability. 

Section 11.3. Notices.  Whenever this Amended Agreement requires or permits any 

consent, approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, “Notice”) from one party to 

another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt by the intended 

recipient, at the following addresses: 

DEVELOPER:  Mr. Douglas A. Bosnik 

President and CEO 

Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 

822 Kumho Drive, Suite 400 

Fairlawn, OH  44333 

With a copy to:  Thompson Hine, LLP 

3900 Key Center 

127 Public Square 

Cleveland, OH  44114 

Attention: Jonathon Vinocur 

 

CITY    City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Administrator 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall have 

furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to receive a Notice 

hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for receiving the same, at 

any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change notice in accordance with the 

above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) business days prior to the effective date of 

such change. 

Section 11.4. Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, Articles, and 

Sections of this Amended Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be 

disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

Section 11.5. Provisions Not Merged With Deed.  [reserved] 

Section 11.6. Governing Law.  This Amended Agreement shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

136



Final Execution Version 26 

Section 11.7. Entire Agreement.  This Amended Agreement and the exhibits hereto 

reflect the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and 

supersedes and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written.  

This Amended Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all 

parties hereto. 

Section 11.8. Successors and Assigns.  This Amended Agreement is intended to and shall 

inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and 

assigns. 

Section 11.9. Termination.  Except as expressly provided Article IX, this Amended 

Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect on the Termination Date or sooner 

termination of the Assessment Agreement. 

Section 11.10. Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute and record a 

Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the 

form attached as Exhibit E, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of this 

Amended Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer 

shall pay all costs of recording. 

Section 11.11. Immediate Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake immediately upon 

execution of this Amended Agreement all of those obligations which require immediate action. 

Section 11.12. No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created between 

the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a partnership or 

joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 

Section 11.13. Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular number is 

used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any gender shall include 

each other where appropriate. 

Section 11.14. Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Amended Agreement or any 

agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under present 

or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision shall be fully 

severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, void, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such agreement; and (iii) the remaining 

provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision or by its severance from such agreement.  

Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added 

automatically as a part of such agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, 

invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a 

substitute provision is specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, in the event any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit 

of the Developer shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer shall 

have the right to cancel this Amended Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Amended 

Agreement, in its entirety, shall be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall 

proceed as described in Section 10.2(d) of this Amended Agreement. 

137



Final Execution Version 27 

Section 11.15. Multiple Counterparts.  This Amended Agreement has been executed in a 

number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all purposes and 

all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of this Amended 

Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such counterpart. 

Section 11.16. Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its execution 

hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as applicable, including 

without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, has been taken to authorize the 

execution of this Amended Agreement and the performance by such party of its respective 

obligations hereunder. 

Section 11.17. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all matters 

described in this Amended Agreement and related documents. 

Section 11.18. Survival.  Each provision of this Amended Agreement shall survive the 

occurrence of the other provisions of this Amended Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure 

full performance of said surviving provision. 

Section 11.19. Agreement Terminated.  Upon execution of this Amended Agreement, 

including all further agreements required to be executed under this Amended Agreement, and 

upon approval by the City Council of the City, the Agreement shall immediately terminate, and 

the parties shall be deemed to have declared the terms and conditions of the Agreement to have 

been fully satisfied, and shall be deemed to have waived and released any and all claims against 

each other under the Agreement, without the necessity of further notice.  

[Signatures appear on following page] 

  

138



Final Execution Version 28 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Amended Agreement to be duly 

executed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested 

by its City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Amended Agreement to be duly executed in 

its name and behalf by its authorized representatives, all on or as of the day first above written. 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: _________________________________ 

James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

By: ________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2019, 

by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

______________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC. 

a Delaware corporation 

By: ________________________________________ 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President and CEO 

By: ________________________________________ 

Mark A. Husted, Executive VP and CFO 

  

139



Final Execution Version 29 

STATE OF OHIO ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF SUMMIT ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, by 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President and CEO, and Mark A. Husted, Executive Vice President and CFO 

of Buckeye Corrugated, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

____________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio 

  

140



Final Execution Version 30 

EXHIBIT A 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or parcels of 

land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa, more 

particularly described as follows: 

All of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 

6 in West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III and all of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 

and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 10 in West Viking Road Industrial 

Park Phase IV, all in the East one-half (1/2) of Section Thirty-four (34), Township Eighty-

nine North (T89N), Range Fourteen West (R14W) in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa. Contains 16.16 acres, more or less. 

  

141



Final Execution Version 31 

EXHIBIT B 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of an Industrial Use 

Warehouse and Production Facility totaling at least 175,000 square feet of finished space, all as 

set forth in the Construction Plans and being as more particularly shown and in substantially the 

same configuration and scope as the site plans attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, electricity, 

water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services from their present 

locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as Developer deems 

appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any driveway approaches and 

other paving, at its cost, in accordance with City ordinances. 

The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary grading, land 

preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm water detention, 

signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire conformity with all applicable 

codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer’s cost.  The submittal to City of plans for 

the construction of said improvements shall be in substantial conformity with the following 

schedule: 

Schedule of Performance 

Activity to be Completed   Completion Date 

Issuance of Building Permit   December 31, 2017 

Substantial Completion    December 31, 2019 

Issuance of Occupancy Permit thirty (30) days after substantial completion 

  

142



Final Execution Version 32 

EXHIBIT C 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called 

“City”), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization 

of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called “Urban 

Renewal Act”); and BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC., a Delaware corporation  (hereinafter 

called the “Developer”), having its principal place of business at 822 Kumho Drive, Suite 400, 

Fairlawn, OH 44333; did on or about the _____ day of _______________, 2019, make, execute 

and deliver, each to the other, an Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development (the 

“Amended Agreement”), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of 

the Amended Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property located within the City 

and as more particularly described as follows: 

All of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 

6 in West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III and all of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 

and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 10 in West Viking Road Industrial 

Park Phase IV, all in the East one-half (1/2) of Section Thirty-four (34), Township Eighty-

nine North (T89N), Range Fourteen West (R14W) in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa. Contains 16.16 acres, more or less. 

(the “Development Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Amended Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and 

restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated 

Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance with 

the Amended Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they relate to 

the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City to be in 

conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and recording of this 

certification. 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Amended Agreement, this is to certify that all 

covenants and conditions of the Amended Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer 

and its successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have been completed and 

performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated insofar as they 

apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk County is hereby 

authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this instrument, to be a conclusive 

determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of said Amended 

Agreement with respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements. 

  

143



Final Execution Version 33 

All other provisions of the Amended Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and 

effect until termination as provided therein. 

(SEAL)    THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: ________________________________ 

James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

By: _________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2019, 

by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

______________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

  

144



Final Execution Version 34 

EXHIBIT D 

AMENDED AND RESTATED MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT, dated 

as of this _________ day of ______________, 2019, by and among the CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, (the “City”), and BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC., a Delaware corporation, 

(the “Developer”), and the COUNTY ASSESSOR for the County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa 

(the “Assessor”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS,  the parties previously executed a certain Minimum Assessment Agreement 

dated as of September 5, 2017 and recorded at the office of the Black Hawk County, Iowa 

Recorder on October 2, 2017 as Document Number 2018-0005808 (the “Original Agreement”); 

and 

WHEREAS, on or before the date hereof the City and Developer have entered into an 

Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development dated as of 

______________________________, 2019 (the “Amended Agreement”) regarding certain real 

property located in the City legally described as: 

All of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 

6 in West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III and all of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 

and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 10 in West Viking Road Industrial 

Park Phase IV, all in the East one-half (1/2) of Section Thirty-four (34), Township Eighty-

nine North (T89N), Range Fourteen West (R14W) in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa. Contains 16.16 acres, more or less. 

(the “Development Property”); and 

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that pursuant to said Amended Agreement, the Developer 

will undertake the development of the Development Property, which is within the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 403.6(19) of the Code of Iowa, 2017, as amended, the 

City and the Developer desire to establish a minimum actual taxable value for the facilities 

thereon to be constructed by the Developer pursuant to the Amended Agreement (defined therein 

as the “Minimum Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Assessor have reviewed the preliminary plans and 

specifications for the Minimum Improvements which it is contemplated will be erected. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Minimum Assessment Agreement, in 

consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements made by each other, do hereby agree as 

follows: 

145



Final Execution Version 35 

1. This Minimum Assessment Agreement amends and restates the Original 

Agreement in its entirety, effective as of date hereof, so that the Original Agreement shall 

immediately terminate, and the parties shall be deemed to have declared the terms and conditions 

of the Original Agreement to have been fully satisfied, and shall be deemed to have waived and 

released any and all claims against each other under the Original Agreement, without the 

necessity of further notice. 

2.  Upon substantial completion of construction of the above-referenced Minimum 

Improvements by the Developer, but no later than January 1, 2020, the minimum actual taxable 

value which shall be fixed for assessment purposes for the Minimum Improvements to be 

constructed on the Development Property by the Developer and the land that together comprise 

the Development Property, shall be not less than Ten Million Fifty-six Thousand and no/100 

Dollars ($10,056,000.00) (hereafter referred to as the “Minimum Actual Value”) until termination 

of this Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The parties hereto expect that the construction of the 

above-referenced Minimum Improvements will be completed on or before December 31, 2019. 

Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the Developer’s rights under Iowa Code Section 

403.6(19) to contest that portion of any actual taxable value assignment made by the Assessor in 

excess of the Minimum Actual Value established herein, or any actual taxable value assignment 

made by the Assessor to the Minimum Improvements or to the 16.16 acres of land, which 

together comprise the Development Property.  In no event, however, shall the Developer seek to 

reduce the actual taxable value assigned below the Minimum Actual Value established herein 

during the term of this Agreement. 

3.  The Minimum Actual Value herein established shall be of no further force and effect 

and this Minimum Assessment Agreement shall terminate on December 31, 2030. 

4.  This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be promptly recorded by the Developer 

with the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa.  The Developer shall pay all costs of recording. 

5.  Neither the preambles nor provisions of this Minimum Assessment Agreement are 

intended to, or shall be construed as, modifying the terms of the Agreement between the City and 

the Developer. 

6.  This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 

the successors and assigns of the parties, and all holders of mortgages upon or security interests in 

the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum Improvements,  to secure any 

loans with respect to the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum 

Improvements. 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: ____________________________________ 

James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

146



Final Execution Version 36 

DEVELOPER: 

BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC. 

A Delaware corporation. 

By: ________________________________________ 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President and CEO 

By:__________________________________________ 

Mark A. Husted, Vice-President and CFO 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2019, 

by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

__________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

STATE OF OHIO ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF SUMMIT ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, by 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President and CEO, and Mark A. Husted, Executive Vice President and CFO 

of Buckeye Corrugated, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

 

____________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio 

 

  

147



Final Execution Version 37 

CERTIFICATION OF ASSESSOR 

The undersigned, having reviewed the plans and specifications for the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed and the market value assigned to such Minimum Improvements, 

and being of the opinion that the minimum market value contained in the foregoing Minimum 

Assessment Agreement appears reasonable, hereby certifies as follows:  The undersigned 

Assessor, being legally responsible for the assessment of the property described in the foregoing 

Minimum Assessment Agreement, upon completion of Minimum Improvements to be made on it 

and in accordance with the Minimum Assessment Agreement, certifies that the actual taxable 

value assigned to such Minimum Improvements and the 16.16 acres of land on which such 

Minimum Improvements are to be constructed, which together comprise the Development 

Property, upon completion shall not be less than $10,056,000.00, until termination of this 

Minimum Assessment Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof. 

_______________________________________ 

County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

_______________________________________ 

Date 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

Subscribed and sworn to before me by _______________________________, County 

Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

_______________________________________ 

Date 

  

148



Final Execution Version 38 

EXHIBIT E 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT 

WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called 

“City”), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization 

of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called “Urban 

Renewal Act”); and BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC., a Delaware corporation  (hereinafter 

called the “Developer”), having its principal place of business at 822 Kumho Drive, Suite 400, 

Fairlawn, OH, 44333, did on or about the _____ day of ______________, 2019, make, execute 

and deliver, each to the other, an Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development (the 

“Amended Agreement”), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of 

the Amended Agreement and the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

(the “Plan”), to develop certain real property located within the City and within the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described as follows: 

All of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 

6 in West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III and all of Lot 7, all of Lot 8, all of Lot 9 

and the West eighty (80.00) feet in even width of Lot 10 in West Viking Road Industrial 

Park Phase IV, all in the East one-half (1/2) of Section Thirty-four (34), Township Eighty-

nine North (T89N), Range Fourteen West (R14W) in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa. Contains 16.16 acres, more or less. 

(the “Development Property”), and 

WHEREAS, the term of the Amended Agreement commenced on the ___ day of 

___________, 2019, and terminates on the 31st day of December, 2030, with respect to the 

Development Property, unless otherwise terminated as set forth in the Amended Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement referring to the 

Development Property and their respective interests therein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for 

Private Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Amended Agreement contains 

provisions restricting conveyance, development and use of the Development Property and the 

improvements located and operated on such Development Property, and contains provisions 

dealing with the dollar amount of the minimum taxable value of the Development Property for 

general property tax purposes, and the length of time during which said minimum assessed value 

continues in effect, as provided for in Section 403.6(19), Code of Iowa. 

2. That all of the provisions of the Amended Agreement and any subsequent 

amendments thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this 

Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof 

by reference, and that anyone making any claim against any of said Development Property in any 

149



Final Execution Version 39 

manner whatsoever shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Amended 

Agreement, and any amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set forth herein. 

3. That a copy of the Amended Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if 

any, shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the office 

of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

4. That this Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 

Development amends and restates in its entirety that certain Memorandum of Agreement for 

Private Development dated September 5, 2017 and recorded at the office of the Black Hawk 

County, Iowa Recorder on October 2, 2017 as Document Number 2018-00005809. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of Amended and 

Restated Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of _______________________, 

2019. 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: _________________________________ 

James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

By: _________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC. 

A Delaware corporation. 

By: ________________________________________ 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President & CEO 

By:  _________________________________________ 

        Mark A. Husted, Executive Vice-President & CFO 

 

 

150



Final Execution Version 40 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2019, 

by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

_________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

STATE OF OHIO ) 

 )  ss: 

COUNTY OF SUMMIT ) 

This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, by 

Douglas A. Bosnik, President and CEO, and Mark A. Husted, Executive Vice President and CFO 

of Buckeye Corrugated, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

____________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio 

 

 

151



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, (319) 273-8600  

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
AND A MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 
(Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 
(Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 
2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 
2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution 19,263 on November 3, 2014, 
amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, and amended a sixth time by 
Resolution No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018, the City Council has approved and adopted an 
urban renewal plan designated as the “Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal 
Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from BUCKEYE CORRUGATED, INC.  
("Developer"), in the form of a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development (the "Agreement") by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and 
the Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, the Developer would agree to construct 
certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located 
within the Urban Renewal Plan as legally described in the Agreement attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference (defined in the Agreement as the "Development 
Property"), consisting of the construction of an Industrial Warehouse and Production Facility 
totaling at least 175,000  square feet of finished space, together with all related site 
improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") 
authorize cities to make loans and grants to developers for economic development purposes in 
furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make 
such expenditures and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the 
purposes of said Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

152



 2 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City, the Developer and the 
Assessor of Black Hawk County, Iowa, enter into a Minimum Assessment Agreement (the 
"Minimum Assessment Agreement"), whereby the minimum actual taxable value of the  
improvements to be constructed thereon would be established at an amount not less than 
$10,056,000.00 for a period through December 31, 2030; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Agreement is in the best interests of 
the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its obligations 
thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan 
and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's performance 
thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and objectives of 
the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into account the 
factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement in 
connection with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, but with such changes, 
modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall be approved by such officers, and that from 

153



 3 

and after the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the 
provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all 
respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are 
hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 
before this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall 
be approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and 
directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary 
to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as 
executed. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2019. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

154



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2019. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2019. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

155



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. (Martin Brothers) Economic 
Development Project 

 
 

INTRODUCTION AND DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 
 
For the past several months, staff has been working with Martin Realty Company II, 
L.L.C. (Martin Brothers) regarding a 5,600 square foot building addition that they are 
constructing to their corporate office facility located at 6623 Chancellor Drive. The 
building addition had a building permit valuation of $1,568,979.00 when a permit was 
issued by the Cedar Falls Building Inspections Department in 2018. 
 
The original 11,500 square foot two-story office building was constructed in 2003, with a 
672 square foot addition built in 2012. The company has seen another need to expand 
the office building, this time constructing an addition to each side of the building, with a 
total area of 5,600 square feet. This will bring the total building size to approximately 
18,000 square feet. In conjunction with the building addition, Martin Brothers is 
expecting to hire additional employees to fill that expanded office space.  
 
Martin Brothers has several different locations in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. The 
company has completed a number of major expansion projects at these locations within 
the last twenty (20) years, including but not limited to: 
 

1998:  Freezer Addition  $   998,000 

2000:  Main Warehouse Addition  $   700,000 
2001:  Dry Goods Addition  $1,600,000 
2003:  Corporate Office (new)  $1,200,000 
2004:  Main Warehouse Addition  $1,820,000 

      2006:         Cash & Carry Store Remodel $   125,000 
      2007:          Warehouse/Freezer Addition $4,800,000 
  2012:  Warehouse Addition  $6,000,000 

156



COMPANY PROFILE 
 

Martin Brothers Distributing Company, Inc. was founded by Roy Martin in 1940 with his 
brother, Glenn, joining soon after. They started their food distributing business out of 
their parents’ barn with an initial investment of $100. Glenn Martin’s first sale was in the 
amount of $0.74. Martin Brothers has come a long way since that beginning. In 1950 
Martin Brothers built their first warehouse on Main Street in downtown Cedar Falls and 
in 1969 a decision was made to build their current warehouse facility on Viking Road 
after joining with Nugget Distributors of America, a major foodservice company. Today, 
Martin Brothers is a family and employee owned company and its products are 
distributed daily to restaurants, schools, health care facilities, governmental agencies, 
and other institutional operations.  
 
In addition to their expansive warehousing operation located at 406 Viking Road, Martin 
Brothers also has their corporate office facility located at 6623 Chancellor Drive, and a 
Food Market located at 6022 Enterprise Drive in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES 
 
Consistent with our ongoing local economic development incentive guidelines, for office 
type projects with valuations of $1,500,000+ the City of Cedar Falls has provided a 5-
Year Partial Property Tax Rebate.  (It should be noted that Industrial projects are 
eligible to file for a Partial Property Tax Exemption directly with Black Hawk County 
under local and Iowa statute while “office type” projects require Tax Rebate Agreements 
with the City).  For the proposed Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. project, the following 
rebate schedule is estimated using the existing commercial tax rate/valuation and 
projecting annual property taxes of $43,714: 
 
 

Tax 
Year  Rebate %  

Rebate $ 
Value  Taxes Paid  Total  

         

1  75%  $32,785  $10,929  $43,714 
2  60%  $26,228  $17,486  $43,714 
3  45%  $19,671  $24,043  $43,714 
4  30%  $13,114  $30,600  $43,714 
5  15%       $6,557   $37,157  $43,714 

    $98,355  $120,215    $218,570 
 
Please note that the tax rebates only apply to the actual amount of property taxes paid 
by Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. as it relates to the building addition only.  Each 
rebate is reviewed annually by staff following submission of proof of payment by Martin 
Realty Company II, L.L.C. 
 

157



 

Conclusion 

 
As this memorandum indicates, Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. (Martin Brothers) has 
begun construction on a 5,600 square foot office addition at its location at 6623 
Chancellor Drive in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. The proposed addition has a 
building permit valuation of $1,568,979.00.  Construction has already commenced and 
is anticipated to be completed this spring. 
 
The Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. has been reviewed by Kevin Rogers, City 
Attorney, along with Nathan Overberg with Ahlers and Cooney Law Firm, and is 
attached for your review and approval. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Community Development Department recommends that the City Council adopt and 
approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 

Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 
Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. 
economic development project, please contact the Community Development 
Department. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
           Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Ethan Dewall, Martin Brothers 
   
           

158



Enterprise Dr

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Performance Dr

Savannah Park Rd

Project Location

Martin Brothers Office
Expansion Project
6623 Chancellor Drive I

159



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND MARTIN REALTY COMPANY II, L.L.C. 

 
 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City has 
undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in this 
connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area known as the 
Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban Renewal 
Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan, as 
amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Area be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by the Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.  
("Developer"), in the form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") 
by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, pursuant to which, 
among other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as 
defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Area as 
legally described in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference 
(defined in the Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of the construction of a  
Corporate/Professional Office Facility Addition totaling at least 5,600 square feet of finished 
space, together with all related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development 
Agreement; and 
 

WHEREAS, one of the obligations of Developer involves job creation/retention on the 
Development Property; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 
conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of up to five (5) consecutive annual payments 
of Economic Development Grants to Developer equivalent to a declining percentage of the tax 
increments  that would be generated by the construction of the Minimum Improvements under 
Iowa Code Section 403.19; and  

 

160



 2 

 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Act") authorize 
cities to make grants to developers for economic development purposes in furtherance of the 
objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make such expenditures 
and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, 
and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as allowed by law, this Council has held a 

public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 
Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or property 
owners as to said proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is now considered 
to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to the provision of the grants under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 

161



 3 

 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed. 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2019. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

162



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2019. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2018. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
01448511-1\10283-002 

163



 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  
 
 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

AND 
 
 

MARTIN REALTY COMPANY II, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

164



2  

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the _____ day of __________________, 2019, by and 

between the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), 

established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called "Urban 

Renewal Act"); and Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"),  an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 

6623 Chancellor Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 

 

 WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in 

this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area 

known as the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or 

“Urban Renewal Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 

Urban Renewal Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer owns certain real property located in the foregoing 

Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A annexed hereto and 

made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as the 

"Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and 

in accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with 

this Agreement by constructing certain Minimum Improvements (as hereafter defined) on 

the Development Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement, are in the vital 

and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 

foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

165



3  

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of 

the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as 

follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, 

all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

 Agreement means this Agreement and all appendices hereto, as the same may be 

from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

 Building Permit Valuation Amount means the amount described in Section 3.2 of 

this Agreement. 

 

 Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

 City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.   

 

 Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2017, as amended. 

 

 Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 

of the construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; 

the plans (a) shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related 

documents which are submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include 

at least the following: (1) site plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan 

for each floor; (5) cross sections of each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and 

(7) landscape plan. 

 

 Corporate/Professional Office Facility Addition means the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

 

 Developer means Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.  

 

 Development Property means that portion of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A hereto. 

 

 Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this 

Agreement. 

166



4  

  

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of a Corporate/Professional 

Office Facility Addition totaling at least 5,600 square feet of finished space, together with 

all related site improvements described in the Construction Plans, to be constructed on the 

Development Property as outlined in Exhibit B hereto. 

 

 Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 

or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

 Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant 

to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees 

and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

 Ordinance shall mean Ordinance(s) of the City under which the taxes levied on the 

taxable property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided, with a portion of said taxes 

to be paid into the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax 

Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of 

Iowa. 

 

 Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 

described in this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 

 

 State means the State of Iowa. 

 

 Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues made available to the 

City for deposit in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax 

Increment Revenue Fund, under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and 

the Ordinance. 

 

 Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Agreement, as provided in 

Section 11.9 of this Agreement. 

 

 Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the Party claiming the delay). 

 

 Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

167



5  

 

 Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, approved in 

respect of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Urban Corridor Renewal Area, described 

in the preambles hereof. 

 

   ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

 Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

 (a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under 

the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power 

to enter into this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

(b) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 

instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 

relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

 

 (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 

provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement 

or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party or by which 

it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

 (d) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without the 

consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

 (e) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body 

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

  

 (f) The Development Property is zoned “M-1, Light Industrial District”. The “M-

1, Light Industrial District” zoning classification permits by right the 

construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum Improvements.  

 

168



6  

 Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer 

makes the following representations and warranties: 

 

(a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, is properly authorized to conduct 

business in the State of Iowa, and has all requisite power and authority to own 

and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as 

presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its 

obligations under the Agreement. 

  

(b) The Developer desires to construct a Corporate/Professional Office Facility 

Addition ("Minimum Improvements") on the Development Property pursuant 

to this Agreement.  

 

(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by 

the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally 

binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its terms, 

except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization 

or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will  they result in a violation or breach of, the terms, 

conditions or provisions of the certificate of organization and operating 

agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the Developer or of any 

contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of 

whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it or its  

properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

 (e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by 

any governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 

decision which could materially adversely affect the business (present or 

prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the 

Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

 

 (f) The Developer has caused or will cause the Minimum Improvements to be 

constructed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban 

169



7  

Renewal Plan and all local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for 

variances necessary to construct the Minimum Improvements contemplated in 

the Construction Plans.  

 

 (g) The Developer has obtained all required permits, licenses and approvals, and 

met all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws and 

regulations which must be obtained or met before the Minimum Improvements 

were lawfully constructed. 

 

 (h) The construction of the Minimum Improvements required a total investment of 

not less than One Million Five Hundred Sixty-Eight Thousand Nine Hundred 

Seventy-Nine Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,568,979.00). 

 

 (i) The Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer with respect to the Development 

Property may or will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation 

(other than those notices, if any, of which the City has previously been notified 

in writing). The Developer is not currently aware of any State or federal claim 

filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, 

State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable 

to the Development Property, and the Developer is not currently aware of any 

violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or 

federal environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (j) The Developer has equity funds and/or has commitments for financing in 

amounts sufficient to successfully complete the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated by 

this Agreement. 

 

 (k) The Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 

connection with the construction and operation of the Minimum 

Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 

with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (l) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed and a certificate of occupancy 

obtained by the
 
1

st
 day of June, 2019. The Minimum Improvements were fully 

assessed as of January 1, 2019. 

 

170



8  

 (m) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

 (n) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 

Developer contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer, and not of any 

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer has caused 

Construction Plans to be provided for the Minimum Improvements and the City has 

approved of the Construction Plans. The Developer agrees that it will cause the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in conformance with the 

Construction Plans submitted to the City.  The Developer agrees that the scope and scale 

of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be significantly less than the 

scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and outlined in the 

Construction Plans, and shall in no event require a total investment of less than One 

Million Five Hundred Sixty-Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Nine Dollars and 

no/100 Dollars ($1,568,979.00). 

 

 Section 3.2  Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer has received a 

building permit from the City in connection with the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements on the Development Property based upon a building permit valuation 

amount (hereinafter the "Building Permit Valuation Amount") of a minimum of One 

Million Five Hundred Sixty-Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Nine Dollars and 

no/100 Dollars ($1,568,979.00).   

 

 Section 3.3.  Completion of Construction.  Subject to Unavoidable Delays, the 

Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements to be completed and a 

certificate of occupancy to be obtained (i) by no later than the
 
1

st
 day of June, 2019, or (ii) 

by such other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing.  Time lost as a 

result of Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend the completion date by a number of 

days equal to the number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  However, an 

extension of the completion of the Minimum Improvements shall not affect the date upon 

which the Assessor's Minimum Actual Value shall become effective.  All work with 

respect to the Minimum Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on 

the Development Property shall be in conformity with the Construction Plans as submitted 

by the Developer and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall permit 

171



9  

designated representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property during the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction. 

 

 Section 3.4.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 

conclusive determination of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of 

this Agreement with respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause construction of 

the Minimum Improvements.  

 

 The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County 

Recorder's office at the Developer's sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide 

a Certificate of Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.4, the City 

shall, within twenty (20) days after written request by the Developer, provide to the 

Developer a written statement indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer 

has failed to complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of 

this Agreement, or is otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what 

measures or acts it will be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for the Developer to take 

or perform in order to obtain such Certificate of Completion.  

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use.  The Developer shall: 

 

(a) Use the Development Property for any lawful use, and devote the 

Development Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the uses 

specified in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

until the Termination Date; and 

 

(b) Not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, gender, age, 

disability or national origin in the sale, lease, or rental or in the use or 

occupancy of the Development Property or any improvements erected or to be 

erected thereon, or any part thereof. 

 

(c) It is intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section shall be covenants running with the land and that they shall, in any 

event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 

otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this 

Agreement, be binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for 

the benefit and in favor of, and enforceable by, the City, its successors and 

assigns, as against every successor in interest to the Development Property, or 

any part thereof or any interest therein, and as against any party in possession 

172



10  

or occupancy of the Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further 

intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in 

subdivisions (a) and (b) of this Section shall remain in effect only through the 

Termination Date. 

 

(d) It is intended and agreed that the City and its successors and assigns shall be 

deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section, both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting 

the interests of the community and other parties, public or private, in whose 

favor or for whose benefit such agreements and covenants have been provided.  

Such agreements and covenants shall run in favor of the City, until the 

Termination Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall be 

in force and effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, 

remains, or is an owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which 

such agreements and covenants relate.  The City shall have the right, in the 

event of any breach of any such agreement or covenant, to exercise all the 

rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions or suits at law or in equity or 

other proper proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach of agreement or 

covenant, to which it or any other beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant 

may be entitled. 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE  

 

 Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

 (a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from 

time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of coverage 

or payment of premiums on): 

 

  (i) Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis", in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the 

date of completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form 

on the so-called "all risk" form of policy;  

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations 

and contractual liability insurance), together with an Owner's 

Contractor's Policy, with limits against bodily injury and property 

damage of at least $2,000,000.  The City shall be named as an 

additional insured for the City's liability or loss arising out of or in any 

way associated with the Minimum Improvements and arising out of any 

173



11  

act, error, or omission of the Developer, its members, managers, 

officers, contractors and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts 

the City may be held responsible (with coverage to the City at least as 

broad as that which is provided to the Developer and not lessened or 

avoided by endorsement).  The policy shall contain a "severability of 

interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other 

insurance maintained by the City. 

 

  (iii) Worker's compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 

 

 (b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to 

be maintained, at its cost and expense  (and from time to time at the request of 

the City shall furnish proof of coverage or the payment of premiums on) 

insurance as follows: 

 

  (i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious 

mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, 

and collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement 

value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a 

deductible amount of not more than $25,000.  No policy of insurance 

shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the 

minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-

insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in 

writing by the City.  The term "full insurable replacement value" shall 

mean the actual replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements 

(excluding foundation and excavation costs and costs of underground 

flues, pipes, drains and other uninsurable items) and equipment, and 

shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not 

more frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant 

or insurer selected and paid for by the Developer and approved by the 

City. 

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any 

injuries resulting from the operation of automobiles or other motorized 

vehicles on or about the Development Property, in the minimum 

amount for each occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000. 

 

174



12  

  (iii) Such other insurance, including worker's compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 

customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 

comparable size and liability exposure. 

 

 (c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance 

companies selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of 

the State to assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit 

annually with the City copies of policies evidencing all such insurance, or a 

certificate or certificates or binders of the respective insurers stating that such 

insurance is in force and effect.  Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, 

each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or modify 

it without giving written notice to the Developer and the City at least thirty 

(30) days before the cancellation or modification becomes effective.  Not less 

than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of any policy, the Developer  shall 

furnish the City evidence satisfactory to the City that the policy has been 

renewed or replaced by another policy conforming to the provisions of this 

Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under the terms hereof.  In lieu 

of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or blanket or 

umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

required herein, in which event the Developer shall deposit with the City a 

certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of 

coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (d) Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum 

Improvements or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  Net 

Proceeds of any such insurance shall be paid directly to the Developer, and 

Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct and  restore the Minimum 

Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition or value as 

they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 

necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, the 

Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs 

thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to casualties that occur 

prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 (e) The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance 

received by Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

 

175



13  

   

       

ARTICLE VI.  OTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

 Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties.   The Developer will maintain, preserve 

and keep the Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear 

and tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, 

renewals and additions, until the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.2 Maintenance of Records.  The Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Developer in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout 

the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection against loss or 

damage to such books of record and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 

for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer will comply with all laws, 

rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and 

regulations the failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting 

therefrom, would not have a material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, 

operations, or condition, financial or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall 

apply for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.4. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real 

property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the 

Development Property acquired and owned by it.  

 

 The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) It will not seek any tax exemption, deferral or abatement, either presently or 

prospectively authorized under any local, State or federal law with respect to 

taxation of real property contained on the Development Property between the 

date of execution of this Agreement and the Termination Date.  The foregoing 

shall not impair any rights to appeal the valuation set by the Black Hawk 

County Assessor as provided by law. 

 

 (b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be 

applicable to the Development Property, Minimum Improvements or to the 

Developer or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any such tax 

statute as a defense in any proceedings, including delinquent tax proceedings. 

176



14  

 

 Section 6.6.   Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay all sales tax payable with respect 

to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Section 6.7.  Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 

assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other 

entities operating any business on the Development Property or any portion thereof, that 

for all periods up to the Termination Date that all utility needs for the 

Corporate/Professional Office Facility Addition shall be furnished from City-owned 

utilities, including electricity, natural gas, water, sanitary sewer, cable television, internet 

and other fiber-optic communications, including telephony (if and when telephony is 

available through City-owned utilities).  Although this shall be the sole source for such 

utility services, the Developer and its successors and assigns, as defined and described in 

this section, shall not, however, have any obligation or duty to use or take any minimum 

amount, and shall have no obligation to pay any amount in excess of the generally 

applicable rates for like users based upon actual use. 

  

 Section 6.8.  Employment Obligations.  Developer shall employ and retain a total 

Monthly Average of at least 3 Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units at the 

Development Property by at least July 1, 2019, until the Termination Date.    

 

 “Full-Time Equivalent Employment Unit” means the employment of one natural 

person: 

 

1. For 8 hours per day for a 5-day, 40-hour workweek for 52 weeks per year, 

including paid holidays, vacations, and other paid leave; or 

2. The number of hours or days per week, including paid holidays, vacations, 

and other paid leave, currently established by schedule, custom, or otherwise, as 

constituting a week of full-time work for the kind of service an individual performs 

for an employing unit, provided that the number of hours per week is at least 32 

hours per week for 52 weeks per year including paid holidays, vacations, and other 

paid leave. 

  

 “Monthly Average” means the average number of Full-Time Equivalent 

Employment Units employed as of October 1 of each year and as of the first day of each 

of the preceding eleven (11) months, as shown in the Annual Certification in Section 6.9 

and in Exhibit D.      

 

 Section 6.9. Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring and performance 

of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of the Developer shall annually provide 

to the City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been 

paid for the prior fiscal year; (b) the current assessed value of improvements on the 

Development Property; (c) certifications of the number of Full-Time Equivalent 

177



15  

Employment Units as of October 1 and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven 

(11) months; and (d) certification that, to the best of such officer’s knowledge during the 

preceding twelve (12) months, the Developer  was not  in default in the fulfillment of any 

of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of Default (or event 

which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of 

Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate or during such 

period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or Event of Default, said officer 

shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period of existence and what action, 

if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect thereto.  Such statement, 

proof and certificate shall be provided not later than November 1 of each year, 

commencing November 1, 2019, and ending on November 1, 2023, both dates inclusive. 

 

 Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel.  Concurrent with execution of this Agreement, 

Developer shall cause its counsel to execute and deliver to City an Opinion of Counsel 

substantially in the form and of the content of Exhibit E attached hereto. 

   

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Representation as to Development. The Developer represents and 

agrees that the improvement of the Development Property, and the other undertakings 

pursuant to this Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose of development of the 

Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The Developer further 

acknowledges: 

 

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 

welfare of the community; 

 

(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available 

by law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; 

and 

 

(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant 

change of control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or 

disposition of the Development Property then owned and operated by the 

Developer, and the qualifications and identity of the Developer are of 

particular concern to the community and the City.  The Developer further 

recognizes that it is because of such qualifications and identity that the City is 

entering into this Agreement with the Developer. 

 

 Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 

Agreement.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4, Transfer of 

Interest in Developer or Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees, for 

178



16  

the foregoing reasons the Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and 

assigns, that prior to termination of the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) Except only for the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the 

Developer to perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum 

Improvements under this Agreement, the Developer (except as so authorized) 

has not made or created, and that the Developer will not, prior to the 

Termination Date, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any total or 

partial sale, assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in 

any other mode or form of or with respect to this Agreement or the 

Development Property, or any part thereof or any interest therein, or any 

contract or agreement to do any of the same, without the prior written 

approval of the City. 

  

(b) The City shall be entitled to require, except as otherwise provided in this 

Agreement, as conditions to any such approval that: 

 

(1) Any proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 

responsibility, as determined by the City, necessary and adequate to 

fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Agreement by the Developer 

(or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate 

to such part). 

 

(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing satisfactory to the 

City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 

and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the 

City, have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer 

under this Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to all the 

conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in 

the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the Development 

Property, such obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent 

that they relate to such part):  Provided, That the fact that any 

transferee of, or any other successor in interest whatsoever to, the 

Development Property, or any part thereof, shall, whatever the 

reason, not have assumed such obligations or so agreed, shall not 

(unless and only to the extent otherwise specifically provided in this 

Agreement or agreed to in writing by the City) relieve or exempt such 

transferee or successor of or from such obligations, conditions, or 

restrictions, or deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any 

rights or remedies or controls with respect to the Development 

Property or the construction of the Minimum Improvements; it being 

the intent of this provision, together with other provisions of this 

179



17  

Agreement, that (to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity and 

excepting only in the manner and to the extent specifically provided 

otherwise in this Agreement) no transfer of, or change with respect 

to, ownership in the Development Property or any part thereof, or any 

interest therein, however consummated or occurring, and whether 

voluntary or involuntary, shall operate, legally or practically, to 

deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any rights or remedies 

or controls provided in or resulting from this Agreement with respect 

to the Development Property and the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements that the City would have had, had there been no such 

transfer or change. 

 

(3) There shall be submitted to the City for review all instruments and 

other legal documents involved in effecting transfer; and if approved 

by the City, its approval shall be indicated to the Developer in 

writing. 

 

Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the 

contrary, no such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the 

Developer, or any other party bound in any way by this Agreement or otherwise with 

respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its obligations 

with respect thereto. 

 

 Section 7.3.  Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, 

this Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City under this 

Article VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines that the 

ability of the Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and its statutory 

duty, as owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with respect to the 

Development Property, or the overall financial security provided to the City under the 

terms of this Agreement, or the likelihood of the Minimum Improvements being 

successfully constructed and operated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be 

materially impaired by the action for which approval is sought. 

 

Section 7.4.  Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in 

Development Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of 

Sections 7.2 and 7.3, the City and the Developer agree that a transfer of ownership of the 

Development Property to a newly established corporation or limited liability company the 

ownership of which consists solely of the members of Developer (the “Permitted 

Transferee”), shall not trigger the provisions of Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, provided, 

however, that any transfer of the Development Property to the Permitted Transferee shall 

require the Permitted Transferee to agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly assume 

all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, and (b) to agree to be subject 

to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the event 

180



18  

the transfer is of or relates to only part of the Development Property, such obligations, 

conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such part). Upon execution of 

an agreement in writing by the Permitted Transferee that (a) assumes all of the obligations 

of the Developer under this Agreement and (b) agrees to be subject to all of the conditions 

and restrictions to which the Developer is subject, the transfer of the Development 

Property, or the part thereof, shall be deemed approved upon delivery of such written 

assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the City.  

 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 

 

 Section 8.1.  Economic Development Grants. For and in consideration of the 

obligations being assumed by the Developer in this Agreement, specifically, the 

Developer’s obligation to construct the Minimum Improvements on the Development 

Property as described in Article III and employing employees therein as described in 

Section 6.8, and in furtherance of the goals and objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan and 

the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject to the Developer being and remaining in 

compliance with the terms of this Agreement and to the terms of this Article VIII as of the 

date of each payment, to make five (5) annual payments to the Developer (“Economic 

Development Grants”).  The grants shall commence on or about May 31, 2021, and shall 

end on or about May 31, 2025, as set forth in the chart below.  Each grant shall be 

calculated as follows: 

(a) First, a Base Grant Amount shall be calculated for the applicable grant as 

follows: taxable value of improvements/buildings on Development Property 

(excluding taxable value of the land) as of the date in column C of the chart 

below minus the Base Value and then multiplied by the Net TIF Levy.   

a. For purposes of this Agreement, the Base Value is the taxable value of the 

improvements/buildings on the Development Property (excluding taxable 

value of the land) as of January 1, 2018, which is $1,158,100. 

b. For purposes of this Agreement, the Net TIF Levy for each Grant shall be 

determined under Iowa Code section 403.19 as of the date in column C of 

the chart below (as an example, as of January 1, 2019 the Net TIF Levy is 

$27.86). 

(b) Second, the Base Grant Amount shall be multiplied by the applicable percentage 

in column D of the chart below to determine the amount of Economic 

Development Grant for the corresponding year. 

 

A B C D 

Date of Payment of 

Grant 

Date of 

Developer’s 

Annual 

Certification Per 

Section 6.9 

Taxable Value of 

Improvements on Development 

Property (excluding land) and 

Net TIF Levy as of the 

Following Date Used to 

Calculate the Base Grant 

Amount of 

Payment as a 

Percentage of  

Base Grant 

Amount 

181



19  

Amount 

1. May 31, 2021 November 1, 2019 January 1, 2019 75% 

2. May 31, 2022 November 1, 2020 January 1, 2020 60% 

3. May 31, 2023 November 1, 2021 January 1, 2021 45% 

4. May 31, 2024 November 1, 2022 January 1, 2022 30% 

5. May 31, 2025 November 1, 2023 January 2, 2023 15% 

 

(c) For example and for illustrative purposes only, because the taxable value of the 

improvements on the Development Property as of January 1, 2019 is $1,559,610, 

then the Base Grant Amount for the May 31, 2021 grant is ($1,559,610 - 

$1,158,100) multiplied by the Net TIF Levy of $27.86, or $11,186. That Base 

Grant Amount would be multiplied by the percentage in column C (75%), to 

result in a May 31, 2021 Grant payment of $8,389.50, provided the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement are satisfied as of the time payment. 

 

(d) Should the Developer successfully protest the assessed value of the 

improvements on the Development Property and be reimbursed by the County for 

overpaid taxes for any fiscal year in which Developer has already received 

Economic Development Grants, the City may: (i) reduce any subsequent Grants 

by an amount equivalent to the portion of the prior Grants that would not have 

been paid if the improvements had originally been assessed at the adjusted value; 

or (ii) recoup from Developer an amount equivalent to the portion of the prior 

Grants that would not have been paid if the improvements had originally been 

assessed at the adjusted value if the set off in (i) is not available or feasible. If 

there is an open PAAB appeal or related proceeding or protest that is unresolved 

as of the Termination Date with respect to any fiscal year for which an Economic 

Development Grant was paid to Developer, this Section 8.1(d) shall survive the 

termination of the Agreement.     

 

(e) Economic Development Grants shall, at all times, be subject to suspension and 

termination, in accordance with the terms of this Article VIII and Article X.   

 

 Section 8.2.  Conditions to Payment of Economic Development Grants. 

 

(a) The obligation of the City to make an Economic Development Grant to the 

Developer under Section 8.1 of this Article in any year shall be subject to and 

conditioned upon all of the following: 

 

(1) the timely filing by the Developer of the annual statement, proof and 

certification required under Section 6.9 hereof and the City Council's approval 

thereof.  If the Developer's annual statement, proof and certification is timely 

filed and contains the information required under Section 6.9 and the City 

Council approves of the same, the City shall certify to the County prior to 

182



20  

December 1 of that year its request for the available Tax Increments resulting 

from the assessments imposed by the County as of January 1 of that year, to 

be collected by the City as taxes are paid during the following fiscal year and 

which shall thereafter be disbursed to the Developer by May 31 of said 

following fiscal year, as shown in the schedule set forth in Section 8.1. 

 

(2) In the event that the annual statement, proof or certificate required to be 

delivered by the Developer under Section 6.9 is not delivered to the City by 

November 1 of any year, the Developer recognizes and agrees that the City 

may have insufficient time to review and approve the same and certify its 

request for Tax Increments to the County and that, as a result, no Economic 

Development Grant may be made to the Developer under Section 8.1 of this 

Article in respect thereof.  The City covenants to act in good faith to 

appropriately review and consider any late certification on the part of the 

Developer, but the City shall not be obligated to make any certification to the 

County for the available Tax Increments or make any corresponding payment 

of the Economic Development Grant to the Developer if, in the reasonable 

judgment of the City, it is not able to give appropriate consideration (which 

may include, but not be limited to, specific discussion before the City Council 

at a regular City Council meeting with respect thereto) to the Developer's 

certification due to its late filing.  In the event Developer fails to timely file an 

annual statement, proof or certificate due to an Unavoidable Delay and, as a 

result, an Economic Development Grant cannot be made, the Developer may 

give written notice to the City and, if the City finds that Developer's failure is 

due to an Unavoidable Delay, the missed Economic Development Grant shall 

be made in the year succeeding the last scheduled Economic Development 

Grant under Section 8.1, subject to Developer's filing under Section 6.9 and 

all other provisions of this Article VIII with respect to such Grant. 

 

(3) In the event that any certificate filed by the Developer under Section 6.9 

discloses, or the City is otherwise aware of, the existence or prior occurrence 

of an Event of Default that was not cured or cannot reasonably be cured under 

the provisions of Section 10.2 (or an event that, with the passage of time or 

giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default that cannot 

reasonably be cured under the provisions of Section 10.2), the City shall have 

no obligation thereafter to make any further payments to the Developer in 

respect of the Economic Development Grants described in this Article VIII, 

and may proceed to take one or more of the actions described in Section 10.2 

hereof. 

 

 

 

 

183



21  

 Section 8.3. Source of Grant Funds Limited.  

 

 (a) The Economic Development Grants described in Section 8.1 of this Agreement 

shall be payable from and secured solely and only by amounts deposited and held in the 

Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund.  

The City hereby covenants and agrees, subject to this subsection, to maintain the 

Ordinance in force during the term hereof to the extent allowed by law, and to apply the 

appropriate incremental taxes collected in the Area to pay the Economic Development 

Grants, as and to the extent set forth in Article VIII hereof.  The Economic Development 

Grants shall not be payable in any manner by other tax increment revenues or by general 

taxation or from any other City funds. Any commercial and industrial property tax 

replacement monies that may be received under chapter 441.21A shall not be included in 

the calculation to determine the amount of Economic Development Grants for which 

Developer is eligible, and any monies received back under chapter 426C relating to the 

Business Property Tax Credit shall not be included in the calculation to determine the 

amount of Economic Development Grants for which Developer is eligible. 

 

 Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by the City 

Council.  The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended by 

the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City’s obligation to 

make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of the 

City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation prior 

to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that installment or 

amount.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are determined by a 

court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such a legal 

indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provisions shall be suspended, and 

the Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 

preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no event of default by the City shall be 

deemed to have occurred as a result thereof. If any provision of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension shall not affect 

other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the suspended 

provision. To this end the provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

 

 (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article VIII hereof, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to the Developer, if at any time 

during the term hereof the City Council fails to appropriate funds or the City receives an 

opinion or decision from a court of competent jurisdiction to the effect that the use of Tax 

Increments to fund an Economic Development Grant to the Developer, as contemplated 

under said Article VIII, is not authorized or otherwise is not an appropriate project activity 

permitted to be undertaken by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or other applicable 

provisions of the Code or Iowa Constitution, as then constituted.  Upon receipt of such an 

opinion, the City shall promptly forward a copy of the same to the Developer.  In the 

event of non-appropriation, or if the circumstances or legal constraints giving rise to the 

184



22  

opinion continue for a period during which two (2) Economic Development Grants would 

otherwise have been paid to the Developer under the terms of Article VIII, the City may 

terminate this Agreement, without penalty or other liability to the Developer, by written 

notice to the Developer. 

 

 (c) The City makes no representation with respect to the amounts that may finally be 

paid to the Developer as the Economic Development Grants under this Article VIII, and 

under no circumstances shall the City in any manner be liable to the Developer so long as 

the City timely applies the Tax Increments actually collected and held in the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund (regardless of 

the amounts thereof) to the payment of the Economic Development Grants to the 

Developer, as and to the extent described in this Article. 

 

 ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 (a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this 

Article IX, the "indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the 

indemnified parties shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property 

or any injury to or death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from 

any defect in the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, 

or any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified 

parties, Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now or 

forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any 

claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any person or 

entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from any violation of any 

agreement or condition of this Agreement by the Developer, including but not 

limited to claims for the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of 

the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or 

employees or any other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements 

due to any act of negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, 

other than any act of negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or 

its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

185



23  

 (d) The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 

 

 Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be "Events of 

Default" under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is 

used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

  

 (a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, 

conditions and limitations of Article III of this Agreement, subject to 

Unavoidable Delays; 

 

 (b) Transfer of the Developer's ownership interest in the Development Property or 

any interest of Developer in this Agreement, or the assets of Developer in 

violation of the provisions of Article VII of this Agreement, until the 

Termination Date; 

 

 (c) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes 

on the Development Property;  

 

 (d) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date to substantially observe or 

perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to 

be observed or performed under this Agreement, including but not limited to 

the job obligations in Section 6.8; 

 

 (e) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure 

proceedings as a result of any default under the applicable Mortgage 

documents; 

 

 (f) The Developer shall: 

 

  (i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 

under the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under 

any similar federal or state law; or 

 

  (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

  (iii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

186



24  

 

  (iv) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state 

law shall be filed in any court and such petition or answer shall not be 

discharged or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a 

receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum 

Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings 

brought against the Developer and shall not be discharged within ninety 

(90) days after such appointment, or if the Developer shall consent to or 

acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

 (g) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement 

or certificate pursuant to this Agreement, shall prove to have been incorrect, 

incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date of the 

issuance or making thereof.   

 

 Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, any party not in default may take 

any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' written notice 

to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the Event of Default, but only if 

the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of 

Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and the party in default does 

not provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the party giving notice that the Event of 

Default will be cured as soon as reasonably possible: 

 

 (a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Agreement 

until it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed adequate by the 

party giving notice, that the party in default will cure the default and continue 

performance under this Agreement; 

 

 (b) The party who is not in default may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

 (c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable 

or administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to recover 

damages proximately caused by the Default, or to enforce performance and 

observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under this Agreement. 

 

 (d) The party who is not in default may terminate the Agreement. 

 

 Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but 

187



25  

each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy 

given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall 

impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such 

right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 

expedient.   

 

 Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, 

such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to 

waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

 Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 

Event of Default occurs and a party not in default shall employ attorneys or incur other 

expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or 

performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default 

herein contained, the party in default agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the 

party not in default the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may 

be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the party not in default in connection 

therewith. 

 

ARTICLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 11.1.  Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 

belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any 

consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the 

City who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the 

Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making 

process or gain insider information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, 

direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be 

performed in connection with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is 

part of this Project at any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

 Section 11.2.  Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation 

of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  The Developer 

shall insure that applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated 

during employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.   

 

 Section 11.3.  Notices.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits any consent, 

approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, "Notice") from one party to 

188



26  

another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt by the 

intended recipient, at the following addresses:    

 

DEVELOPER:  Mr. Brooks Martin 

    Member 

    Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.  

    6623 Chancellor Drive 

    Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613    

 

     

CITY   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    City Administrator 

    220 Clay Street 

    Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 

have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to 

receive a Notice hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for 

receiving the same, at any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change 

notice in accordance with the above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) 

business days prior to the effective date of such change. 

 

 Section 11.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, 

Articles, and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 

and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

 Section 11.5.  Reserved. 

 

 Section 11.6.  Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

 Section 11.7.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 

entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes 

and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written.  

This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties 

hereto. 

 

 Section 11.8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is intended to and shall 

inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 

permitted successors and assigns. 

 

189



27  

 Section 11.9.  Termination Date.  This Agreement shall terminate and be of no 

further force or effect on December 31, 2025, unless terminated earlier under the terms 

hereof. 

 

 Section 11.10.  Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute and 

record a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form 

attached as Exhibit F, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of 

this Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer 

shall pay all costs of recording. 

 

 Section 11.11.  Immediate Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake immediately 

upon execution of this Agreement all of those obligations which require immediate action. 

 

 Section 11.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 

between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 

partnership or joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 

 

 Section 11.13.  Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any 

agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under 

present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision 

shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such 

agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision 

or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, 

invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of such 

agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable 

provision as may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a substitute 

provision is specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

in the event any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit of 

the Developer shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer 

shall have the right to cancel this Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Agreement, 

in its entirety, shall be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall 

proceed as described in Section 10.2(d) of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 11.14.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement has been executed in a 

number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all 

purposes and all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of 

this Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 

counterpart. 

 

 Section 11.15.  Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its 

execution hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as 

190



28  

applicable, including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, 

has been taken to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such 

party of its respective obligations hereunder. 

 

 Section 11.16.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all 

matters described in this Agreement and related documents.  

 

 Section 11.17.  Survival.  Each provision of this Agreement shall survive the 

occurrence of the other provisions of this Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure full 

performance of said surviving provision. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed 

in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by 

its City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its member, all on or as of the day first above written. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

              James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

       

Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C., 

an Iowa limited liability company  

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Brooks Martin, Member 

 

DEVELOPER 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ss.  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

191



29  

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss. 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, 

by Brooks Martin, Member, Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 

company. 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

192



30  

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or 

parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 

of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 3, Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase XIII, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa (Contains 2.87 acres more or less). 

 

 

  

193



31  

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of a 

Corporate/Professional Office Facility Addition totaling at least 5,600 square feet of 

finished space, all as set forth in the Construction Plans and being as more particularly 

shown and in substantially the same configuration and scope as the Site Plans attached 

hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, 

electricity, water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services 

from their present locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as 

Developer deems appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any 

driveway approaches and other paving, at its cost, in accordance with City ordinances.  

 

 The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary 

grading, land preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm 

water detention, signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire 

conformity with all applicable codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer's 

cost.  The submittal to City of plans for the construction of said improvements shall be in 

substantial conformity with the following schedule: 

 

Schedule of Performance 

 

Activity to be Completed    Completion Date 

 

Issuance of Building Permit   August 1, 2018 

 

First Full Assessment    January 1, 2019 

 

Issuance of Occupancy Permit   June 1, 2019 
 

 

194



 

32  

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.,  

(hereinafter called the "Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its 

principal place of business at 6623 Chancellor Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; did on or 

about the _____ day of _______________, 2019, make, execute and deliver, each to the 

other, an Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby 

Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and 

maintain certain real property located within the City and as more particularly described 

as follows: 

 

Lot 3, Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase XIII, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa (Contains 2.87 acres more or less). 

 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and 

restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated 

Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance 

with the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they 

relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City 

to be in conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and 

recording of this certification. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Agreement, this is to certify that all covenants 

and conditions of the Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its 

successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have been completed 

and performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated 

insofar as they apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk 

County is hereby authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this 

instrument, to be a conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the 

covenants and conditions of said Agreement with respect to the construction of the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

195



 

33  

 All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect 

until termination as provided therein. 

 

 (SEAL)    THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

      By: ________________________________ 

             James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK )  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

  

196



 

34  

EXHIBIT D 

DEVELOPER’S ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 
(due by November 1 as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

 

Developer certifies the following:  

 

During the time period covered by this Annual Certification, Developer is and was in compliance with the 

Agreement as follows: 

 

(i) all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property in the Urban Renewal Area have been paid for 

the prior fiscal year (and for the current year, if due) and attached to this Annual Certification are proof of payment of 

said taxes; 

 

(ii) the Minimum Improvements were first fully assessed on January 1, 2019, and the improvements on 

the Development Property are currently assessed at $_________________; 

 

(iii) the number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units employed by Developer at the 

Development Property as of October 1, 20___ and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months 

were are follows: 

 

October 1, 20__: ______   April 1, 20__:_________ 

September 1, 20__:_________  March 1, 20__:_________ 

August 1, 20__:_________      February 1, 20___:________ 

July 1, 20__:_________   January 1, 20__:_______ 

June 1, 20__:_________   December 1, 20__:_______ 

May 1, 20__: __________   November 1, 20__:_______ 
 

(iv)  the undersigned officer of Developer has re-examined the terms and provisions of this Agreement 

and that at the date of such certification, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, certify that Retailer is not, or 

was not, in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of 

Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default) is 

occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certification, or if the signers are aware of any such Event of Default, 

said officers have disclosed the nature thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is 

proposed to be taken with respect thereto. 

 

I certify under penalty of perjury and pursuant to the laws of the State of Iowa that the preceding is true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

 

    

 

By:    _____________________________ 
 

  

197



 

35  

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 

 

City of Cedar Falls 

Attn: City Clerk 

City Hall 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 

 

RE: Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa and Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 

company 

 

Gentlemen: 

 

 As counsel for Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.  (the "Developer"), and in 

connection with the execution and delivery of a certain Development Agreement (the 

"Development Agreement") between the Developer and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the 

"City") dated as of ________________, 2019, we hereby render the following opinion: 

 

 We have examined the original certified copy, or copies otherwise identified to our 

satisfaction as being true copies, of the following: 

 

(a) The certificate of organization and operating agreement, together with 

all amendments thereto, of the Developer; 

 

(b) Resolutions of the members of the Developer at which action was 

taken with respect to the transactions covered by this opinion; 

 

  (c) The Development Agreement; 

 

and such other documents and records as we have deemed relevant and necessary as a 

basis for the opinions set forth herein. 

 

 Based on the pertinent law, the foregoing examination and such other inquiries as we 

have deemed appropriate, we are of the opinion that: 

 

 1. The Developer has been duly organized and is validly existing as a limited 

liability company under the laws of the State of Iowa and is authorized to do business in 

the State of Iowa.  The Developer has full power and authority to execute, deliver and 

perform in full the Development Agreement; and the Development Agreement has been 

198



 

36  

duly and validly authorized by action of the members, have been executed and delivered 

by an authorized manager of the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution 

and delivery by the City, are  in full force and effect and are  valid and legally binding 

instruments of the Developer enforceable in accordance with their  terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or 

affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 2. The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of the 

Development Agreement, and the carrying out of the terms thereof, will not result in 

violation of any provision of, or in default under, the certificate of organization and 

operating agreement of the Developer or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, 

indebtedness, agreement, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule, regulation or restriction to 

which the Developer is a party or by which it or its property is bound or subject. 

 

 3. To our knowledge and after inquiry to Developer, there are no actions, suits 

or proceedings pending or threatened against or affecting the Developer in any court or 

before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body in which there is a reasonable 

possibility of an adverse decision which could materially adversely affect the business 

(present or prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the Development 

Agreement or the Developer's ability to perform its obligations thereunder. 

 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

 

By:______________________________________ 

  

  

199



 

37  

EXHIBIT F 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C.,  

(hereinafter called the "Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its 

principal place of business at 6623 Chancellor Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, did on or 

about the _____ day of ______________, 2019, make, execute and deliver, each to the 

other, an Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby 

Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to develop certain real 

property located within the City and within the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 

Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 3, Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase XIII, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 

County, Iowa (Contains 2.87 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"), and  

 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ___ day of 

___________, 2019, and terminates on the 31st day of December, 2025, with respect to 

the Development Property, unless otherwise terminated as set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement referring 

to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private 

Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions 

restricting conveyance, development and use of the Development Property and the 

improvements located and operated on such Development Property. 

 

 2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone 

making any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever 

shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any 

amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set forth herein.   

 

200



 

38  

 3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if 

any, shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the 

office of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of _______________________, 

2019. 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

               James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 

Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. 

an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Brooks Martin, Member 

 

 

  

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

201



 

39  

STATE OF IOWA    )  

      )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, 

by Brooks Martin, Member, Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 

company. 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 

 

202



From: Hillery Oberle 

Sent: Saturday, February 16, 2019 11:30 AM 
To: Jim Brown 

Cc: Stephanie Sheetz; Karen Howard 
Subject: Re: Planning & Zoning Commission Resignation - Hillery Oberle 

 

Mayor Brown: 

 

After talking with Karen Howard about the timing of my departure from Planning and Zoning, I 

would like to amend my prior letter. I will stay on and serve one more month to help with the 

transition to new commissioners. My final commission meeting will be March 27th. 

 

Please contact me with any questions. 

 

Thank you! 

Hillery 

 

On Jan 30, 2019, at 6:27 PM, Hillery Oberle <hillery.oberle@gmail.com> wrote: 

Dear Mayor Brown, 
  
I am writing to inform you of my decision to resign from the City of Cedar Falls Planning & 
Zoning Commission. My final commission meeting will be Feb. 13th. 
  
My other commitments have become too great for me to be able to give the appropriate time 
and attention to the Planning & Zoning Commission. This is very important work, and it is best 
for me to make room for someone else to contribute to our city and community in this capacity. 
  
I am grateful for having had the opportunity to serve on the Planning & Zoning Commission for 
the last seven years. I am proud of the Commission's actions and its role in shaping the city 
during this time. It's been a pleasure working with the city's Planning Division staff and with my 
fellow commissioners.  
 
Thank you for all you do to make Cedar Falls grow and thrive for the long term. 
  
Sincerely, 
 
Hillery Oberle 
 

203



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: March 8, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Appointment/Reappointment 

 

I am recommending the following appointment and reappointment: 

 

Name: Board/Commission: Term Ending: 
   
Jeanine Johnson Historic Preservation Commission (reappointment) 03/31/2022 
   
Leslie Prideaux Planning & Zoning Commission  

(Effective 04/01/2019 - replaces Hillery Oberle who 
resigned and will be done on 03/31/2019.) 

11/01/2021 

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   
 

 
 

204



205



206



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

March 4, 2019 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:25 p.m. on March 4, 2019, with 
the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom Blanford, Frank 
Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David Wieland.  Staff 
members attended from all City Departments. Tom Nelson with the Waterloo Courier, Leslie 
Prideaux, and other members of the community also attended.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, Planning 
& Zoning Commission Interview – Leslie Prideaux.  Ms. Prideaux stated she is a native of the 
Cedar Valley and currently works at the University of Northern Iowa.  A brief discussion was 
held. 

Mayor Brown introduced the second item on the agenda, 2019 Municipal Operations & 
Programs Work Plan.  Mark Ripplinger Director of Municipal Operations and Programs 
reviewed the Municipal Operations and Programs 2019 Work plan, which included a variety of 
capital improvement projects and regular services they complete each year.  Mayor Brown 
opened it for questions from the Council.  Mr. Ripplinger answered questions about the 
removal of trees in the right of way due to the Emerald Ash Bore (EAB).  He explained the 
severe cold weather may have slowed down the EAB but didn’t eliminate it.  Tom Blanford 
motioned to approve the Municipal Operations and Programs 2019 Work Plan, seconded by 
Susan deBuhr.  The motion carried unanimously.  

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and payroll. Rob Green moved to 
approve the bills as presented, Daryl Kruse seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:44 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

207



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Duke Young Conference Room  

March 4, 2019 
 

The City Council held a special work session in the Duke Young Conference room at 
4:55 p.m. on March 4, 2019, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim 
Brown, Tom Blanford, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse (via telephone), and 
Mark Miller. David Wieland was absent. Staff members attended from all City 
Departments.  Tom Nelson with the Waterloo Courier attended.  

Mayor Brown then introduced the first item on the agenda, Event Insurance.  City 
Attorney Kevin Rogers reviewed a PowerPoint presentation to review the City’s process 
for special events held on City property.  He reviewed how the City regulates this 
through the current ordinances and Risk Management policies.  He reviewed the current 
practice for various types of events. Mr. Rogers stated there are challenges with the 
current practice, including fire code, requirement for a permit and necessary language 
updates to the ordinances and Risk Management policies.   He stated he did reach out 
to other cities on how they handle these types of events.  He stated there are various 
levels of insurance requirements.    Mr. Rogers stated the process should be 
streamlined to simplify the process; with one point of contact at the city and one 
application which should include all the necessary questions.  Mr. Rogers reviewed the 
staff recommendations:  (1) Amend Section 23-3 of the Code of Ordinances to conform 
to Council’s desired regulation; (2) Direct staff to develop special event/street closure 
permit application form which will include various questions; (3) Publicize the new 
requirements once they are adopted; and (4) Enforcement of the new requirements to 
reserve discretion to issue citation to repeat offenders who violate the policy. A brief 
discussion was held and the council was in consensus with the staff recommendations. 

Mayor Brown introduced the second item on the agenda E-Bikes.  Mark Ripplinger 
Director of Municipal Operations & Programs stated there are currently no motorized 
vehicles allowed on the recreation trails.  He explained how the State Code defines 
three classes of motorized bikes and stated they are different than a moped.  Mr. 
Ripplinger stated city staff and Risk Management Committee recommends allowing 
Class I E-bikes to use the trail system.  He stated the Park & Recreation Commission 
review the three classes and recommends allowing Class I and Class II and the Bike 
Pedestrian Committee recommends all three classes be allowed.   Roger White with the 
Bike & Pedestrian Committee stated it is hard to tell the difference in the three types of 
E-bikes other than with speed.  He stated both the City of Hudson and Waterloo are 
reviewing their ordinances.   After a brief discussion the council consensus was to allow 
Class I, Class II and Class III E-bikes.   

There being no further discussion, Rob Green motioned to adjourn the work session, 
Frank Darrah seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously. Mayor Brown 
adjourned the meeting at 6:20 p.m.  

 

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

208



209



210



211



212



213



 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James T. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 12, 2019 

SUBJECT: Temporary Sign Request 
 56th Annual Waterloo –Cedar Falls Coin Show 
  
This office received the attached request from the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club to place 
temporary signs for the 57th Annual Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Show. The event is on 
Sunday, March 31, 2019 at the Waterloo Center for the Arts.  
 
The Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club requests 
permission from the City of Cedar Falls to place 
promotional signing for their upcoming annual Coin 
Show on March 31, 2019. This past year the Coin 
Club teamed up with the Boy Scouts for their “Money 
Night” and the Cedar Falls Public Library to present 
“The History of Coins”. This year, the show will 
feature a special exhibit of Franklin half dollars. The 
coin show is fee admission and open to the public  
 
The signs will be a typical “realtor’s” sign measuring 
24” wide by 32” tall located at the intersections of 
18th and Main; 18th and Waterloo Road; 1st and 
Hudson Road and 1st and Franklin Street. The signs 
will be displayed on Monday, March 25, 2019 and be 
removed on Sunday, March 31, 2019. The signs will be placed in a location that will not 
obstruct the vision of motorists. 
 
The Planning and Community Services Division recommends approval to display the 
temporary signs at the four locations on March 25, 2019 through March 31, 2019 for the Coin 
Show. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact this 
office. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Jeff Olson, Public Safety Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 

214



 

Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club 
March 12, 2019 
 
Mayor and Council 
City of Cedar Falls 
 
The Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club requests permission from the City of Cedar Falls to 
place promotional signing for our upcoming annual Coin Show on March 31 of this year at the 
Waterloo Center for the Arts. Last year's show was our most successful to date, with many 
families joining us for the afternoon. The young numismatists who attended had a great time 
and we made sure no one went home empty handed, with plenty to get them started on their 
own collection. This past year, we continued our collaboration with the Boy Scouts for their 
“Money Night” and we teamed with the Cedar Falls Public Library to present “The History of 
Coins” this past summer. Cedar Falls’ own Matt Zahari will be displaying his outstanding 
collection of Franklin half dollars at our show and will be educating our guests on the history 
of this popular coin. We will have 20 vendors and expect 300 to 400 guests. As always, it is 
free to attend. 
  
We wish to place four signs at the following locations. 
     18th and Main 
     18th and Waterloo Road 
     1st Street and Hudson Road 
     1st Street and Franklin 
  
We would place the signs on Monday before the show and pick them up Sunday afternoon, 
immediately after. The signs are 24 inches wide by 32 inches tall, similar to a typical realtor's 
sign. 
  
We have received positive feedback from show patrons that tell us the signs are very 
effective. 
  
We hope the Council will grant permission for us to promote our show. 
  
Thank you, 
Mark Cooper 
221 Tremont Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 
Secretary/Treasurer of Waterloo-Cedar Falls Coin Club 
  American Numismatic Association and 
Iowa Numismatic Association Member Club 
 

215



 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James T. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 12, 2019 

SUBJECT: Temporary Sign Request 
 Bull Sign – Valley Lutheran School 
  
This office received the attached request to place the Randall’s Bull Sign at 4520 
Rownd Street, Valley Lutheran School on April 12, 2019. The students are planning a 
celebration for the Valley Lutheran School Class of 2019. The school administration has 
approved this request by the students.  
 
The sign will be a large bull with a typical 
changeable-letter sign on wheels. The sign 
will display a message similar to “The class 
of 2019 is mooowing on! If approved, the 
sign will be located on the west side of the 
front parking lot as shown on the photo to 
the right. The sign will be placed in a 
location that will not obstruct the vision of 
motorists. 
 
The Planning and Community Services 
Division recommends approval to display 
the temporary bull sign at 4520 Rownd 
Street on April 12, 2019. 
 
If you have any questions or need 
additional information, please feel free to 
contact this office. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Jeff Olson, Public Safety Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 

 
 
 
 

 

216



 
Mayor and Council 
City of Cedar Falls 
 

Mr. Sturch, 

My name is Ryley, I am a student at Valley Lutheran School. I contacted you last week 
about renting the bull from Randall's. Essentially, the students are planning on making it 
a 'senior going away' sign to put in the grass lot just to the west of the north parking lot 
at Valley Lutheran School on Rownd Street. The marquee will say something like "The 
class of 2019 is moooving on!" We do have approval from the school administration to 
do this, and I believe that the bull has been placed in that location before. We are 
planning on doing this on Friday, April 12. I have not worked out the delivery details with 
Randall's yet, but the plan, if possible, is to have the bull there during the day on April 
12th and return it that evening. I do not know yet if they will deliver it the night before or 
the morning of. If you want me to get that information for you or anything else, let me 
know! 

Thank you, 

Valley Lutheran School Student Representative 
Ryley H. 

 

 

217



218



219



220



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  March 14, 2019 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Class B beer - renewal. 

b) Barn Happy, 11310 University Avenue, Class B native wine - renewal. 

c) Social House, 2208 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

d) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street, Class 
C liquor & outdoor service - new. 

e) Voodoo Lounge, 401 Main Street, Class C liquor - new. 

 

221



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council Members   

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: March 5, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Revised Job Classifications – Director of Public Works & Director of        

                            Community Development  

 
Attached are revised job classifications for the Director of Public Works & the Director 
of Community Development.  This is the first step in the proposed reorganization plan 
that was outlined to City Council during the goal setting process.  This reorganization 
will move the Engineering and Water reclamation divisions in with the Public Works & 
Parks Operations and Maintenance division to create a more traditional Public Works 
department.  The Recreation & Community Programs division and the Visitors & 
Tourism/Cultural division will move to Community Development.  The Planning & 
Community Services division and Inspection Services division will remain in the 
Community Development department.  
 
We are completing these revised job descriptions so the search for the new Director of 
Public Works may begin. We would hope to have the search completed in three to four 
months to allow for training before the retirement of Mark Ripplinger. 
 
The next step in the reorganization process will be to bring forward to City Council the 
revisions of the Code of Ordinances that outline the duties of these new amended 
departments.  We expect these ordinance changes to come forward in April.    
 
If you have any questions regarding the job classifications or reorganization, please feel 
free to contact me.   
 

222



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Municipal Operations   1

 

Job Title Director of Public Works  Job Code 503 

Department Public Works  Pay Band 20 

FLSA Status Exempt  Union Status Non-Union 

Prepared 1/19/1995  Adopted  

Amended 6/12/1995, 8/25/2003, 6/23/2014, 12/17/2018, 03/18/2019 

 
Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties performed by 
employees in the class.  Specifications are not intended to reflect all duties performed within the job. 
 
 

POSITION DEFINITION 

 
Plan, direct, manage, and oversee the activities and operations of the Public Works Department, 
including public works operations and maintenance, parks maintenance and development, golf course 
maintenance and operations, cemetery operations, engineering services, and water reclamation; 
coordinate assigned activities with other city departments and outside agencies, organizations, and the 
general public; provide highly responsible and complex administrative support to the City Administrator. 
 
 

SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 

 
Receives general administrative direction from the City Administrator and policy direction from the City 
Council and Mayor. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over the Operations & Maintenance Manager, City Engineer, and Water 
Reclamation Manager.  
 
 

EXAMPLES OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

 
Important responsibilities and duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

• Assume full management responsibility for all Public Works Department services and activities; 
develop and administer policies and procedures. 
 

• Manage the development and implementation of the Public Works Department goals, objectives, 
policies, and priorities for each assigned service area; establish, within city policy, appropriate 
service and staffing levels; monitor and evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of service 
delivery methods and procedures; allocate resources accordingly. 
 

223



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Municipal Operations   2

• Plan, direct, and coordinate, through subordinate level personnel, the Public Works Department's 
work plan; meet with supervisory staff to identify and resolve problems; assign projects and 
programmatic areas of responsibility; review and evaluate work methods and procedures. 

 

• Assess and monitor work load, administrative and support systems, and internal reporting 
relationships; identify opportunities for improvement; direct and implement changes. 
 

• Oversee and participate in the development and administration of the Public Works Department 
budget; direct the forecast of funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials, and supplies; 
direct, monitor and approve expenditures; direct the preparation of and implement budgetary 
adjustments as necessary. 

 

• Select, motivate, train and evaluate Public Works Department personnel; provide or coordinate 
staff training; work with employees to correct deficiencies; implement discipline and termination 
procedures. 
 

• Participate in the development and administration of the city’s Capital Improvement Program; 
prepare economic analyses, including cost estimates, and recommend sources of funding for the 
Public Works Department's capital projects.  
 

• Review grant applications; actively identify and pursue additional sources of funding for the 
department's programs; develop financing alternatives 
 

• Explain, justify, and defend Public Works Department programs, policies, and activities; negotiate 
and resolve sensitive and controversial issues. 
 

• Represent the Public Works Department to other city departments, elected officials, outside 
agencies, and the general public;  
 

• Provide staff assistance to the City Administrator, Mayor, and City Council; prepare and present 
staff reports and other necessary correspondence; provide staff support to assigned boards, 
commissions, and committees; attend a variety of meetings. 
 

• Answer questions and provide information to the general public; respond to and resolve difficult 
and sensitive citizen inquiries and complaints. 
 

• Direct the development of long and short range planning; oversee development of facilities, 
programs and services as appropriate; evaluate the effectiveness of department programs and 
activities, and revise policies and resource allocations as necessary. 

 

• Represent and act as City’s liaison to a variety of local, state, and federal agencies. 
 
 
OTHER DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

• Attend City Council meetings. 
 

• Attend and participate in professional group meetings; stay abreast of new trends and innovations 
in fields related to department's range of services and operations. 

224



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Municipal Operations   3

 

• Participate in the work of subordinate staff; review plans and specifications on engineering 
programs.  

 

• Perform other duties as assigned. 
 

MINIMUM SKILLS  AND QUALIFICATIONS 

 
REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE 
 

• Operations, services, and activities of a comprehensive engineering, water reclamation,  and 
public works program. 

 

• Management skills to analyze programs, policies, and operational needs. 
 

• Principles and practices of program development and administration. 
 

• Principles and practices of municipal budget preparation and administration. 
 

• Principles of supervision, training, development, and performance evaluation. 
 

• Operations and maintenance procedures of public properties and cemeteries.  
 

• Construction techniques involving streets and roads, drainage systems, and flood control. 
 

• Principles and procedures of facility and fleet maintenance. 
 

• Principles and procedures of refuse collection, recycling, and traffic signals and signage. 
 

• Personnel management procedures and techniques. 
 

• Recent developments, current literature and sources of information related to public works and  
park planning and administration. 

 

• Principles and practices of public works, engineering, water reclamation and parks maintenance 
management. 

 

• Pertinent federal, state, and local laws, codes and regulations. 
 
 
ABILITY TO PERFORM 
 

• Delegate authority and responsibility. 
 

• Prepare clear and concise administrative and financial reports. 
 

• Prepare and administer large and complex budgets. 
 

225



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Municipal Operations   4

• Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, and project consequences of proposed actions 
and implement recommendations in support of goals. 

 

• Interpret and apply federal, state, and local policies, laws, and regulations. 
 

• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 

• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of work 
including city and other government officials, community groups, the general public and media 
representatives. 

 

• Respond professionally to citizens and the public as situations arise. 
 
 

EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 

 
MINIMUM EXPERIENCE 
 
Eight years of increasingly responsible experience in civil engineering, water reclamation,  or public works 
and parks program development and implementation, including at least three years of administrative and 
supervisory responsibility. 
 
MINIMUM EDUCATION OR FORMAL TRAINING 
 
Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university in civil engineering, parks and recreation,  
public works administration, public administration, business administration, economics, or a related field. 
Master’s degree preferred.  
 
LICENSES/CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED 
 
Possession of an appropriate, valid driver's license. 
 
 

WORKING CONDITIONS AND ENVIRONMENT 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 
 
Office/field environment; work closely with others; work alone; irregular work hours; may occasionally be 
exposed to loud noises (>85dB), adverse and extreme weather conditions, working near moving 
equipment or vehicles, hazardous or toxic fumes, odors, or chemicals; may be exposed to contagious 
herbage diseases including poison oak. 
 
PHYSICAL CONDITIONS 
 
Functions of this position require maintaining physical condition necessary for standing, walking, and 
sitting for prolonged periods of time; occasional kneeling and bending during work activities; general 
manual dexterity required for typing for prolonged periods of time.  

226



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Community Development   1

 

Job Title 
Director of Community 
Development 

 Job Code 502 

Department Community Development  Pay Band 20 

FLSA Status Exempt  Union Status Non-Union 

Prepared 1/19/1995  Adopted  

Amended 6/12/1995, 7/1/1998, 8/25/2003, 6/23/2014, 12/17/2018, 03/18/2019 

 
Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties performed by 
employees in the class.  Specifications are not intended to reflect all duties performed within the job. 
 
 

POSITION DEFINITION 

 
Plan, direct, manage, and oversee the activities and operations of the Community Development 
Department, including  planning & community Services, inspection services, recreation programs and 
services, visitors and tourism, and cultural services; coordinate assigned activities with other city 
departments and outside agencies; and provide highly responsible and complex administrative support to 
the City Administrator. 
 
 

SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED 

 
Receives general administrative direction from the City Administrator and policy direction from the City 
Council and Mayor. 
 
Exercises direct supervision over the Planning & Community Services Manager, Inspection Services 
Manager, Recreation & Community Programs Manager,  and Visitors  & Tourism/Cultural Programs 
Manager.  
 
 

EXAMPLES OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

 
Important responsibilities and duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

• Assume full management responsibility for all Community Development Department activities; 
assist with  economic development activities and negotiations;  recommend and administer 
policies and procedures. 

 

• Manage the development and implementation of Community Development Department goals, 
objectives, policies, and priorities for each assigned service area; consult with the City 

227



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Community Development   2

Administrator, Mayor, City Council, and other city officials in the development of overall policies 
and procedures to govern the activities of the department. 
 

• Establish, within city policy, appropriate service and staffing levels; monitor and evaluate the 
efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery methods and procedures; allocate resources 
accordingly. 

 

• Plan, direct, and coordinate, through subordinate level managers, the Community Development 
Department's work plan; assign projects and programmatic areas of responsibility; review and 
evaluate work methods and procedures; meet with management staff to identify and resolve 
problems. 

 

• Assess and monitor work load, administrative and support systems, and internal reporting 
relationships; identify opportunities for improvement; direct and implement changes. 

 

• Select, train, motivate, and evaluate Community Development Department personnel; provide 
direction to the department’s managerial staff; work with employees to correct deficiencies; 
implement discipline and termination procedures. 

 

• Oversee and coordinate the development and administration of the Community Development 
Department budget; approve the forecast of funds needed for staffing, equipment, materials, and 
supplies; approve expenditures and implement budgetary adjustments as appropriate and 
necessary. 

 

• Participate in the development and administration of the city’s Capital Improvement Program; 
prepare economic analyses, including cost estimates, and recommend sources of funding for the 
Community Development Department's capital projects.  

 

• Review grant applications; actively identify and pursue additional sources of funding for the 
department's programs; develop financing alternatives. 

 

• Participate in economic development programs for the city; assist in contacting and marketing the 
city to outside agencies and enterprises. 

 

• Explain, justify, and defend Community Development Department programs, policies, and 
activities; negotiate and resolve sensitive and controversial issues; present programs and market 
department's services and activities. 

 

• Represent the Community Development Department and act as a liaison to other city depart-
ments, elected officials and outside agencies; coordinate activities with those of other 
departments and outside agencies including but not limited to:  Iowa Department of 
Transportation, Economic Development Administration, Federal Highway Administration, Iowa 
Northland Regional Council of Governments, Cedar Valley Partnership, Black Hawk County, and 
the Federal Environmental Protection Agency.  

 

• Provide staff assistance to and plan and coordinate department activities with the City 
Administrator, Mayor, and City Council; participate on a variety of boards, commissions, and 
committees; prepare and present staff reports and other necessary correspondence. 

 

228



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Community Development   3

OTHER DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

• Attend City Council meetings. 
 

• Participate in and complete special projects for the city. 
 

• Attend and participate in professional group meetings; stay abreast of new trends and innovations 
in the fields related to department’s range of services and operations.   

 

• Participate in the work of subordinate staff; assist in creating economic development programs; 
review program and facility budgets; work on the development of programs and exhibits.  
 

• Oversee code enforcement and housing/block grant programs. 
 

• Perform other duties as assigned. 
 
 

MINIMUM SKILLS  AND QUALIFICATIONS 

 
REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE 
 

• Operational characteristics, services, and activities of comprehensive planning, building 
inspection, community services, and human and leisure servicesprograms.  

 

• Modern and complex principles and practices of public sector management. 
 

• Organizational and management principles and practices as applied to the development, 
administration, analysis, and evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs. 

 

• Methods and techniques of effective grant application and proposal preparation. 
 

• Advanced principles and practices of municipal budget preparation and administration. 
 

• Principles of supervision, training, and performance evaluation. 
 

• Management skills to analyze programs, policies, and operational needs. 
 

• Pertinent federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations. 
 

• Recent developments, current literature and sources of information related to recreation, visitors 
and tourism, and cultural services planning and administration. 
 

• Principles and practices of planning, inspections, recreation, and visitors & tourism/cultural 
program management. 
 
 
 

 

229



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Community Development   4

ABILITY TO PERFORM 
 

• Delegate authority and responsibility. 
 

• Prepare clear and concise administrative and financial reports. 
 

• Prepare and administer large and complex budgets. 
 

• Analyze problems, identify alternative solutions, project consequences of proposed actions and 
implement recommendations in support of goals. 

 

• Interpret and apply federal, state, and local policies, laws, and regulations. 
 

• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing. 
 

• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of work 
including city officials, employees, business leaders, civic groups, and the general public. 
 

• Respond professionally to citizens and the public as situations arise. 
 
 

EXPERIENCE AND TRAINING GUIDELINES 

 
MINIMUM EXPERIENCE 
 
Eight years of increasingly responsible experience in urban planning, community development, inspection 
services, or human and leisure services, including at least three years of administrative and supervisory 
experience. 
 
MINIMUM EDUCATION OR FORMAL TRAINING 
 
Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university in urban planning, parks and recreation, fine 
arts, public administration, business administration, economics, or related field.  Master’s degree 
preferred.  
 
LICENSES/CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED 
 
Possession of an appropriate, valid driver’s license.  
 
 

WORKING CONDITIONS AND ENVIRONMENT 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 
 
Office environment utilizing standard office equipment, such as computers, phones, and photocopiers; 
irregular work hours. 
 

230



 

 

JOB CLASSIFICATION 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls Job Classification – Director of Community Development   5

PHYSICAL CONDITIONS 
 
Functions of this position may require maintaining physical condition necessary for sitting, standing, or 
walking for prolonged periods of time; occasional kneeling and bending during work activities; general 
manual dexterity required for typing for prolonged periods of time. 
 

231



232



1 
 

FACILITIES USE AGREEMENT 

By entering into this agreement, Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (NEI3A), an, Iowa not for 

profit corporation, does contract with the City of Cedar Falls  (Landlord) to use facilities owned and 

maintained by Landlord, at the location locally known as _528 Main Street Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613 on 

the following terms and conditions: 

Facility Use: Use of Community Center for congregate meal and home delivered meal program and for 

use of activities.  

1. TERM The term of this Agreement is from March 6, 2019_ through June 30,2021.  Either party 

may terminate this agreement upon 60 days’ notice.   

2. RENT Rent shall be paid by NEI3A in the amount of (in-kind) per month  

 

3. ADDITIONAL COSTS PAID BY NEI3A.  As incurred and billed by Landlord, NEI3A shall also pay the 

actual month cost for indicated premises cost: Monthly pest control. 

 

OR 

 

 __ all costs associated with facilities use are included in the amount of the rent,  

  

 

4. LANDLORD CONTACT PERSON Until otherwise notified in writing, Landlord's authorized 

contact person(s) for this Agreement shall be: 

 

Name   Kelly Stern, Library Director, Cedar Falls Public Library 

Address   524 Main Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

Telephone Number(s) 319-268-5541 

E-mail   director@cedarfallslibrary.org 

 

5. NEI3A CONTACT PERSON    Until otherwise notified in writing, NEI3A's authorized contact 

person(s) for this Agreement shall be: 

Name   Bob Schaffe 

Address   2101 Kimball Avenue 

Telephone Number(s) Waterloo, IA  50702 

E-mail   bschaffer@nei3a.org 

 

 

  

 

6. FACILITIES SPACE INCLUDED The facilities being rented are: 

 

233



2 
 

 ___X all facilities at the above address or 

 ___ the room(s) or portions of the facility described as follows: 

  ________________________________________________ 

  ________________________________________________ 

  ________________________________________________ 

  ________________________________________________ 

 

7. ADDITIONAL AMENITIES INCLUDED The facilities rental shall also include: 

 

 _X_ adjacent parking sufficient or parking patron parking 

 _X_ snow removal for adjacent sidewalks 

 _X_ on-site general storage sufficient to store meal supplies: coffee, napkins food 

boxes, bingo prizes 

___ office supplies and Senior Center Activities Supplies. 

 _X_ on-site exclusive storage sufficient to store decorations, records storage 

 _X_ on-site locked storage sufficient to store Office supplies, computer, printer 

 __ on-site exclusive locked storage sufficient to store __________________ 

 __ dedicated land-line telephone 

 _X_ shared land-line telephone 

 _X_ long distance telephone use 

 __ wireless internet service 

 _X_ wired internet service 

 _X_ janitorial service 

 __ clean-up after events 

 _X_ garbage removal service  

 _X_ building directory listing 

 __ signage 

 _X_ bulletin board(s) 

 __ space for signage to be located on ________________________________ 

_X_ furniture and equipment as follows Office desk and chair, community center 

tables and chairs 

 __ premises security  

 _x_ heat 

 _x_ electricity 

234



3 
 

 _x_ water and sewer 

 _x_ other as follows: __Front office space_________________________________ 

 

8. KEYS Keys shall be provided by Landlord in the following number:  

 __ for outside entrance door  #___ 

 __ for the portion of the building to be used for NEI3A's events and activities #___ 

 __ for locked storage areas # ___ 

 _X_ Master key 

All keys shall be returned to Landlord at the termination of the Agreement.  

 

9. DAYS AND HOURS OF USE The days and hours of facility use shall be limited to: 

 

_x__ A.  

 

Mondays   9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Tuesdays   9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Wednesdays   9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Thursdays   9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

Fridays    9:30__ o'clock  A M.  to ___12:30__ o'clock  PM 

and as mutually agreed in writing in advance.   The hours of use include the time for any related 

set-up and clean-up.  Except for items stored in included storage facilities as set out above, all 

items brought into the facility by NEI3A must be removed at the end of the stated time. 

OR 

 

___  B.  From 8:00 a.m. the first day of this Agreement to midnight on the last day of this 

Agreement with hours of use as may be determined by NEI3A. 

 

10. SUBLEASE   NEI3A shall have the right and the ability to sub-lease all or a portion of the premises 

and shall provide Landlord with notice of the sub-lease and copies of all written sub-lease 

documents. 

 

11. COMPLIANCE WITH CODES AND RESTRICTIONS    NEI3A agrees to ensure that the fire code will 

not be exceeded in any space at any time, health codes will be followed, and further agrees to 

abide by maintaining the facilities as being smoke free. 

 

12. LANDLORD'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREMISES Landlord shall keep the premises in good repair, 
including the roof, exterior walls, foundation, sewer, plumbing, heating, wiring, air conditioning, 
plate glass, windows and window glass, parking area, driveways, sidewalks, exterior decorating, 
interior decorating, stairs, elevators, and common areas.    

235



4 
 

 
13. NEI3A LIABILITY FOR LOSS OR DAMAGE AND INSURANCE NEI3A assumes liability for loss 

or damage to Landlord's property that results from use of facilities and agrees to hold Landlord 

harmless for loss or damage to the persons or property of its employees and guests while on the 

premises except those caused by Landlord's negligence or failure to maintain the structural 

premises.  NEI3A agrees to obtain and maintain commercial general liability insurance in the 

amounts of $1,000,000 each occurrence and $1,000,000 annual aggregate per location.  This 

policy shall be endorsed to include the Landlord as an additional insured with regard to the 

facilities rented. 

 

14. INSURANCE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY Landlord and NEI3A agree to insure their respective real 
and personal property for the full insurable value.  The insurance shall cover losses included in 
the special form causes of loss (formerly all risks coverage).  To the extent permitted by their 
policies, the Landlord and Tenant waive all rights of recovery against each other. 
 

15. INDEMNIFICATION :  NEI3A will protect, defend, and indemnify Landlord from and against any 
and all loss, costs, damage and expenses occasioned by, or arising out of, any accident or other 
occurrence causing or inflicting injury or damage to any person or property, happening or done 
in, upon or about the premises, due directly to the operations/events/activities and actions of 
NEI3A.  Landlord will protect, defend, and indemnify NEI3A from and against any and all loss, 
costs, damage and expenses occasioned by, or arising out of, any accident or other occurrence 
causing or inflicting injury or damage to any person or property, happening or done in, upon or 
about the premises, not caused by negligence of operations/activities/events/actions of NEI3A. 
 

16. OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  

 

a.NEI3A will notify the library director if the center will be closed or will open late.   

b. No food should be left out at the end of the NEI3A employee’s shift. 

c. The refrigerator used by NEI3A for senior meals should be cleaned as needed. 

d. The coffee pot should be turned off before the NEI3A employee leaves.   

 
17. GOVERNING LAW This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of Iowa. 

 
18. HEADINGS Paragraph headings are for convenience only and shall not be construed as part 

of the contract terms. 
 

19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT This constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and 
supersedes any prior written or oral agreement. 
 

20.  CERTIFICATION.  NEI3A certifies that it is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any 

person, group, entity or nation named by any Executive Order or the United States Treasury 

Department as a terrorist, “Specially Designated National and Blocked Person” or any other 

banned or blocked person, entity, nation or transaction pursuant to any law, order, rule or 

236



5 
 

regulation that is enforced or administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control; and it is not 

engaged in this transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, or instigating or facilitating this 

transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person, group, entity or nation.  NEI3A 

hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all 

claims, damages, losses, risks, liabilities and expenses arising from or related to any breach of 

this certification. 

 

Landlord     Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, Inc.  

by______________________________  by ________________________________  

Dated ________    Dated ______      

237



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: W. 1
st
 Street Reconstruction Project - Property Acquisitions 

  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1

st
 Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 

project is in the final design phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The utilities and other 
infrastructure work will be started early next year. The road construction will take place in 2019-
2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four lane to a five lane 
facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) properties and partial 
acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Appraisals and offers are gradually being sent to the properties affected by this corridor 
reconstruction project. The owners of the following properties have accepted our offer. 
 
 
Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

26 SMN 43, LLC 815 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Permanent Easement 
Temporary Easement 
Tennant Agreement 

48 Dorinda and Thomas A Pounds 704-706 W 1
st
 Street Permanent Easement 

49 J and M Bodensteiner LLC 714 W. 1
st
 Street Permanent Easement 

 
Attached is a map that identifies the location of these properties. 
 
The City will use federal funds for the design and right of way portion of this project. Per an 
agreement with the DOT approved on August 7, 2017, the city will be the lead in property 
acquisition and design. All eligible project costs will be split 50% City and 50% DOT which 
includes engineering, right of way, construction and construction administration. The city signed 
as agreement with Snyder and Associates on September 5, 2017 for these services. Funds for 
this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program in FY18 and FY20 

238



under item number 91. If approved, the City Attorney will prepare the necessary closing 
documents and staff will complete the acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 
the acquisitions and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the W. 1

st
 Street 

reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



Ol
ive

 St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt
 St

W 4th St

N 
Co

lle
ge

 St

Co
tta

ge
 G

rvElm St

Pa
rk

Dr

Edgewood St

Linda Dr

W 3rd St

Theimer St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

Pine St

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Fr
an

cis
 St

Fo
rre

st 
Rd

Di
vis

ion
 St

W 3rd St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Ida St

Pe
ar

l S
t

Oak St

Parkway Ave

Ell
en

 St

Iow
a S

t

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Ge
ne

vie
ve

 St

Fr
an

kli
n S

t

N 
Fr

an
cis

 S
t

NE llen St

S Park Rd

Edgewood St

N 
Di

vis
ion

 S
t

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Ba
ke

r D
r

Parkway Ave

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Higby Dr

Crescent Dr

Center St

75
74 6973

68
67

72 66 6571 64 63 62
61

60
59 58

57 56
55

54
52

51
50 49 48 47 46

45
4144

43

252 3 4 5 7 8 26 299 30 31
10

11
12

13
14

15
16

17
18

19 20
21

22
23 24

1

77
42

28

76 70
53

5 6
27

I

Signed
Submitted for Approval
Condemnation

261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineering Technician II  
 
 DATE: March 13, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair  
  City Project Number SA-002-3182 
   
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to repair the Sanitary Sewer for Oak Park. The 
project will require the acquisition of temporary easements from 4 properties to 
complete repairs. This project is scheduled to start in August of 2019 and be completed 
in the spring of 2020.  
 
We recommend that the City Council approve and execute Parcel 1-4 Temporary 
Easements and record at the black hawk county courthouse.  
 
 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 Mike Nyman, Manager Cedar Falls WRF 
 

271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: March 12, 2019 
 
 RE: IA HWY 57/W. 1st Street Reconstruction Project 
  Iowa DOT Project No. NHSX-057-2(29)-3H-07 
  Iowa DOT Bid Acknowledgement 
 
On February 19th, 2019 at 10:00 a.m., bids were received and opened by the Iowa 
Department of Transportation for the IA Highway 57/ West 1st Street Reconstruction 
Project. A total of 2 bids were received, with Peterson Contractors Inc. submitting the 
apparent low bid: 
 

 Bid Total 

Peterson Contractors Inc. $13,561,862.40  

K. Cunningham Construction, Inc.  $14,772,104.62  

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was originally $12,325,711.25. Peterson 
Contractors Inc. bid of $13,561,862.40 is 10.0% above the Engineer's Estimate.  
 
The Iowa Department of Transportation recommended the acceptance of the apparent 
low bid from Peterson Contractors Inc. in the amount of $13,561,862.40. The project 
funding is split with the Iowa Department of Transportation, per our agreement with 
them approved by Council on November 5, 2018. The City portion of funding comes 
from various sources as outlined in the Capital Improvements Program; which include 
GO Bonds, Sewer Revenue Bonds, and Local Option Sales Tax. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development  

 

307



TABULATION OF BIDS

IA Hwy 57/W 1st St Reconstruction and Widening Project

City of Cedar Falls

Project No. 117.0908

Bid Date/Time: February 19, 2019 at 10:00 AM

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1 Clearing and Grubbing ACRE 0.2 25,000.00$       5,000.00$                  100,000.00$      20,000.00$           35,000.00$        7,000.00$             

2 Clearing and Grubbing UNIT 2429 25.00$              60,725.00$                25.00$               60,725.00$           15.00$               36,435.00$           

3 Excavation, Class 10, Roadway and Borrow CY 2914 10.00$              29,140.00$                15.00$               43,710.00$           6.00$                 17,484.00$           

4 Excavation, Class 10, Waste CY 14264 15.00$              213,960.00$              25.00$               356,600.00$         12.50$               178,300.00$         

5 Topsoil, Strip, Salvage, and Spread CY 3671 8.00$                29,368.00$                30.00$               110,130.00$         30.00$               110,130.00$         

6 Compaction Backfill Adjacent to Structures CY 200 20.00$              4,000.00$                  30.00$               6,000.00$             30.00$               6,000.00$             

7 Compaction with Moisture Control CY 2914 1.00$                2,914.00$                  3.00$                 8,742.00$             3.00$                 8,742.00$             

8 Special Compaction of Subgrade STA 60.1 1,250.00$         75,125.00$                1,000.00$          60,100.00$           750.00$             45,075.00$           

9 Modified Subbase CY 14489.5 43.00$              623,048.50$              50.00$               724,475.00$         35.00$               507,132.50$         

10 Shoulder Finishing, Earth STA 107.64 250.00$            26,910.00$                150.00$             16,146.00$           100.00$             10,764.00$           

11 Removal of Curb STA 17.8 600.00$            10,680.00$                800.00$             14,240.00$           800.00$             14,240.00$           

12 Relocation of Mail Boxes EACH 2 400.00$            800.00$                     750.00$             1,500.00$             750.00$             1,500.00$             

13 Pavement Scarification SY 109.4 50.00$              5,470.00$                  60.00$               6,564.00$             60.00$               6,564.00$             

14 Std/S-F PCC Pav't, Class C , Class 3 Durability, 8 In. SY 3436 65.00$              223,340.00$              65.00$               223,340.00$         59.95$               205,988.20$         

15 Std/S-F PCC Pav't, Class C , Class 3 Durability, 10 In. SY 33100.2 75.00$              2,482,515.00$           55.00$               1,820,511.00$      49.50$               1,638,459.90$      

16 PCC Pavement Sample LS 1 5,000.00$         5,000.00$                  3,500.00$          3,500.00$             3,500.00$          3,500.00$             

17 Pay Adj I/D-PCC Pav't Thickness, 10 In. EACH 33000 1.00$                33,000.00$                1.00$                 33,000.00$           1.00$                 33,000.00$           

18 PCC Pavement Widening, 10 In. SY 827 80.00$              66,160.00$                75.00$               62,025.00$           68.30$               56,484.10$           

19 Temporary Pavement SY 3340.8 60.00$              200,448.00$              80.00$               267,264.00$         79.55$               265,760.64$         

20 Surfacing, Driveway, Class C Gravel TON 1449 40.00$              57,960.00$                35.00$               50,715.00$           35.00$               50,715.00$           

21 Pay Adj I/D-PCC Pav't Smoothness EACH 27000 1.00$                27,000.00$                1.00$                 27,000.00$           1.00$                 27,000.00$           

22 Removal of Concrete Footings of Light Poles EACH 13 750.00$            9,750.00$                  1,000.00$          13,000.00$           500.00$             6,500.00$             

23 Removal of Existing Handrail LS 1 5,000.00$         5,000.00$                  15,000.00$        15,000.00$           5,000.00$          5,000.00$             

24 Removal of Existing Structures LS 1 15,000.00$       15,000.00$                100,000.00$      100,000.00$         25,000.00$        25,000.00$           

25 Removal of Light Poles EACH 12 1,000.00$         12,000.00$                400.00$             4,800.00$             400.00$             4,800.00$             

26 Compaction with Moisture Control (Structures) CY 200 10.00$              2,000.00$                  10.00$               2,000.00$             10.00$               2,000.00$             

27 Structural Concrete (Concrete Steps) CY 30.2 750.00$            22,650.00$                950.00$             28,690.00$           950.00$             28,690.00$           

28 Structural Concrete (RCB Culvert) CY 67.3 750.00$            50,475.00$                575.00$             38,697.50$           575.00$             38,697.50$           

29 Reinforcing Steel (Concrete Steps) LB 559 1.50$                838.50$                     1.00$                 559.00$                1.00$                 559.00$                

30 Reinforcing Steel (RCB Culvert) LB 12332 1.50$                18,498.00$                2.00$                 24,664.00$           1.10$                 13,565.20$           

31 Ornamental Metal Railing LF 909 250.00$            227,250.00$              200.00$             181,800.00$         128.02$             116,370.18$         

32 Modular Block Retaining Wall SF 3294 45.00$              148,230.00$              36.00$               118,584.00$         36.00$               118,584.00$         

33 Manhole, Sanitary Sewer, SW-301, 48 In. EACH 21 6,000.00$         126,000.00$              7,500.00$          157,500.00$         5,750.00$          120,750.00$         

34 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401, 48 Inch EACH 4 4,000.00$         16,000.00$                4,500.00$          18,000.00$           3,750.00$          15,000.00$           

35 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401, 60 Inch EACH 1 6,000.00$         6,000.00$                  6,000.00$          6,000.00$             5,400.00$          5,400.00$             

36 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401, 72 Inch EACH 2 8,000.00$         16,000.00$                7,500.00$          15,000.00$           6,750.00$          13,500.00$           

37 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-401, 84 Inch EACH 1 12,000.00$       12,000.00$                10,000.00$        10,000.00$           8,800.00$          8,800.00$             

38 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-402 Modified (10' X 4') EACH 1 15,000.00$       15,000.00$                15,000.00$        15,000.00$           12,000.00$        12,000.00$           

39 Manhole, Storm Sewer, SW-405 (72" Dia) EACH 1 5,000.00$         5,000.00$                  12,500.00$        12,500.00$           9,750.00$          9,750.00$             

40 Intake, SW-501 EACH 5 4,000.00$         20,000.00$                5,000.00$          25,000.00$           4,250.00$          21,250.00$           

41 Intake, SW-503 EACH 2 4,500.00$         9,000.00$                  6,000.00$          12,000.00$           5,500.00$          11,000.00$           

42 Intake, SW-509 EACH 37 6,000.00$         222,000.00$              6,000.00$          222,000.00$         5,250.00$          194,250.00$         

43 Intake, SW-511 EACH 3 4,000.00$         12,000.00$                5,000.00$          15,000.00$           4,250.00$          12,750.00$           

44 Intake, SW-511, Top Only EACH 1 2,000.00$         2,000.00$                  3,500.00$          3,500.00$             3,500.00$          3,500.00$             

45 Intake, SW-512, 24 Inch EACH 1 2,500.00$         2,500.00$                  3,000.00$          3,000.00$             3,000.00$          3,000.00$             

46 Intake, SW-541  EACH 5 6,000.00$         30,000.00$                7,500.00$          37,500.00$           5,750.00$          28,750.00$           

47 Manhole Adjustment, Major EACH 1 1,500.00$         1,500.00$                  5,000.00$          5,000.00$             2,500.00$          2,500.00$             

48 Connection to Exist Manhole EACH 1 1,000.00$         1,000.00$                  3,000.00$          3,000.00$             2,200.00$          2,200.00$             

49 Connection to Exist Intake EACH 1 1,000.00$         1,000.00$                  3,000.00$          3,000.00$             2,200.00$          2,200.00$             

50 Removal of Subdrain LF 7088 2.00$                14,176.00$                4.00$                 28,352.00$           4.00$                 28,352.00$           

51 Subdrain, Perforated Plastic Pipe, 4 In. Dia. LF 8652 18.00$              155,736.00$              12.50$               108,150.00$         10.00$               86,520.00$           

UNIT PRICE

PETERSON CONTRACTORS INC

1 2

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
K. CUNNINGHAM CONSTRUCTION 

CO, INC

UNIT PRICE

Page 1 of 4

308



TABULATION OF BIDS

IA Hwy 57/W 1st St Reconstruction and Widening Project

City of Cedar Falls

Project No. 117.0908

Bid Date/Time: February 19, 2019 at 10:00 AM

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICEUNIT PRICE

PETERSON CONTRACTORS INC

1 2

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
K. CUNNINGHAM CONSTRUCTION 

CO, INC

UNIT PRICE

52 Subdrain Outlet, Dr-303 EACH 77 200.00$            15,400.00$                250.00$             19,250.00$           195.00$             15,015.00$           

53 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, RCP 2000d,15 In. LF 3177 80.00$              254,160.00$              55.00$               174,735.00$         52.50$               166,792.50$         

54 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, RCP 2000d,18 In. LF 1884 90.00$              169,560.00$              57.50$               108,330.00$         50.00$               94,200.00$           

55 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, RCP 2000d,24 In. LF 877 100.00$            87,700.00$                90.00$               78,930.00$           90.00$               78,930.00$           

56 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, RCP 2000d,30 In. LF 160 120.00$            19,200.00$                200.00$             32,000.00$           175.00$             28,000.00$           

57 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, Rcp 2000d,36 In. LF 32 170.00$            5,440.00$                  350.00$             11,200.00$           300.00$             9,600.00$             

58 Storm Swr G-Main,Trenched, RCP 2000d,72 In. LF 78 450.00$            35,100.00$                1,000.00$          78,000.00$           575.00$             44,850.00$           

59 Removal of Storm Sewer Pipe LE 36 In. LF 2706 20.00$              54,120.00$                75.00$               202,950.00$         75.00$               202,950.00$         

60 Remove Storm Sewer Pipe Greater than 36 In. LF 84 50.00$              4,200.00$                  240.00$             20,160.00$           240.00$             20,160.00$           

61 Storm Swr Abandonment, Fill+Plug, LE 36 In. LF 1637 40.00$              65,480.00$                24.00$               39,288.00$           24.00$               39,288.00$           

62 San Swr G-Main, Trenched, PVC, 10 In. LF 3710 100.00$            371,000.00$              150.00$             556,500.00$         130.00$             482,300.00$         

63 San Swr Service Stub, PVC, 4 In. LF 3635 60.00$              218,100.00$              125.00$             454,375.00$         100.00$             363,500.00$         

64 Rmv San Swr Pipe LE 36 In. LF 698 20.00$              13,960.00$                125.00$             87,250.00$           120.00$             83,760.00$           

65 San Swr Abandonment, Fill+Plug, LE 36 In. LF 2818 15.00$              42,270.00$                30.00$               84,540.00$           28.50$               80,313.00$           

66 Engineering Fabric SY 72.8 5.00$                364.00$                     2.50$                 182.00$                2.50$                 182.00$                

67 Revetment, Class E TON 47.8 50.00$              2,390.00$                  50.00$               2,390.00$             50.00$               2,390.00$             

68 Removal of Pavement SY 29670 10.00$              296,700.00$              10.00$               296,700.00$         8.50$                 252,195.00$         

69 Removal of Intakes and Utility Accesses EACH 54 1,000.00$         54,000.00$                600.00$             32,400.00$           600.00$             32,400.00$           

70 Removal of Recreational Trail SY 463 10.00$              4,630.00$                  8.00$                 3,704.00$             8.00$                 3,704.00$             

71 Recreational Trail, PCC, 5 In. SY 788 45.00$              35,460.00$                34.00$               26,792.00$           31.50$               24,822.00$           

72 Removal of Sidewalk SY 5758 10.00$              57,580.00$                8.00$                 46,064.00$           8.00$                 46,064.00$           

73 Sidewalk, P.C. Concrete, 4 In. SY 5708 45.00$              256,860.00$              40.00$               228,320.00$         40.50$               231,174.00$         

74 Sidewalk, P.C. Concrete, 6 In. SY 628 65.00$              40,820.00$                45.00$               28,260.00$           69.60$               43,708.80$           

75 Detectable Warnings SF 560 40.00$              22,400.00$                38.00$               21,280.00$           35.00$               19,600.00$           

76 Curb And Gutter, P.C. Concrete, as Per Plan LF 1377 45.00$              61,965.00$                38.00$               52,326.00$           38.00$               52,326.00$           

77 Driveway, PCC, 7 Inch SY 1384 60.00$              83,040.00$                39.75$               55,014.00$           55.65$               77,019.60$           

78 Driveway, PCC, 8 Inch SY 2651 65.00$              172,315.00$              41.00$               108,691.00$         56.85$               150,709.35$         

79 Removal of Paved Driveway SY 7137 8.00$                57,096.00$                8.00$                 57,096.00$           8.00$                 57,096.00$           

80 Combined Concrete Sidewalk and Retaining Wall CY 104 1,250.00$         130,000.00$              950.00$             98,800.00$           1,035.00$          107,640.00$         

81 Railroad Approach Section , P.C.C. SY 104.5 200.00$            20,900.00$                200.00$             20,900.00$           200.00$             20,900.00$           

82 Safety Closure EACH 81 150.00$            12,150.00$                150.00$             12,150.00$           150.00$             12,150.00$           

83 Fence, Chain Link, 48 In. Height LF 154 175.00$            26,950.00$                22.00$               3,388.00$             22.00$               3,388.00$             

84 Fence, Safety LF 14618 2.50$                36,545.00$                4.00$                 58,472.00$           4.00$                 58,472.00$           

85 Entrance Bollard EACH 1 1,000.00$         1,000.00$                  1,500.00$          1,500.00$             1,750.00$          1,750.00$             

86 Removal of Fence, Chain Link LF 272 25.00$              6,800.00$                  4.25$                 1,156.00$             4.25$                 1,156.00$             

87 Removal of Fence, Wood LF 131 10.00$              1,310.00$                  3.75$                 491.25$                3.75$                 491.25$                

88 Field Laboratory EACH 1 50,000.00$       50,000.00$                8,500.00$          8,500.00$             25,000.00$        25,000.00$           

89 Lighting Poles EACH 22 6,000.00$         132,000.00$              3,900.00$          85,800.00$           39,000.00$        858,000.00$         

90 Electrial Circuits LF 6653 5.00$                33,265.00$                9.00$                 59,877.00$           9.00$                 59,877.00$           

91 Remove and Reinstall Sign as Per Plan EACH 72 300.00$            21,600.00$                200.00$             14,400.00$           200.00$             14,400.00$           

92 Removal of Type A Sign EACH 16 200.00$            3,200.00$                  50.00$               800.00$                50.00$               800.00$                

93 Wood Posts for Type A or B Signs, 4 In. X 4 In. LF 1367 30.00$              41,010.00$                12.00$               16,404.00$           12.00$               16,404.00$           

94 Type A Signs, Sheet Aluminum SF 129 25.00$              3,225.00$                  12.00$               1,548.00$             12.00$               1,548.00$             

Page 2 of 4

309



TABULATION OF BIDS

IA Hwy 57/W 1st St Reconstruction and Widening Project

City of Cedar Falls

Project No. 117.0908

Bid Date/Time: February 19, 2019 at 10:00 AM

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICEUNIT PRICE

PETERSON CONTRACTORS INC

1 2

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
K. CUNNINGHAM CONSTRUCTION 

CO, INC

UNIT PRICE

95 Install Type A Sign EACH 22 200.00$            4,400.00$                  50.00$               1,100.00$             50.00$               1,100.00$             

96 Traffic Signalization LS 1 180,000.00$     180,000.00$              300,000.00$      300,000.00$         172,000.00$      172,000.00$         

97 Removal of Traffic Signalization LS 1 20,000.00$       20,000.00$                65,000.00$        65,000.00$           3,000.00$          3,000.00$             

98 Construction Survey LS 1 80,000.00$       80,000.00$                100,000.00$      100,000.00$         73,500.00$        73,500.00$           

99 Painted Pav't Mark, Waterborne/Solvent STA 99.2 4,960.00$         492,032.00$              75.00$               7,440.00$             75.00$               7,440.00$             

100 Painted Pavement Markings, Durable STA 115.38 200.00$            23,076.00$                250.00$             28,845.00$           250.00$             28,845.00$           

101 Wet Retroreflective Removable Tape Markings STA 246.58 150.00$            36,987.00$                125.00$             30,822.50$           125.00$             30,822.50$           

102 Painted Symbol and Legend, Durable EACH 40 250.00$            10,000.00$                350.00$             14,000.00$           350.00$             14,000.00$           

103 Pavement Markings Removed STA 163.75 40.00$              6,550.00$                  90.00$               14,737.50$           90.00$               14,737.50$           

104 Symbols and Legends Removed EACH 6 150.00$            900.00$                     100.00$             600.00$                100.00$             600.00$                

105 Grooves Cut for Pavement Markings STA 115.38 100.00$            11,538.00$                80.00$               9,230.40$             80.00$               9,230.40$             

106 Grooves Cut for Symbols and Legends EACH 40 100.00$            4,000.00$                  150.00$             6,000.00$             150.00$             6,000.00$             

107 Traffic Control LS 1 95,000.00$       95,000.00$                350,000.00$      350,000.00$         103,000.00$      103,000.00$         

108 Flaggers EACH 50 480.00$            24,000.00$                480.00$             24,000.00$           480 24,000.00$           

109 Temporary Lane Separator System LF 12773 8.50$                108,570.50$              7.75$                 98,990.75$           7.75$                 98,990.75$           

110 Portable Dynamic Message Sign (PDMS) CDAY 42 60.00$              2,520.00$                  100.00$             4,200.00$             100.00$             4,200.00$             

111 Patches, Full Depth Finish, By Area SY 630 150.00$            94,500.00$                94.00$               59,220.00$           119.00$             74,970.00$           

112 Patches, Full Depth Finish, By Count EACH 18 250.00$            4,500.00$                  3,000.00$          54,000.00$           750.00$             13,500.00$           

113 Mobilization LS 1 350,000.00$     350,000.00$              1,350,000.00$   1,350,000.00$      3,700,000.00$   3,700,000.00$      

114 Building Sanitary Sewer Service Reconnection EACH 76 500.00$            38,000.00$                1,250.00$          95,000.00$           1,250.00$          95,000.00$           

115 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 4", Restrained Joints LF 42 60.00$              2,520.00$                  75.00$               3,150.00$             70.00$               2,940.00$             

116 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 6", Restrained Joints LF 28 80.00$              2,240.00$                  75.00$               2,100.00$             60.00$               1,680.00$             

117 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 8", Restrained Joints LF 657 100.00$            65,700.00$                75.00$               49,275.00$           60.00$               39,420.00$           

118 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 12" LF 1804 110.00$            198,440.00$              75.00$               135,300.00$         65.00$               117,260.00$         

119 Water Main, Trenched, Dip, 12", Restrained Joints LF 2969 120.00$            356,280.00$              80.00$               237,520.00$         75.00$               222,675.00$         

120 Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 16", Restrained Joints LF 66 150.00$            9,900.00$                  150.00$             9,900.00$             125.00$             8,250.00$             

121 Water Main, Trenchless, DIP, 8" LF 560 200.00$            112,000.00$              175.00$             98,000.00$           175.00$             98,000.00$           

122 Water Main, Trenchless, DIP, 16" LF 100 250.00$            25,000.00$                250.00$             25,000.00$           250.00$             25,000.00$           

123 Water Main with Casing Pipe, Trenchless, DIP, 12" LF 100 250.00$            25,000.00$                460.00$             46,000.00$           460.00$             46,000.00$           

124 Fittings By Count, DI, 11.25 Degree Bend, 8" EACH 2 1,000.00$         2,000.00$                  750.00$             1,500.00$             750.00$             1,500.00$             

125 Fittings By Count, DI, 12" X 12" Tee EACH 1 2,000.00$         2,000.00$                  1,400.00$          1,400.00$             1,400.00$          1,400.00$             

126 Fittings By Count, DI 12" X 4" Tee EACH 1 1,250.00$         1,250.00$                  1,150.00$          1,150.00$             1,150.00$          1,150.00$             

127 Fittings By Count, DI, 12" X 6" Reducer EACH 1 1,250.00$         1,250.00$                  900.00$             900.00$                900.00$             900.00$                

128 Fittings By Count, DI, 12" X 8" Cross EACH 1 1,500.00$         1,500.00$                  1,400.00$          1,400.00$             1,400.00$          1,400.00$             

129 Fittings By Count, DI, 12" X 8" Tee EACH 11 1,500.00$         16,500.00$                1,250.00$          13,750.00$           1,250.00$          13,750.00$           

130 Fittings By Count, DI, 16" X 12" Reducer EACH 1 2,000.00$         2,000.00$                  1,300.00$          1,300.00$             1,300.00$          1,300.00$             

131 Fittings By Count, DI, 22.50 Degree Bend, 8" EACH 1 1,000.00$         1,000.00$                  800.00$             800.00$                800.00$             800.00$                

132 Fittings By Count, DI, 4" X 3" Reducer EACH 1 1,000.00$         1,000.00$                  1,400.00$          1,400.00$             1,400.00$          1,400.00$             

133 Fittings By Count, DI, 45 Degree Bend, 12" EACH 26 1,250.00$         32,500.00$                1,100.00$          28,600.00$           1,100.00$          28,600.00$           

134 Fittings By Count, DI, 45 Degree Bend, 16" EACH 3 1,500.00$         4,500.00$                  1,700.00$          5,100.00$             1,700.00$          5,100.00$             

135 Fittings By Count, DI, 45 Degree Bend, 8" EACH 18 1,000.00$         18,000.00$                750.00$             13,500.00$           750.00$             13,500.00$           

136 Fittings By Count, DI, 8" X 4" Reducer EACH 3 1,000.00$         3,000.00$                  700.00$             2,100.00$             700.00$             2,100.00$             

137 Fittings By Count, DI, 8" X 6" Reducer EACH 3 1,000.00$         3,000.00$                  700.00$             2,100.00$             700.00$             2,100.00$             

138 Fittings By Count, DI, 90 Degree Bend, 12" EACH 1 1,250.00$         1,250.00$                  1,200.00$          1,200.00$             1,200.00$          1,200.00$             

139 Fittings By Count, DI, 90 Degree Bend, 4" EACH 3 750.00$            2,250.00$                  650.00$             1,950.00$             650.00$             1,950.00$             

140 Fittings By Count, DI, 90 Degree Bend, 6" EACH 4 750.00$            3,000.00$                  700.00$             2,800.00$             700.00$             2,800.00$             

141 Fittings By Count, DI, 90 Degree Bend, 8" EACH 10 1,000.00$         10,000.00$                800.00$             8,000.00$             800.00$             8,000.00$             

142 Fittings By Count, DI, 90 Degree Bend, 16" EACH 2 1,500.00$         3,000.00$                  1,900.00$          3,800.00$             1,900.00$          3,800.00$             

143 Water Service Stub, Copper, 1-1/4 In. EACH 2 2,500.00$         5,000.00$                  3,100.00$          6,200.00$             3,100.00$          6,200.00$             

144 Water Service Stub, Dip, 4 In. EACH 2 4,000.00$         8,000.00$                  7,100.00$          14,200.00$           7,100.00$          14,200.00$           

Page 3 of 4

310



TABULATION OF BIDS

IA Hwy 57/W 1st St Reconstruction and Widening Project

City of Cedar Falls

Project No. 117.0908

Bid Date/Time: February 19, 2019 at 10:00 AM

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICE TOTAL PRICEUNIT PRICE

PETERSON CONTRACTORS INC

1 2

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE
K. CUNNINGHAM CONSTRUCTION 

CO, INC

UNIT PRICE

145 Water Service Stub, Copper, 3/4 In. EACH 58 2,000.00$         116,000.00$              3,300.00$          191,400.00$         3,300.00$          191,400.00$         

146 Water Service Stub, Copper, 1 In. EACH 6 2,250.00$         13,500.00$                3,300.00$          19,800.00$           3,300.00$          19,800.00$           

147 Water Service Stub, Copper, 1-1/2 In. EACH 2 2,500.00$         5,000.00$                  4,600.00$          9,200.00$             4,600.00$          9,200.00$             

148 Valve, Gate, DIP, 16 In. EACH 2 3,000.00$         6,000.00$                  6,900.00$          13,800.00$           6,900.00$          13,800.00$           

149 Valve, Gate, DIP, 4 In. EACH 1 1,500.00$         1,500.00$                  1,400.00$          1,400.00$             1,400.00$          1,400.00$             

150 Valve, Gate, DIP, 6 In. EACH 1 1,750.00$         1,750.00$                  1,600.00$          1,600.00$             1,600.00$          1,600.00$             

151 Valve, Gate, DIP, 8 In. EACH 15 2,000.00$         30,000.00$                1,900.00$          28,500.00$           1,900.00$          28,500.00$           

152 Valve, Gate, DIP, 12 In. EACH 19 2,500.00$         47,500.00$                2,850.00$          54,150.00$           2,850.00$          54,150.00$           

153 Fire Hydrant Assembly, WM-201 EACH 27 6,000.00$         162,000.00$              5,300.00$          143,100.00$         5,300.00$          143,100.00$         

154 Valve Box Extension EACH 2 250.00$            500.00$                     500.00$             1,000.00$             500.00$             1,000.00$             

155 Removal of Entrance Bollard EACH 4 500.00$            2,000.00$                  125.00$             500.00$                125.00$             500.00$                

156 Remove and Salvage Street Bench EACH 1 2,000.00$         2,000.00$                  700.00$             700.00$                725.00$             725.00$                

157 Subdrain Cleanout, Type I EACH 3 400.00$            1,200.00$                  400.00$             1,200.00$             400.00$             1,200.00$             

158 Removal of Water Main LF 4855 10.00$              48,550.00$                17.50$               84,962.50$           17.50$               84,962.50$           

159 Combined Concrete Ramp with Handrail LS 1 25,000.00$       25,000.00$                75,000.00$        75,000.00$           55,000.00$        55,000.00$           

160 Vibration Monitoring LS 1 15,000.00$       15,000.00$                100,000.00$      100,000.00$         45,000.00$        45,000.00$           

161 Concrete Retaining Wall Formliner SF 1260 10.00$              12,600.00$                5.60$                 7,056.00$             5.60$                 7,056.00$             

162 Temporary Access Drive, Installation TON 472 40.00$              18,880.00$                23.50$               11,092.00$           23.50$               11,092.00$           

163 Temporary Access Drive, Removal TON 472 10.00$              4,720.00$                  10.00$               4,720.00$             10.00$               4,720.00$             
164 Mowing ACRE 16.6 750.00$            12,450.00$                400.00$             6,640.00$             40.00$               664.00$                

165 Mulching, Mechanically-Bonded Fiber Matrix ACRE 8.3 5,000.00$         41,500.00$                4,000.00$          33,200.00$           4,000.00$          33,200.00$           

166 Sodding SQ 1811.2 100.00$            181,120.00$              80.00$               144,896.00$         80.00$               144,896.00$         

167 Stabilize Crop - Seed+Fertilize (Urban) ACRE 8.3 2,500.00$         20,750.00$                2,000.00$          16,600.00$           2,000.00$          16,600.00$           

168 Water-Sod/Spec Ditch Cntl/Slope Protect MGAL 1811.2 60.00$              108,672.00$              60.00$               108,672.00$         60.00$               108,672.00$         

169 Mobilization for Watering EACH 10 350.00$            3,500.00$                  350.00$             3,500.00$             350.00$             3,500.00$             

170 Stabilized Construction Entrance LF 200 35.00$              7,000.00$                  22.00$               4,400.00$             22.00$               4,400.00$             

171 Perimeter+Slope Sediment Cntl Device,12 In. LF 5395 3.00$                16,185.00$                4.00$                 21,580.00$           3.95$                 21,310.25$           

172 Rmvl of Perimeter+Slope Sedimnt Cntl Dev LF 5395 0.25$                1,348.75$                  0.80$                 4,316.00$             0.80$                 4,316.00$             

173 Temp Intake or Manhole Cover Assembly EACH 84 250.00$            21,000.00$                600.00$             50,400.00$           772.50$             64,890.00$           

174 Maint of Temp Intake or Manhole Cover Assembly EACH 84 100.00$            8,400.00$                  50.00$               4,200.00$             50.00$               4,200.00$             

175 Rmvl of Temp Intake or Manhole Cover Assembly EACH 84 50.00$              4,200.00$                  350.00$             29,400.00$           350.00$             29,400.00$           

176 Open-Throat Curb Intake Sediment Filter LF 420 10.00$              4,200.00$                  10.00$               4,200.00$             8.50$                 3,570.00$             

177 Maint of Open-Throat Curb Intake Sediment Filter EACH 42 100.00$            4,200.00$                  25.00$               1,050.00$             25.00$               1,050.00$             

178 Rmvl of Open-Throat Curb Intake Sediment Filter EACH 42 50.00$              2,100.00$                  25.00$               1,050.00$             25.00$               1,050.00$             

179 Grate Intake Sediment Filter Bag EACH 12 250.00$            3,000.00$                  175.00$             2,100.00$             175.00$             2,100.00$             

180 Maintenance of Grate Intake Sediment Filter Bag EACH 12 100.00$            1,200.00$                  25.00$               300.00$                25.00$               300.00$                

181 Removal of Grate Intake Sediment Filter Bag EACH 12 50.00$              600.00$                     25.00$               300.00$                25.00$               300.00$                

182 Mobilizations, Erosion Control EACH 40 500.00$            20,000.00$                500.00$             20,000.00$           500.00$             20,000.00$           

183 Mobilizations, Emergency Erosion Control EACH 10 1,000.00$         10,000.00$                1,000.00$          10,000.00$           1,000.00$          10,000.00$           

1831 Brick Pavers with PCC Base SY 84 125.00$            10,500.00$                200.00$             16,800.00$           198.00$             16,632.00$           

1832 Salvage, Removal, and Disposal of Obsrtctions on Parcel # LS 1 35,000.00$       35,000.00$                75,000.00$        75,000.00$           24,000.00$        24,000.00$           

1833 Salvage, Removal, and Disposal of Obsrtctions on Parcel # LS 1 35,000.00$       35,000.00$                75,000.00$        75,000.00$           20,000.00$        20,000.00$           

1834 Salvage, Removal, and Disposal of Obsrtctions on Parcel # LS 1 35,000.00$       35,000.00$                75,000.00$        75,000.00$           20,000.00$        20,000.00$           

185 Site 01 Incentive Bonus LS 1 37,000.00$       37,000.00$                37,000.00$        37,000.00$           37,000.00$        37,000.00$           

186 Site 02 Incentive Bonus LS 1 100,000.00$     100,000.00$              100,000.00$      100,000.00$         100,000.00$      100,000.00$         

186 Site 03 Incentive Bonus LS 1 100,000.00$     100,000.00$              100,000.00$      100,000.00$         100,000.00$      100,000.00$         

186 Site 04 Incentive Bonus LS 1 100,000.00$     100,000.00$              100,000.00$      100,000.00$         100,000.00$      100,000.00$         

TOTAL BID: 12,325,711.25$         13,561,862.40$    14,772,104.62$    

Page 4 of 4

311



 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Surface Transportation Block Grant Programming Funding Request 
 Main Street Reconstruction 
 
The Department of Community Development is planning the reconstruction of Main 
Street from W. 6th Street to Seerley Boulevard, currently planned in our Capital 
Improvements Plan to kick off in a couple of years.  
 
As we prepare for this future project, staff is considering outside funding sources that 
might be a good fit.  This project qualifies for federal Surface Transportation Block Grant 
funds (STBG). The City intends to submit a request for STBG funds through the Black 
Hawk County Metropolitan Area Policy Board (MPO) for the design and construction of 
this roadway. The attached resolution identifies the City’s commitment to this project. 
This endorsement is part of the application process for this reconstruction project. This 
project is listed in the FY 19-24 Capital Improvements Program. 
 
Therefore, we ask that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution 
authorizing the Mayor to submit an application for Surface Transportation Block Grant 
funds for the design and construction of Main Street.  
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact this office. 

312



 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

APPROVING APPLICATION TO THE BLACK HAWK COUNTY METROPOLITAN AREA 

TRANSPORTATION POLICY BOARD FOR SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BLOCK 

GRANT PROGRAM FUNDING AND DIRECTING EXECUTION OF SAID APPLICATION 

BY THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

WHEREAS, reconstruction of Main Street has been identified as a critical project for the City of 

Cedar Falls; and 

WHEREAS, the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area Transportation Policy Board (MPO) 

provides Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) Program funds on a competitive basis for 

projects to preserve and improve the conditions and performance on any Federal-aid highway, 

bridge projects on any public road, pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure, and transit capital 

projects; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Cedar Falls to avail itself of financial 

assistance through the Surface Transportation Block Grant Program as administered by the Black 

Hawk County MPO. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as follows: 

 

1) The STBG application for the Main Street reconstruction project is hereby approved and 

endorsed by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

2) The improvement provided for in this application will be dedicated to public use and 

adequately maintained by the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

3) The City of Cedar Falls assures the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area 

Transportation Policy Board that funds for the local match have been or will be 

committed to the STBG project by the fiscal year programmed. 

 

4) The Mayor is hereby designated as the official representative of the City and is further 

hereby directed and authorized to affix their signature to said application. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ______ day of _________, 2019. 

 

              

                                                                             James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

313



 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) Funding Request 
 Lake Street Trail Project 
 
The Department of Community Development is planning to install new asphalt on the 
Lake Street trail from Central Avenue to the Big Woods north parking lot. This hot mix 
asphalt will cover the existing granular surface to create a smooth surface for 
pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
The City intends to submit a request to fund this trail project with Transportation 
Alternatives Program (TAP) funds through the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area 
Policy Board (MPO). This project qualifies for federal TAP and the attached resolution 
identifies the City’s commitment to this project. This endorsement is part of the 
application process for this trail project. This project is listed in the FY 19-24 Capital 
Improvements Program. 
 
Therefore, we ask that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution 
authorizing the Mayor to submit an application for Transportation Alternatives Program 
funds for the construction of the Lake Street trail. 
  
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact this office. 

314



 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

APPROVING APPLICATION TO THE BLACK HAWK COUNTY METROPOLITAN AREA 

TRANSPORTATION POLICY BOARD FOR IOWA’S TRANSPORTATION 

ALTERNATIVES PROGRAM FUNDING AND DIRECTING EXECUTION OF SAID 

APPLICATION BY THE CEDAR FALLS CITY COUNCIL 

 

WHEREAS, the Lake Street Trail project has been identified as a critical project for the City of 

Cedar Falls; and 

WHEREAS, funding assistance is available through the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area 

Transportation Policy Board’s Iowa’s Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP), and the City 

of Cedar Falls is in need of such assistance in order to complete this project; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Cedar Falls to avail itself of financial 

assistance through the Iowa’s Transportation Alternatives Program as administered by the Black 

Hawk County MPO; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as follows: 

 

1) The Iowa’s TAP application for the Lake Street Trail project is hereby approved and 

endorsed by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

2) The improvement provided for in this application will be dedicated to public use and 

adequately maintained by the City of Cedar Falls for a minimum of twenty years. 

 

3) The City of Cedar Falls assures the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area 

Transportation Policy Board that funds for the match have been or will be committed to 

the Iowa’s TAP project by the fiscal year programmed. 

 

4) The Mayor is hereby designated as the official representative of the City and is further 

hereby directed and authorized to affix their signature to said application. 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ______ day of _________, 2019. 

 

              

                                                                             James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

315



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

SUBJECT: Farm Lease Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Michael 
Greiner 

 
    
As you will recall the City of Cedar Falls recently acquired 127.34 cropland acres of land 
from the Rieger family just west of the West Viking Road Industrial Park (see attached 
location map). The City has begun planning for the development of this property, 
however site work is not planned to begin until spring of 2020. Therefore, a Request for 
Proposals was sent out to solicit interest in farming the land for the 2019 crop season.  
 
The Request for Proposals was sent to twenty-seven (27) local farmers and a Public 
Notice was published in the Waterloo Courier.  A total of ten (10) completed proposals 
were received by the City of Cedar Falls.   
 
The highest bid was received from Michael Greiner in the amount of $326.00 per acre 
($41,512.84) annually.  The proposal from Michael Greiner meets all the established 
criteria for proper maintenance and management of the City owned land. 
 
City Attorney Kevin Rogers has prepared the attached Farm Lease Agreement between 
Michael Greiner and the City of Cedar Falls. Michael Greiner has reviewed the 
agreement and is agreeable to the Farm Lease terms and conditions.   
 
Therefore, the Department of Community Development recommends that the City 
Council adopt a Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Farm Lease 
Agreement between Michael Greiner and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
       Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 
 

316



Venture Way

Technology Pkwy

Viking Rd

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Capital Way

S U
nio

n R
d

127.34 Acres

I

317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



Name Total per Acre Total Bid

Michael Greiner $326.00 $41,512.84

Bill Rottinghaus $322.00 $41,003.48

Pete Schneider $300.00 $38,202.00

Jerry Fruchtenicht $287.00 $36,546.58

Matt Dunkelberger $285.00 $36,291.90

Gene Schmitz $285.00 $36,291.90

Bill Gutknecht $282.70 $35,999.02

Curt Rasmussen $264.00 $33,617.76

Chris & Fred Bolhuis $235.00 $29,924.90

Rodney Degener $220.00 $28,014.80

City Farm Lease Proposals Received
127.34 Acres

325



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: March 14, 2019 

SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
  2019 Engineering Services 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 4 
  Industrial Park Expansion Project 
  City Project No. RC-000-3180 
 
    
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 4 to the Professional Services 
Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 
Engineering Services. This supplemental agreement will provide professional services 
to develop plans for the expansion of the Cedar Falls Industrial Park on 200 acres of 
land that the City recently acquired. Services to be provided include a topographic 
survey of the site, completing concept designs for lot and street layouts, preliminary 
platting design services, traffic analysis, geotechnical services, sanitary sewer study, 
environmental analysis, and final platting services. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the 2019 Engineering Services on December 3, 2018. Funding for 
the Supplemental Agreement No. 4 will be provided from funds out of the Unified 
Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (TIF) in the amount of $222,050. This project 
is identified in the CIP (Industrial Park Land Acquisition - Project #105) and has a 
budgeted amount of $450,000. 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of this Supplemental Agreement No. 4 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the Industrial 
Park Expansion Project. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
       
 

326



327



328



329



330



331



332



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 
 

 DATE: March 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Project Resolution: Industrial Park Land 
Acquisition and Engineering/Design Services 

 
On the agenda is a Resolution Approving Projects in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 
58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan. The projects consist of the acquisition of land for the 
expansion of the industrial park and engineering/design services for this same land. 
 
The acquisition of the land was approved by City Council on November 5, 2018 and 
November 19, 2018. The total cost for the land acquisition was $4,194,120.00. This 
project is included in Unified Plan Amendment #1 adopted in 2012, with a not to exceed 
total line item budget not to exceed $7,500,000.00. The approval of the 
engineering/design services for this land will be earlier on this agenda. The proposed 
cost for this project is $222,050.00. This project is included in Unified Plan Amendment 
#3 adopted in 2016, with a not to exceed total line item budget not to exceed 
$1,000,000.00. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council approve and 
adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving the Industrial Park Land Acquisition Project and 
Engineering/Design Services Project in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 
Corridor Urban Renewal Area. 

 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
           Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
   

 

333



 

 

 

URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT RESOLUTION 

(Industrial Park Land Acquisition and Engineering/Design Services) 

 

 

Council Member ____________________________ introduced the following 

Resolution entitled "RESOLUTION APPROVING PROJECTS IN THE CEDAR FALLS 

UNIFIED HIGHWAY 58 CORRIDOR URBAN RENEWAL AREA" and moved its 

adoption.  Council Member ___________________________ seconded the motion to 

adopt.  The roll was called and the vote was,  

 

 

AYES:                                                                              

 

 

                                                                                          

 

 

NAYS:                                                                              

 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING PROJECTS IN THE CEDAR FALLS 

UNIFIED HIGHWAY 58 CORRIDOR URBAN RENEWAL AREA 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa has established the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (the "Urban Renewal Area") and has adopted 

an urban renewal plan and amendments thereto for undertaking urban renewal projects, as 

more fully described on Exhibit A attached hereto, (the "Projects") within the Urban 

Renewal Area; and 

 

WHEREAS, before approving an urban renewal project, it is necessary to make 

certain findings under Chapter 403; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the City to certify the amount of funds advanced 

for reimbursement under Iowa Code Section 403.19 before December 1, 2019; and 

 

WHEREAS, the amount of funds to be advanced for the Projects is currently 

estimated at $4,353,170.00. 

 

334



 

 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Pursuant to Ordinance No. 2923, there has been established the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area Tax Increment Revenue Fund 

(the "Tax Increment Fund"), into which all incremental property tax revenues received 

from the Urban Renewal Area, as amended, are deposited.  The Council finds the Projects 

described on Exhibit A hereto to be an Urban Renewal Project as defined in Iowa Code 

Chapter 403, and further finds that said Projects are included in the Plan, as amended, for 

the Urban Renewal Area on page 6 (Plan Amendment #1) and page 12 (Plan Amendment 

#3). 

 

 Section 2. It is hereby directed that the total costs for the Projects be advanced 

from time to time from the TIF Project Fund in order to pay the costs of the Project. The 

advance shall be treated as an internal loan (the "Loan") from the TIF Project Fund and the 

TIF Project Fund shall be reimbursed the total actual Project cost from the Tax Increment 

Fund.  

 

Section 3. All Project costs to be incurred for the Project are approved, to be 

advanced as described in Section 2.  The contracts for the Projects are currently estimated 

to cost approximately $4,353,170.00.  

 

Section 4. Certification for reimbursement under Iowa Code Section 403.19 

shall be made by the Council on or before December 1, 2019. 

 

ADOPTED AND PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, STATE OF IOWA, this ____ day of ____________________, 2019. 

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

  

335



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT 

 

 

 

Project Name in CIP: Industrial Park Land Acquisition (Project #105) 

 

Amount: The cost for the land acquisition is $4,194,120.00.  

 The cost for engineering/design services is $222,050.00. 

 The total cost for both items is $4,353,170.00. 

 
 

336



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 14, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 2019 Permeable Alley Project 
  ST-056-3149 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project. 
 
I would recommend setting Monday, April 1, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
the public hearing on this project and Tuesday, April 9, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. as the date 
and time for receiving and opening bids. I would also request that the Notice to Bidders 
be published by March 22, 2019. It is anticipated that the Plans and Specifications will 
be ready for distribution to contractors on March 22, 2019 allowing more than two (2) 
weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the construction of three (3) permeable alleys. The purpose of 
these permeable alleys is to infiltrate storm water runoff with the goal of improving the 
water quality in Dry Run Creek. 
 
The total estimated cost of the 2019 Permeable Alley Project is $251,231.70. The 
funding for the alley project will be provided by the Storm Water Fund and Street 
Construction funds. 
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or at the Engineering Division of the Department of 
Community Development. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer  

337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



“ ”

“ ”

345



346



347



348



349



1 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

For 

2019 Permeable Alley Project 

Project No. ST-056-3149 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 

________________________________________  Date: _________ 
Lindsay R. Beaman, P.E.      Iowa License No. 19971 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2019 

Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-30. 

350



 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-6 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 7 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 7 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 8 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 8-9 
Form of Proposal 10-13 
Bid Bond  14 
Bidder Status Form 15 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 
Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 24 
02 Availability of Site 24 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 24 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 24-25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 25 
06 Contract Time 25 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 25 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 26 
09 Liquidated Damages 26 
10 Progress Payments 26 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 26-28 
12 Method of Measurement 29 
13 Basis of Payment 29 
 

351



 3

 
DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2019 edition of the “STATEWIDE 
URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” (SUDAS) as the City’s 
Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 2018 
Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS 
STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” 

 

 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards 
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 30-31 
 

 
 
  

352



 4 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE 2019  
PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT, CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated total Cost for the construction of the 2019 Permeable Alley Project in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 1st day of April, 2019, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract or the estimated 

total cost of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

    Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

353



 5

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 9th day of 
April, 2019. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 9th day of April, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls 
City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on April 15, 2019 or at such later time and place as 
may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids.  
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract 
shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the 
project. All work shall be completed within sixty (60) working days. Working days will be 
accumulated concurrently from the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed.     
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a Bid 
Security as defined in the Instructions to Bidders - Division 1, Section 05. 
 
Contract Documents: Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from 
the City Engineer's office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA, 50613.  Contract documents are 
also available electronically by calling 319-268-5161 for ftp site location and access rights. 
 
Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will 
be given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference as 
against a nonresident Bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country 
gives or requires any preference to Bidders from that state or foreign country, including but 
not limited to any preference to Bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force 
preference, or any other form of preferential treatment to Bidders or laborers from that state 
or foreign country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or 
required by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident Bidder is a resident. In the 
instance of a resident labor force preference, a nonresident Bidder shall apply the same 
resident labor force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required in 
the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident Bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid 
being deemed nonresponsive; and be rejected. 
 

354



 6

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax 
Exemption Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in 
the work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the installation of three full or partial permeable 
alleys. Work shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas, storm 
sewer, P.C.C. installation, permeable clay brick paver installation, seeding, and concrete or 
gravel driveway replacement. 
 
Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
           Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

355



 7

DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the 2019 Permeable Alley Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2019 edition of the Statewide Urban Standard Specifications for 
Public Improvements (SUDAS) and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2019 edition of the SUDAS and the special provision 
included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the 
documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your Bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants,” in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution and insurance requirements. Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly, as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your Bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to the SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Iowa Code 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2019 Permeable Alley Project   Project No. ST-056-3149 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; the present firm name, 
and the name of the state where incorporated. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
 
 
 

356



 8

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from the City Engineer’s 
Office.  Plans, Specifications, and the Form of Proposal have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The Bid Security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The Bid Security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The Bid Bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other Bid Bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the Bid Bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the Bid Bond is not acceptable.  Bid Security other than 
said Bid Bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls.” 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks,” as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on the Form of Proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or 
computer printed. The Bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that 
has been provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the Bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the Bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions 
and units, and their quantities. The Bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 

357



 9

figures in a column provided for each purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the cost extension for every bid item. The form shall then conclude 
with the Bidder's name, the legible printed name of its representative, and the 
representative's signature.  
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the Bidder and its official address, and the Bidder's representative's 
legible printed name, signature, and title. The “entry area for total bid” line on the 
supplied Form of Proposal shall also be completed with the entry of "see attached". 
 
The Form of Proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the Bid 
Security, Bidders Status Form, and Non-Collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the 
return address of the Bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2019 Permeable Alley Project          

Project No. ST-056-3149 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

358



 10

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  

PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project  in accordance with 

the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to 

Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of 

Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations, and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the 

satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the 

guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from the date of final 

acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

1 2010-1.08-A CLEARING & GRUBBING UNITS 55.0   

2 2010-1.08-D 
TOPSOIL, FURNISH & 

SPREAD 
C.Y. 77.3   

3 2010-1.08-E 
EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, 

ROADWAY WASTE 
C.Y. 711.3   

4 4040-1.08-C 
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, 

TYPE A-1, 6” 
EACH 6.0   

5 5020-1.08-E VALVE EXTENSION EACH 3.0   

6 6010-1.08-H REMOVE INTAKE EACH 1.0   

7 7010-1.08-A 
PAVEMENT, P.C.C., 

12’ WIDTH, 6” 
S.Y. 50.7   

359



 11

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

8 7010-1.08-E 
CURB & GUTTER, 

P.C.C., 2.5’ WIDTH 
L.F. 158.5   

9 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 167.3   

10 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 73.3   

11 7030-1.08-E SIDEWALK, 6” P.C.C. S.Y. 85.9   

12 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, 6” P.C.C. S.Y. 173.3   

13 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR S.Y. 35.4   

14 7040-1.08-A 
PATCH, FULL DEPTH, 

P.C.C.,  ‘M’ MIX 
S.Y. 33.0   

15 7040-1.08-I 
REMOVAL OF CURB & 

GUTTER 
L.F. 158.5   

16 7080-1.08-B ENGINEERING FABRIC S.Y. 2185.2   

17 7080-1.08-C 

UNDERDRAIN, 6” 

PLASTIC PERFORATED, 

TYPE 5 

L.F. 1087.0   

18 7080-1.08-D 
STORAGE AGGREGATE, 

8” 
S.Y. 1416.8   

19 7080-1.08-E FILTER AGGREGATE, 4” S.Y. 1416.8   

20 7080-1.08-F 

PERMEABLE 

INTERLOCKING PAVERS, 

CLAY BRICK 

S.F. 3697.9   

21 7080-1.08-G 
PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6” 

CONCRETE SLAB, 4’ WIDE 
S.Y. 447.1   

22 7080-1.08-G 
PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6” 

CONCRETE SLAB, 5’ WIDE 
S.Y. 502.5   

23 8030-1.08-A TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.0   

24 9010-1.08-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 4170.2   

360



 12

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

25 9040-1.08-F WATTLE, STRAW, 9” L.F. 300.0   

26 9040-1.08-T 
INLET PROTECTION 

DEVICE 
EACH 3.0   

27 9040-1.08-T 
INLET PROTECTION 

DEVICE MAINTENANCE 
EACH 3.0   

28 CF DETAIL INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT EACH 1.0   

  TOTAL  

 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one Bidder. Bids shall be submitted for 
all of the items (Items 1-28). The successful Bidder will be determined by evaluating the 
sum of correct unit price extensions. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be just 
cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed or 
computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to delete 
any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsive. The Owner may also reject the bid of any Bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that Bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within thirty (30) calendar days after the bid opening thereof, or any time 
thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver 
an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required Bond within ten (10) 
calendar days after the Contract is presented to Bidder for signature, and start work 
within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The Bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The Bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

361



 13

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
 
The Bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

362



 14

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 
 
 
 
 

363



 15

 

364



 16

365



 17

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1) We are _______________________________________________________ of _________________ 

         (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

366



 18

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2019, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and _______________________________________________ of 

__________________________________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY 

PROJECT, Project No. ST-056-3149 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 6th day of May 2019, and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. ST-056-

3149 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

 m. Bidder Status Form 

367



 19

 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

368



 20 

Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           
 

 
 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 
____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 
who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 
be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
  
 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 
the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2019, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 
Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 
 

2019 Permeable Alley Project 

Paving / Pavers / Storm Sewer 

Project ST-056-3149 
 

and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in 
a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 
are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 
made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 
the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 
or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 
perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 
agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 

     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 
labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 
limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 
machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 
the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 
completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 
firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 
shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 
to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 
is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 

     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

369



 21

 
A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 

under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 
of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 
in construction of said work; 

 
   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 
 
   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 
of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 

Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 

materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 
 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 
contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 
 
   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 
all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 
total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 
and  

 
    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 
an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 
the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 
The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 
on this Bond. 

     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 
including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 
and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 
equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorneys fees (including 
overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 
litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 
will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 
of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 
that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 
approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 
fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 
Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 

370



 22 

     

  In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against 
any claim as to which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the 
enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or 
approved change orders, or in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and 
Surety in this Bond, the Contractor and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for 
all such outlay and expense, provided that the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not 
exceed 125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  
In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 
thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the 
Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 
the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and 
expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be 
cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 
Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 
action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 
the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 
this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 
Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 
Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 
if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 
meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 
industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 
 
Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 
liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 
 
 

371



 23 

         Project No. ST-056-3149 
 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2019. 
 
  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 
 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 
  
 

 By:    _________________________________  

                                      Signature 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          

                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 

 
 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           
 

 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 

 
 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 

 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 

                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 
 

                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 
 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 

                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 
 
 

 

NOTE: 

  

 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 
signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 

 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 

 
 
 
 
 

372



 24

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The successful Bidder shall be required to furnish a Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bond in the sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The 
Maintenance Bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of 
two (2 yrs.) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar 
Falls. 
 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all 
operations with the Contractors or Contacts of the following projects and/or events: 
 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2) Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 
3) Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 20-22, 2019 
4) UNI Spring Classes End – May 3, 2019 
5) Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – May 31, 2019 
6) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 26, 2019 
7) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 26, 2019 
8) UNI Homecoming – October 12, 2019 
9) Downtown Levee Improvements Project FL-000-1975 
 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least forty-eight hours prior to the need for 
survey stakes. The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and 
marks and if any survey stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, 
Contractor shall be charged for the cost of replacing them. Contractor shall pay all said 
replacement cost(s) prior to the release of the final pay estimate. 
 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1070 – 2.13: 

373



 25 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for 
excess material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this 
project (excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for 
material hauled to these sites. The Engineer will review all disposal sites, prior to their 
use, to determine acceptability. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but will be 
considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty 
(50%) percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Any item designated 
as a Specialty Item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such 
Specialty Item as performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before 
computing the amount of work required by the Contractor's organization. Any items that 
have been selected as a Specialty Item for the contract are listed as such in the Special 
Provisions. 
 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten (10) calendar days after the date set 
forth in the written Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within sixty (60) working 
days. 
 
Intermediate working days for construction staging will be as follows: 

 
Division – Catherine & 9th – 10th  20 working days 
College – Olive & 4th – 5th   20 working days 
Franklin – Tremont & 16th – 17th   20 working days 

 
If a stage is not open to local traffic within the allotted working days, liquidated damages 
of $100.00 per day will be assessed.  
 
 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.03: 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth (1/4) of the 
working days, one-eighth (1/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-
half (1/2) of the working days, three-eighths (3/8) of the work shall be completed; at the 
expiration of three-fourths (3/4) of the working days, the work shall be three-fourths (3/4) 
completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

374



 26 

08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset.  
 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of two hundred and fifty ($250.00) dollars per 
working day will be assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted 
after the expiration of the contract time. 
 
10 Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1st) and 
third (3rd) Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as 
may be legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Sales 
Tax and General Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the 
discretion of the City Council. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish original vouchers with original 
signatures showing that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and 
materials have been fully paid for such materials and labor. The City may retain the last 
pay estimate for a period of ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and 
approval, unless satisfied that materials and labor have been fully paid for. 
 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
 
1. Site Description 
 
The proposed 2019 Permeable Alley Project involves the construction of three 
permeable paver alleys. The construction shall include a combination of excavation and 
backfill in the alleys, P.C.C. installation, paver installation, new storm sewer with 
connections to new intakes, curb and gutter installation, and seeding.  
 
Upon removal of pavement in any area, underground construction begins immediately, 
and construction proceeds continuously until that work section is re-opened to traffic. All 
areas included in the project are designed with positive drainage to the existing storm 
sewer system that eventually drains into a branch of the Dry Run Creek and then to the 
Cedar River.  
 

375



 27 

The Project plan set has details that are incorporated as a part of the Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan. The Project plan set shows the intended construction staging 
plan and details of the erosion control measures to be included in this project. No data 
is recorded regarding quality of runoff from the project area(s).  
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging 
plan as included in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement 
during construction is by minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a 
designated staging plan. Sediment filters shall be installed on intake wells in sump 
locations and at the low point of each construction stage. Silt dams shall be installed at 
the low point of a construction stage where necessary to prevent silt from migrating off 
site. Sediment filters shall also be placed on finished intake openings until all 
designated areas are sodded or have been paved.   
 
Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding or seeding as shown in the Project 
plan as soon as practical after completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the 
placement of the topsoil. The Contractor shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance of all erosion control measures as described in the Project plan. The 
Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to Subcontractors as 
Contractor chooses. 
 
All Contractors/Subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent 
contamination of storm water runoff, groundwater and soils by hazardous material 
and/or pollutants caused by their operations or encountered in their work. All waste 
building material and supplies must be removed from the site and disposed of legally. If 
construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, provisions must 
be made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids and dispose of legally. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by any construction activities. 
 
Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the owner to: 

1. Execute Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s part of the Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan as described. 

2. Conduct Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s activities to not damage any existing 
erosion control measure or stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the 
Contractor shall make repairs at no additional expense to the Owner. 

3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control 
measures that are needed during and at the conclusion of the work. 

 
3. Storm Water Management  
 
Storm water will be routed by means of permeable pavement, subdrain, and storm 
sewer. Subdrain will be used to channel water from the subdrain to the existing main 
storm sewer pipes. The storm sewer pipes will range in size from 15 inch dia. up to 30 

376



 28 

inch diameter.  Longitudinal sub-drains will be included along the centerline or off center 
of the alleys. The sub-drains will tie into the storm sewer pipes.  The aggregate storage 
layer will be hydraulically tied to the sub-drain aggregate envelope.  The storm water 
collection system is designed for the five (5 yr.) year storm event in accordance with 
local design standards. Temporary sediment basins are not incorporated because of the 
limited area exposed in each stage of construction. Sediment filters shall be 
incorporated in specific intakes to serve as sediment control structures during each 
stage. Storm water runoff volumes will not increase, and should decrease, as the final 
result of the permeable alley project. Storm water runoff shall be managed during 
construction to minimize erosion. 
 
4. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Reporting and Updates 
 
The Owner or Owner’s representative shall insure compliance with the Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan and will perform regular inspections. Owner designated and 
qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site that have not 
reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. The Owner will 
be responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will 
make determination of Contractor’s compliance with the plan and may direct additional 
measures to be taken by any Contractor. When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a 
pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, corrective action shall be taken. The 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan will be revised and modifications shall be made 
to the control facilities as needed. 
 
 

377



 29 

12 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the  2019 Permeable Alley Project No. ST-056-
3149 in accordance with the 2019 edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the 
City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 Supplemental Specifications to the 2019 edition of the 
SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 19 – Storage Aggregate, 8” 
Storage aggregate placed as shown or directed by the Engineer will be measured by 
square yards as placed.  
 
Item No. 20 – Filter Aggregate, 4” 
Stone aggregate placed as shown or directed by the Engineer will be measured by 
square yards as placed.  
 
Item No. 21 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 
Permeable clay brick pavers shall be computed in square feet by surface 
measurements.  
 
Item No. 22 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Width 
PCC edge restraint shall be computed in square yards by surface measurements.  
 
Item No. 23 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 5’ Width 
PCC edge restraint shall be computed in square yards by surface measurements.  
 
Item No. 25 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture) 
Hydraulic seeding will be measured in square feet by surface measurements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by 
multiplying the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit 
price as bid on the Form of Proposal in accordance with the 2019 edition of the SUDAS 
Specifications and as further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 Supplemental 
Specifications to the 2019 edition of the SUDAS. 
 
 

 
 
 

378



 30 

 
 
 
 

DIVISION 4 

SUPPLEMENTAL PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2019 
Permeable Alley Project in accordance with the 2019 Edition of the SUDAS and as 
further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2018 Supplemental Specifications to the 
most current edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 17 – Engineering Fabric 
The contractor shall install geotextile fabric in the areas as noted in the construction 
plans and specifications. This material is to be used to separate the fines in the sub-
base from the previous aggregate base. The Contractor shall use geotextiles that are in 
conformance with Iowa D.O.T. Specification 4196 using the “Subsurface Drainage 
Table”. Materials IM 496.01 shall also apply for this bid item. Approved manufacturers 
and brand names are as listed in Materials IM 496.01, 5. Appendix A. 
 

1. Contractor shall place geotextile fabric on the bottom and sides of the soil 
subgrade. Contractor shall secure the geotextile fabric in place to prevent 
wrinkling from vehicle tires and tracks on equipment. 

2. Contractor shall over-lap the geotextile fabric a minimum of twelve (12“) inches in 
the direction of drainage. 

3. Contractor shall lay the geotextile fabric over the edges of the subgrade to 
prevent fines from washing into the pervious aggregate base. 

 
Item No. 21 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 
This bid item is for the furnishing and placement of permeable clay brick pavers. The 
paver source and color sample shall be provided to the Engineer for selection and 
approval prior to use, incidental to bid item. Pavers shall meet or exceed the 
requirements of ASTM standard C 1272; heavy vehicular paving brick. See the ASTM 
standard for additional requirements. Placement of the permeable pavers shall be as 
shown in the detail(s) in the construction documents. The permeable pavers shall be 
placed in a Herringbone pattern. 
 
Contractor’s placement of the permeable clay pavers shall be as follows: 

A. Where pavers are placed against a curb and gutter or other pavement, 
installation of an edge course or soldier course is required if the pavement edge 
is not straight. Trim pavers as required to compensate for deviations in the 
adjacent pavement edge. Do not cut pavers to less than 1/3 their original size.  

B. Install PCC edge restraint.  
C. Place chalk lines on the bedding course to maintain straight joint lines.  

379



 31

D. After pavers have been installed on the bedding course, and all cut pavers have 
been inserted to provide a full and complete surface, inspect pavers for damaged 
units and irregular joint lines. Remove and replace pavers as required.  

E. After inspection and replacement of damaged pavers, fill joint openings with 
bedding stone. Sweep the surface clean.  

F. Compact pavement surface with two passes of a vibratory plate compactor 
capable of at least 5,000 pounds centrifugal compaction force. Do not operate 
plate compactor within 6 feet of an unrestrained pavement edge.  

G. Re-inspect pavers, and remove and replace all damaged units. Refill joint 
openings completely. Sweep pavers clean. Complete compaction with two 
passes of the plate compactor.  

H. Refill all paver joint openings with bedding aggregate 6 months after installation. 
 
Quality control Standards shall be as followed: 

A. Ensure horizontal alignment of the PCC edge restraint is within 1/2 inch of design 
alignment.  

B. Ensure final surface is within 3/8 inch when tested with a 10 foot straightedge.  
C. Ensure no greater than 1/8 inch difference in height between adjacent pavers.  
D. Maintain surface elevation within 1/4 inch above adjacent drainage inlets, gutters, 

and other appurtenances. 
 
Item No. 22 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Wide 
Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. 
Subgrade preparation, compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, 
jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered incidental to the bid item. Concrete 
collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. 
 
Item No. 23 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 5’ Wide 
Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. 
Subgrade preparation, compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, 
jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered incidental to the bid item. Concrete 
collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. 

 
Item No. 25 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture)  
The subgrade area shall be free of debris and rocks; and raked smooth before applying 
the hydraulic mulch/seed mix. The seed type shall be Type 1, permanent lawn mixture. 
The Contractor shall follow SUDAS Specification 9010.305 for the site preparation and 
the application procedure.  

380



1 2010-1.08-A CLEARING & GRUBBING 55.0 UNITS $300.00 $16,500.00

2 2010-1.08-D TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD 77.3 C.Y. $50.00 $3,865.00

3 2010-1.08-E EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE 711.3 C.Y. $18.00 $12,803.40

4 4040-1.08-C SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" 6.0 EACH $250.00 $1,500.00

5 5020-1.08-E VALVE EXTENSION 3.0 EACH $260.00 $780.00

6 6010-1.08-H REMOVE INTAKE 1.0 EACH $600.00 $600.00

7 7010-1.08-A PAVEMENT, P.C.C., 12' WIDTH, 6" 50.7 S.Y. $50.00 $2,535.00

8 7010-1.08-E CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE 158.5 L.F. $50.00 $7,925.00

9 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY 167.3 S.Y. $10.00 $1,673.00

10 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK 73.3 S.Y. $10.00 $733.00

11 7030-1.08-E SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. 85.9 S.Y. $50.00 $4,295.00

12 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. 173.3 S.Y. $50.00 $8,665.00

13 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR 35.4 S.Y. $35.00 $1,239.00

14 7040-1.08-A PATCH, FULL DEPTH, P.C.C. 'M' MIX 33.0 S.Y. $300.00 $9,900.00

15 7040-1.08-I REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER 158.5 L.F. $10.00 $1,585.00

16 7080-1.08-B ENGINEERING FABRIC 2,185.2 S.Y. $5.00 $10,926.00

17 7080-1.08-C UNDERDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED, TYPE S 1,087.0 L.F. $15.00 $16,305.00

18 7080-1.08-D STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" 1,416.8 S.Y. $17.00 $24,085.60

19 7080-1.08-E FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" 1,416.8 S.Y. $12.00 $17,001.60

20 7080-1.08-F PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK 3,697.9 S.F. $12.00 $44,374.80

21 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE 447.1 S.Y. $50.00 $22,355.00

22 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 5' WIDE 502.5 S.Y. $50.00 $25,125.00

23 8030-1.08-A TRAFFIC CONTROL 1.0 L.S. $4,500.00 $4,500.00

24 9010-1.08-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING 4,170.2 S.F. $1.50 $6,255.30

25 9040-1.08-F WATTLE, STRAW, 9" 300.0 L.F. $5.00 $1,500.00

26 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE 3.0 EACH $220.00 $660.00

27 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE 3.0 EACH $115.00 $345.00

28 CF DETAIL INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT 1.0 EACH $3,200.00 $3,200.00

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST TOTAL: $251,231.70

2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT

CITY PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149

PAVERS / P.C.C. PAVING / STORM SEWER

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST & QUANTITIES

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNITS
UNIT 

PRICE

EXTENDED 

PRICE

ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY
ITEM CODE

ITEM 

NO.

381



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: March 14, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Setting a Public Hearing for Text Amendments to Section 29-160, CHN College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (modified ordinance)  

 

 

REQUEST: 
Zoning Ordinance Amendments 
Section 29-160, CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District 

PETITIONER: Department of Community Development 

LOCATION: College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District 
 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on January 9, 2019, the Commission voted to 
recommend certain zoning code text amendments to the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
Zoning District. In summary, the zoning code text amendments forwarded to City Council for 
consideration would: 

 Eliminate the confusing language about principal, accessory and secondary uses with 
regard to mixed-use buildings that made it difficult to determine which dimensional and 
parking standards applied; 

 Add a definition of a mixed-use building and distinguish it from the definition of a 
residential building; 

 Clearly state the parking requirements for the uses within a mixed-use building, as 
follows:  

o    No parking required for non-residential uses. For dwelling units within mixed-use 
buildings, one parking stall per bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling 
unit, except as follows. For mixed-use buildings constructed prior to January 1, 
2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use 
and commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not 
required for upper floor space that is converted to residential use. 

  

 Change the parking requirement for Multiple Dwellings to match the proposed parking 
requirement for residential dwelling units within a mixed-use building;  

 Establish minimum and maximum setbacks for mixed-use buildings to ensure a 
mainstreet character as envisioned for the College Hill Business District.  

 Establish building design standards for mixed-use buildings that address safe and 
prominent building entries, quality storefront design, and standards for high quality 

382



building materials and building articulation to match what is required for multiple dwellings 
within the College Hill Overlay.  

 Clarify and clean-up the language for terms used for different types of dwellings to match 
Section 29-2, Definitions.  

 

At the Council meeting on March 4, 2019, the City Council voted to refer the proposed 
ordinance back to the Planning and Zoning Commission for modifications so that the change to 
the parking requirements would only apply in the C-3 District. To effect this change, staff has 
created two separate paragraphs, one specifying the requirement for dwelling units within 
Mixed-Use Buildings in the C-3 District and one for dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in 
zones other than the C-3 District. It should be noted that in the College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay District, the only zones that allow mixed-use buildings are the C-3 and R-4 Districts.  
 
In addition, to achieve the modification requested by Council, the current parking requirement 
for multiple dwellings will not be changed to mirror the new standard for dwelling units in a 
mixed-use building, but will remain the same. Multiple dwelling buildings are allowed in the R-3 
and R-4 Zoning Districts and are discouraged in the C-3 District. With these modifications, the 
changes to the parking requirements in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District would 
only apply to mixed-use buildings in the C-3 District. Parking requirements for mixed-use 
buildings and for other uses in other zoning districts within the Overlay would remain the same.  
 
At their meeting on March 13, 2019, the Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed and 
recommended approval of the proposed ordinance changes including the modifications 
requested by the City Council.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that the City Council set a date for 
public hearing regarding the ordinance amending Section 29-160, College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay Zoning District with modifications requested by the City Council and recommended by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission, for April 1, 2019.   
 

383


	Top
	1. Minutes-Regular Meeting of March 4, 2019
	190304MINUTES.docx

	2. Minutes-Special meeting of February 27, 2019.
	190227MINUTES-SPECIAL.docx

	3. PH-Adopt Code
	1-ccmemo-adopt new code-2019.doc
	2-Ord-Adopt Code of Ords.doc
	Recodification Notes.docx

	4. Ordinance adopting Code.
	5. PH - Rezoning A1 to RP and Amendment to Land Use Map
	6. Res to PH - Amendment to Land Use Map
	CC memo on 12th and Union land use amendment 3-12-19.docx
	Land Use LocationMap.pdf
	Council Resolution on 12th and Union land use amendment 2-27-19.docx

	7. Ord to PH - Rezoning A1 to RP
	1 CC staff Report on 12th and union rezoning 3-12-19.docx
	2 ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3 Zoning Plat.pdf
	4 Rezoning Development Concept.pdf
	5 R-P Zoning Developmental Procedures Agreement 2-20-19.docx
	Ordinance Rezoning 12th and Union.docx

	8. PH - Amended and Restated Agreement for PD with Buckeye Corrugated
	1_Council Memo for BCI Amended Agreement 03-18-19.docx
	2_Site Map.pdf
	3_EXECUTION VERSION Buckeye Corrugated - Amended Dev Agr.docx
	4_Res Approving Amended Dev Agreement BCI.docx

	9. Res for PH - Amended and Restated Agreement for PD with Buckeye Corrugated
	10. PH - Martin Realty Agrmt for PD
	1_Public Hearing Memo to Council for March 18, 2019.docx
	2_Site Map.pdf
	3_Martin Bros. Authorizing Resolution (01564689x7F7E1).docx
	4_FINAL Martin Brothers Development Agreement 02-06-19.docx

	11. Res for PH - Martin Realty Agrmt for PD
	12. Resignation of Hillery Oberle - Planning & Zoning Commission
	Resignation - P&amp;Z - Oberle.docx

	13. Appts - 3/18/19
	1-Appts Memo 3-18.docx
	2-PandZ - Prideaux 2-12-19.pdf

	14. 3/4/19 Committee of the Whole Minutes
	Comm of the Whole 03 04 19.doc

	15. 3/4/19 Council Work Session Minutes
	Comm of the Whole (Special) 03 04 19.doc

	16. 3/18/19 Certified Lists
	Code Enforce Officer CertList3-2019.pdf
	CommunicationsSpec-CertList3-2019.pdf
	EconDevCoordr-CertList3-2019.pdf
	VideoProdSpec-CertList3-2019.pdf

	17. Temporary sign request for the Waterloo/Cedar Falls Coin Club Annual Coin Show
	Coin Club cc memo temporary sign permit 3-12-19.docx

	18. Temporary sign request to display the Bull Sign at Valley Lutheran School
	Temporary bull sign request Valley Lutheran School 3-12-19.docx

	19. Parking Variance-St. Pat's
	Special Event Related Requests - Parking Variance, St. Patrick Catholic Church Garage Sale.pdf

	20. 3/18/19 Liquor Licenses
	Liquor Beer 3-14-19.doc

	21. Revised Job Classifications - CD and PW Directors relative to reorganization
	1-job class PW Director &amp; CD Director.council.mem.doc
	2-Director of Public Works 031819 final.pdf
	3-Director of Community Development 031819 final.pdf

	22. Facilities Use Agreement - NEI3A
	1-memorandum to council re NEI3A agreement.pdf
	2-NEI3AUseAgreementsCedarFalls2019.pdf

	23. W. 1st Street Acquisition
	1.council memo on w 1st street ROW acquisitions.docx
	2.2490_001.pdf
	3.W1stPropAcq190318.pdf
	4.2527_001.pdf

	24. Oak Park Sanitary Temporary Easements
	1. Memo.docx
	2.2487_001.pdf

	25. West 1st Street Reconstruction Project - Bid Acknowledgement
	1. Bid Opening.docx
	2. Bid Tab.pdf

	26. Grant Application to MPO for STBG funds for Main Street Reconstruction Project
	cc memo for STBG funding on main street 3-13-19.docx
	STBG Main Street Resolution 3-13-19.docx

	27. Grant Application to MPO for TAP funds for Lake Street Trail Project
	cc memo for TAP funding on the lake street trail 3-13-19.docx
	TAP Lake Street trail Resolution 3-13-19.docx

	28. Farm Lease Agreement - Michael Greiner - west of West Viking Rd Ind Park
	1_Council Memo for 03-18-19.docx
	2_SiteMap.pdf
	3_Farm Lease - Signed.pdf
	4_Summary of Bids for 2019 Farm Lease - Rieger Property.pdf

	29. PSA - Snyder & Associates, Inc. - 2019 Engineering Services
	1_Memo to Council Approving SuppAgr4 03-18-19.docx
	2_PSA_SuppAgr04_2019-03-13_IndustrialPark-FINAL.pdf

	30. TIF - Approving Ind Park Land Acq Project in the CF Unified Hwy 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area
	1_Memo To Council Approving UR Project on March 18, 2019.docx
	2_Urban Renewal Project Resolution - Ind. Park Expansion.docx

	31. Set PH - 2019 Permeable Alley Project
	1. PSE - 2019 Permeable Alley.docx
	2. Plans_2019-Permeable-Alley_Final.pdf
	3. Specs_2019-Permeable-Alley_Final.pdf
	4. 2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY - COST ESTIMATE.pdf

	32. Set PH - amendments to Chapter 26 (formerly 29) relative to CHN Overlay Zoning District
	1- Council staff memo. 3.14.19.docx

	33. Allow Bills and Payroll of March 18, 2019
	34. Executive Session to evaluate the performance of the City Administrator
	Bottom

